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REPORT OF COMMITTEE ON PUBLIGATION.

At the Annual Communication of the Grand Lodge, F. A. A. M,, of .the
District of Columbia, held December 15, 1909, the undersigned Special
Committee were authorized and directed to proceed with the publication
of a History of the Grand Lodge and of Freemasonry in the District of
Columbia, prepared by W. Bro. Kenton N. Harper, a Past Master of
Naval Lodge, No. 4, this jurisdiction, and the Historian of the Grand
Lodge especially designated and appointed for the purpose.

The Committee have had careful supervision over the subject matter
of this History and in connection with the Historian have defined the
scope and arrangement of the work.

The work, it seems to the Committee, is as complete a history of Free-
masonry in the District of Columbia as it is possible to prepare from
obtainable data, containing as it does all available facts of general import-
ance and interest concerning the Fraternity, covering the period from long
prior to the formation of the Grand Lodge in eighteen hundred and eleven
to the year of its one hundredth anniversary.

The Committee have been mindful of the difficulties and embarrassments
which the Historian has encountered in his work and have been more than
gratified at the successful and pleasing outcome of his labors. Brother
Harper has been painstaking and thorough in his quest for material and
has gotten together a wealth of historical matter of incalculable value to
students of our Masonic life and history, and interesting and instructive
as well to even the casual reader by the skillful grouping and scholarly
presentation of the rich fund of information he has succeeded in bringing
together.

He has exercised good judgment in the selection of his material and
accepted only such data as was of unquestioned authenticity and reliability.

That the Historian has well and faithfully performed the important and
onerous duty assigned him the succeeding pages of this volume amply
testify, and this chronicle of the life and activities of Freemasonry in our
jurisdiction for more than a hundred years will ever stand as a lasting
monument to Brother Harper’s zeal, ability, and indefatigable industry.

Lurrin R. GINN,

Georce E. Corson,

ARvINE W. JOHNSTON,
Committee.



FOREWORD.

I look on that man as happy who when there is a question of success looks
inlo his work for a reply, nol into the market, not into opinion, not into
paironage.”’—EMERSON.

In presenting the “History of the Grand Lodge and of
Freemasonry in the District of Columbia” the author, con-
cetving that a brief review of the several previous movements
in this divection cannot fail to prove of interest, not only as
indicating in some degree the difficulties of such an under-
taking, but also as demonstrating the importance the matter
kas always assumed in the minds of the leaders of our local
Craft, premises his introduction with the following historical
Jacts :

As early as 1857 Grand Master Whiting having recom-
mended that a history be prepared * to rescue from the past
the material facts and incidents connected with the iniroduc-
tion, progress, and vicissitudes of Masonry within the District
of Columbia,”’ a commitlee to examine into and report upon
the expediency of such an wundertaking was appointed,
consisting of Past Grand Master French, D. G. Master
Page, and Brother Rkeese. This committee, exceptionally
well qualified, reported in 1858, heartily favoring the project,
and afler touching upon the fact that there is in this section a
Masonic history anterior to the formation of the Grand Lodge,
says: “A history, to be complete and one creditable to this
Grand body, shkould contain all the action, of whatsoever
nature, with whick the Grand Lodge has had any connection
since its organization, and tt can only be written after much
investigation and much reflection, and it will require muck
time and labor.”’

In spite of the fact that the commitice urged the matter
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with great force il was lost sight of in the press of other
malters, and was not revived until 1871 when Grand Master
Stansbury, in his annual address, influenced unquestionably
not only by the palpable desirabilily of suck a work, but also
by the repeated and insistent demands from other jurisdictions
for light upon our local kistory, invited consideration of the
subject, but no notice being taken thereof he again, in 1874,
earnestly renewed his recommendation, saying, in part.:
“Every year's delay will make the recovery of the details of
the early kistory of our lodges more and more difficult.”’

Thus aroused the Grand Lodge authorized the Grand
Master to appoint an Historian, directed the secretaries of
subordinate lodges to afford him every facility for the collection
of facts from their records, and otherwise evinced its active
interest in the project. In pursuance of the order the Grand
Master at once appointed the late Brother Wm. R. Singleton,
Jor many years Grand Secretary, and a Masonic writer of
world-wide reputation, who immediately set to work with his
characteristic enthustasm and thoroughness, aud in a com-
paratively short time reported that he had his manuscript in
shape for publication, but it is a matter of lasting regret that
the scarcity of Grand Lodge funds during this period not only
prevented the printing of this undoubtedly valuable historical
work by that body, but led to the practical rejection of an offer
by Brother Singleton to assume the greater part of the ex-
pense and a lukewarm attitude toward his later proposition
lo publish by subscription. The report of the Historian
embodying this latter idea was presented itn 1879 and con-
tained a prospectus of the proposed History, and the whole
matter being thereupon rcferred to a special commitiee, of
which P. G. Master Stansbury was chairman, that commitiece
the following year reported that the first seven chapters
covered the plan contemplated by the Grand Lodge, but the
rematning eight chapters “‘deal with degrees, orders and rites
of which this Grand Lodge as a body can have no know-
ledge,” and recommended the publication of the first seven
chapters by the Grand Lodge “as soon as the condition of the
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treasury will permit)’ with the authorily to include the rest
of the matter within the same cover, provided it could be done
without expense to the Grand Lodge.

With the adoption of this discouraging resolution the chance
of rickly benefiting by the many weary hours of unselfish toil
given o the task by one so eminently fitted passed from the
Grand Lodge, the most diligent search among the papers of
the deceased Brother fatling to bring to light the missing
manuscript with the exception of a few sheets whick, according
to an inilroductory memorandum, were rewritien wupon the
discovery that a portion of the original draft had disappeared.

The approaching Centennial celebration of the birth of the
Grand Lodge impressing the then Grand Master, Lurtin R.
Ginn, with the desirability of having prepared “‘an accurate
and comprehensive kistory of the Grand Lodge and of Free-
masonry in the District of Columbia” as a feature of that
event, suck a recommendation was tncorporated in his address
in 1905, and, meeting with the approval of the Grand Lodge,
was consummated by the appointment, at the installation
communication of the same year, of the author hereof.

Coming thus along the Path of Circumstance, as a duty
from which there was no honorable escape, the commission was
accepted, in spite of a depressing sense of inadequate equip-
ment for the task, and the leisure hours of five years have
been conscientiously devoted to research and the assembly of so
muck of the accumulated data as appeared to be of sufficient
kistorical value.

The author has endeavored to guard against the tendency
of works of this character to degenerate into mere copies of
records, burdened with uninteresting minuti@ of names, and
dates, and trivialities of routine, and while sacrificing no im-
portant event has aimed to present a history at once concise,
accurate, and readable. Chronological order has been pre-
served in the plan as a whole, yet an occasional departure
therefrom, inorder to bring widely scatlered yet closely related
units together for the intelligent consideration of important
movements covering pertods of years, has been deemed essen-
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tial, and is hoped will add to the interest and value of the
book.

The selection of the material and the method of presentation
being the result of his personal judgment, matured by long
study and deliberation, the author is fully alive to the certainty
of criticism. He would say, however, to his Brethren that
in the prosecution of this work he has gone carefully through
the Grand Lodge reports and detacked papers ; has consulted
the records of the subordinate lodges,; has read every work
remotely bearing on the subject that came his way ; has dug
among the newspapers of by-gone days; has corresponded
with or consulted suck individuals from whom aid might
reasonably be expected, and, in short, has left no stone un-
turned, no clue unfollowed, that gave promise of legitimate
material.

An arduous task and yet full of compensations, and if
these chapters, upon whickh he has wrought with gladness,
keartfully, shall meet with any measure of approbation that
Jact shall constitute an added reward to that already his
cherished possession—the consciousness of having discharged
this duty to the best of his ability.

Historian.
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MASONIC PROCESSION AT THE LAYING OF THE CORNERSTONE
OF THE CAPITOL, SEPTEMBER 18, 1793






CHAPTER 1.

WHENCE CAME WE?

THEORIES OF ORIGIN—GRAND LODGES OF ENCLAND—INTRO-
DUCTION OF MASONRY INTO THE COLONIES—FOR-
MATION OF GRAND LODGE OF MARYLAND—

THE TRADITION OF ST. ANDREW'S
LODGE, GEORGETOWN.

“ Traditions in history are but the circling wavelets which the magician’s
wand may raise on the stream of history, but the pearls of truth lie
in the deep waters below, and can only be reached and brought to view
by the plumb-line of investigation.”—ANON.

THE MosT profound mystery in the great system of morality
we call Masonry is its origin. Back of the period of authentic
recorded history stretch misty avenues of speculation, along
which a host of brilliant delvers after the Truth have wan-
dered, and from the warp and woof of world-old traditions
woven many more or less fanciful and sometimes plausible
and attractive theories of the birth and early life of this, one
of the greatest forces for good the world has ever known.

Dr. Oliver would have us believe that Masonry was a living
science in the days of the Garden of Eden, and Adam its
first earthly exponent. Dr. Mitchell exploits the popular be-
lief in its origin at the building of King Solomon’s Temple.
Dr. Mackey, more conservative, goes no further back than
the College of Architects of the seventeenth century; and so
on through a host of writers.

Interesting, beautiful, valuable withal, but not history, and
the fact remains, from which there is no escape, that no man

I



2 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY

can lay his finger upon the time or country, the age or clime,
when and where the chaotic elements, crystalizing into the
Masonic creation, first heard the fiat: “ Let there be light.”

But while this is true there are today prehistoric evidences
of a code or codes of morals, illustrated by symbols, in the
far past ages nearly akin to our present system, and from
these premises may be drawn certain logical and reasonable
conclusions, and altho this work is intended to be a history and
therefore has only to do with facts, yet the author conceives
it to be perfectly proper as well as instructive to glance, in
an introductory way, over this field and thereby gain, per-
haps, what the artist would call the atmosphere of the whole
subject.

It is susceptible of proof that before and after the dawn
of history there existed in China a cult or institution using
our present-day symbols in the same kind of service to which
we put them, and this has ample verification in the “ Book
of History” of that ancient civilization, a work covering from
the twenty-fourth to the seventh century before Christ, a
period antedating King Solomon’s time by 13500 years and
stretching 200 years beyond.

Upon the stupendous piles of Masonry in the Valley of the
Nile the traveler may today see the signs and symbols of
Masonry sculptured thousands of years ago—the All-seeing
Eye, the mosaic pavement, the blazing star, the square, the
circle, the parallel lines, and many others. In Greece, also.
are to be found traces of the same application of these well
known symbols. These and many other evidences lead in-
evitably to the conclusion that from the earliest ages there
have existed associations more or less similar in their general
aim and finding natural expression in the same simple em-
blems. But there is no reason to believe that there is any
closer relationship than a natural similarity of expression
between the ancient mysteries with their blood-curdling rites
and the Masonry of which we have recorded history.

We may even accept the theory that the mysterious vail of
Isis curtained the cradle of our Order, to the extent that in
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the exercise of such rites the habit of association for definite
purpose may have originated and gradually germinated into
.- the great moral forces of later ages, yet absolutely and con-
sistently refuse to trace our ancestry to such sources except
in the most general sense.

Following this train of thought we may readily suppose that
in Palestine, at the building of King Solomon’s Temple, the
mysteries of Egypt and Greece were reconstructed, the old
mythological divinities and pagan rites forsaken, and an en-
tirely new Order, consecrated to the true God, formed. The
same marks of the craftsman are on the ruins of the Temple
that may be seen on the Masonry of Egypt and Greece. Here
perhaps was the first union of symbolic fraternity with the
religion of the Hebrew, but it was not the .foundation of
Masonry ; neither was it the superstructure. The alliance be-
tween primitive Christianity ard the mystic orders was close
and intimate, many of the rites of the early Church showing
a striking similarity to and connection with those of the
secret organizations of that age.

With the completion of the Temple and the dispersion of the
great host of architects and builders to the four corners of the
earth the rites and symbols of these fraternities may well
have found lodgment in the virgin soil of many countries.

With Christianity Freemasonry, let us now call it, was in-
troduced into Europe and Great Britain, where there may be
seen on imposing cathedrals the identical signs and symbols
described as appearing on the ruined temples of Egypt, Greece,
and Jerusalem. Attractive as this line of speculation must be
to the student of Masonry its further pursuit is forbidden
by the limited scope of the present work, and we leave it
to trace our genealogy by more authentic tho very meager
data.

Freemasonry in some form, we have every reason to believe,
existed on the continent of Europe and in England, Scotland,
and Ireland in the middle ages, and was probably identical
with the building corporations and guilds known to have
existed at that period. The consensus of opinion of the best
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writers is that the present society of Freemasonry is plainly
the outgrowth and lineal descendant of those ancient associa-
tions of builders, and while documentary evidence is meager
and confusing yet the conclusion is logical and acceptable.

The first authentic, or reasonably authentic, organization
for the government, regulation, and protection of Masons in
their labor came into being in York, England, A. D. 926, by
a charter obtained from King Athelston by his brother,
Prince Edwin, who was a patron of Masonry, and continued
to exist, it is claimed, for a period of more than 800 years.
From this so-called Grand Lodge of York there is no evidence
that any charters ever issued to American lodges.

About 1685 in Great Britain, under direction of the then
Grand Master, Christopher Wren, other than operative
Masons commenced to be received into the Order, and the
change from operative to speculative began, but the symbols
and phrases of operative were retained in illustrating specu-
lative Masonry and the elucidation of the great truths of the
now rapidly developing system.

The change was a gradual one but was practically complete
by the beginning of the eighteenth century, but the thorough
reorganization which took place upon the formation of the
Grand Lodge of England in 1717 radically changed the
form of government and polity of the institution, and has
well been characterized as a revolution. The spirit, funda-
mental laws, and traditional customs of the ancient Brother-
hood, even the technical expressions, well suited to the sym-
bolic architecture of the Temple, were retained, but only figu-
ratively and with a higher significance.

This British speculative Masonry was directly and indi-
rectly transplanted into the American Colonies about two
centuries ago.

Prior to 1717 any number of Masons—Dr. Oliver says not
less than ten—met as lodges and acted without other au-
thority than their “ inherent right,” the word “lodge” at that
time having a broad enough meaning to include a meeting as
well as an organization. Subsequent to that year, however, the
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‘“ inherent right” method of lodge formation was considered
illegal, altho practiced to a degree for many decades after-
wards without subjecting its adherents to excommunication.
Loodges became continuing organizations by charters from a
Grand Lodge, and Freemasonry as we know and practice it
today may therefore be said to date from the year 1717.

The story of the formation of the Grand Lodge of England
has been so often told that it suffices here to give the briefest
outline. At the beginning of the eighteenth century Masonry
was at such a low ebb in that country that only four lodges
had survived, and these four, together with a number of un-
attached brethren, met in convention at the Apple Tree Tavern
in Charles Street, Convent Garden, in February, 1717, when
it was resolved to revive the periodical conventions of the
officers of lodges, which had long been omitted, and to choose
a Grand Master, and accordingly, on St. John’s day, 1717,
the Assembly and Feast of Free and Accepted Masons was -
held at the Goose and Gridiron, in St. Paul’'s Churchyard,
Mr. Jacob Sayer was selected and installed as Grand Master,
and the Grand Lodge of England instituted. At the communi-
cation of St. John’s day, 1718, George Payne, Esq., was
elected Grand Master of Masons, and his administration is
especially notable as being the one in which the old Regula-
tions were given definite form. These Regulations, which had
existed long prior to this period but in scattered documents.
manuscripts, rituals, etc., were collected and compiled for
the first time in 1720, and approved by the Grand Lodge in
1721. This work may well be considered as having the most
important bearing on the stability and future prosperity of the
institution, and was one of the great revolutionary features
of the transition period.

Before many years had passed serious trouble arose in the
fraternity in England, mainly through the persistence of cer-
tain brethren in organizing and exercising all the functions
of lodges under the old system of inherent right and in con-
tempt of the constituted authority of the Grand Lodge, and
this rebellious element attained such strength that by the
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middle of the eighteenth century a new Grand Lodge was
formed under the title of “ Ancient York Masons,” a body
entirely separate and distinct from the so-called “ Grand Lodge
of York,” previously alluded to, and which had been reorgan-
ized in 1725, and continued in existence until 1792. The
new Grand Lodge, claiming, without warrant, a direct descent
from the original York lodge, styled itself ‘ Ancient,”
and applied the term ““ Modern” to the Grand Body of 1717,
and these terms, misleading and perhaps incorrect in the
strictest equity, clung to the two bodies throughout the period
of separate existence and have been a source of confusion
to Masonic students ever since. After nearly a century of
rivalry the two bodies united in 1813 under the title of ““ The
United Grand Lodge of England,” and now constitutes
one of the strongest and most prosperous of Masonic
organizations.

The Ancient and Modern Grand Lodges both established
lodges and provincial Grand Lodges in this country in the
eighteenth century, the majority, perhaps, by the former, and
further accessions to the lodges of that period were had by
charters from the Grand Lodges of Scotland and Ireland.

In the new country Masonry, appealing to the very best
citizens, flourished with expansive vigor, and it is a pardonable
digression to note that in our struggle for independence the
greatest names of the period belonged to members of the
mystic tie. Washington, Randolph, Payton, Franklin, La-
Fayette, Hamilton, Paul Revere, practically all the general
officers of the Continental Army, fifty-two of the fifty-five
signers of the Declaration of Independence, and a host of
others prominent in that history-making epoch are known to
have been Master Masons.

The claims of seniority of the various jurisdictions in the
United States in the matter of first lodges has presented a
field for disputation which has been greedily seized by many
Masonic writers but has no place in the present work except
so far as it affects the uncovering of the origin of Free-
masonry in the District of Columbia.
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Prior to July 10, 1790, the date of the final passage of the
act fixing the seat of the Federal Government on the Potomac,
the territory now known as the District of Columbia was a
part of the State of Maryland, and while the original District
embraced a tract of ten miles square lying on the Virginia
as well as the Maryland side of the river, yet inasmuch as the
retrocession by the Federal Government to Virginia in 1846
of its original contribution to the site left the metes and
bounds of the District as we know them today, it is deemed
proper in this early retrospect to pay especial attention to the
introduction of Masonry into our parent State of Maryland,
the history of that introduction necessarily being our own.

Schultz’s History of Masonry in Maryland says: “ Ma-
sonry was introduced into Maryland during the Colonial
period from three sources, viz: by the Grand Lodge (Mod-
erns) of Massachusetts; Grand Lodge (Moderns) of Eng-
land, and the Grand Lodge (Ancients) of Pennsylvania.
Traditions indicate that it was also introduced here from
Scotland and Germany.”

Prior to the formation of the Grand Lodge of Maryland
in 1783 we find the existing lodges in that State springing
from the sources enumerated above, but immediately upon the
close of the Revolutionary War a convention was held, June
17, 1788, by representatives from five lodges located on the
Eastern Shore to form an independent Grand Lodge, and
as these lodges were all warranted by the Provincial Grand
Lodge of Pennsylvania it was deemed necessary to obtain a
- warrant from that body, which itself was a subordinate of
the Grand Lodge (Ancients) of England, before consum-
mating their purpose. A strong element, however, claimed
the inherent right to form a Grand body independent of the
permission of Pennsylvania, and when after negotiations with
that authority covering a year no satisfactory results were
obtained, and when for various reasons the matter had lain
in abeyance for three years longer, a convention of deputies
from the various lodges met at Talbot Court House April
17, 1787, and organized, or as is claimed, reorganized the
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Grand Lodge of Maryland, which from that date to the
present has enjoyed a continuous and prosperous existence.

Thus was formed the parent Grand Lodge of Maryland,
the third independent Grand Lodge in this country, if we
accept the date, June 17, 1783, as the true one, being preceded
by Massachusetts in 1777, and Virginia in 1778. The fact
that the Provincial Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania on Sep-
tember 25, 1786, declared their independence of Great Britain
and at once formed a Grand Lodge doubtless had much to
do with bringing the dormant movement in Maryland to life
in the following year.

With the gradual absorption of the other lodges of the
State and the chartering of new ones outside of our bailiwick
we have no direct interest, but before entering upon the history
of those bodies in our own territory warranted by this Grand
Lodge and of authentic record, let us briefly examine the
field of tradition and record for any evidence of organized
Masonry in the section subsequently known as the District
of Columbia prior to 1789, the date of the first known charter,
and the difficulty of such an examination will be made more
understandable when the fact is stated that it was the custom
of the early days, especially during the Revolutionary War,
to keep the records of lodges on slips of paper which were,
after so long a time, destroyed, to prevent the possibility of
their falling into the hands of profanes, a custom peculiarly
aggravating to the modern historian.

There is at the present day in the possession of Potomac
Lodge, No. 5, of this jurisdiction, an old Bible published in
Edinburgh, Scotland, in 1754, with the following inscription
in beautifully rounded characters on the fly-leaf: “ A present
from Mr. Colin Campbell to St. Andrew’s Lodge, the 30th
January, 1773, Bladensburg,” the last word being on a separ-
ate line. It has also been asserted—but of the fact there is no
available evidence—that the late Rev. Brother Thomas Balch,
of Georgetown, had in his possession a diploma showing that
his great-grandfather, Col. James Balch, was made a Mason
in this Lodge as early as 1737. Diligent inquiry among the
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descendants of the Rev. Balch, however, fails to bring to light
the missing document, which would afford incontrovertible evi-
dence of the existence of a lodge of that name at that period
and in this section, but on the contrary unearths an old letter
from a nephew of this Col. Balch who states that he never
knew his uncle was made a Mason in Georgetown, but was
always under the impression that he had received the degrees
in France according to the Scottish Rite.

On this Bible and diploma is predicated the theory that a
Lodge, called “ St. Andrew’s,” existed in the settlement which,
in 1751, was laid out as Georgetown, at an even earlier
date than 1737. That such a conclusion is a natural one we
admit, but is not proven by the evidence at hand. That no
lodge was chartered by either the Grand Lodge of Scotland or
the Grand Lodge of England is shown by the following com-
munication to the author in reply to a request for information:

GraND LoODGE OF SCOTLAND,
Freemasons’ HawLr,
EpiNBURGH, 12th May, 1906.

Grand Secretary’s Office.
Mr. K. N. HarpEg,

201 E Street, Northwest,
Washington, Dist. of Columbia, U. S, A.

Dear Sir and Bro.: In reply to your letter of 25th Apr, I have made
a minute search of our records but cannot trace any lodge having been
chartered in Maryland so far back as 1730-40. I have also made enquiry
at the Grand Lodge of England, but they have failed to trace the chart-
ering of any lodge in Maryland about that time.

It is of course possible that there may have been such a lodge as that to
which you refer, but it would probably be an unconstitutional one, as has
been found to be the case with many lodges about the period named and
even at a much later date. ’

Yours, faithfully and fraternally,
Davip Reip,

Grand Secretary.

This, however, by no means disposes of the matter, for not
only were lodges formed by inherent right long subsequent
to this date, but, as before mentioned, the term * lodge”
applied equally to a hap-hazard congregation of Masons for a
single meeting as well as to an organized and continuing
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body, and it may well be accepted as probable, indeed certain,
that among the Scotch immigrants, who, more than any other.
found their way up the Patawomeke River to the head of
navigation, now the site of Georgetown, in those early days,
there were many of the Craft who upon proper occasion as-
sembled for Masonic intercourse, and, as was customary,
inducted new members into the mysteries. This is reasonable
and indeed has a certain confirmation in the fact that in the
traditions of some of the oldest Georgetown families there is
mentioned the so-called “ Auld Scotch Lodge,” an important
institution, in which it is said all differences between Masons
were referred for adjustment. So we may accept the presence
and activity of the fraternity at this period on our soil but
can scarcely go further.

The inscription in the Bible proves no location for the St.
Andrew’s Lodge. It was a Scotch Lodge designation in-
herited from the old country and held by at least two lodges in
the Colonies at that time—one in Massachusetts and one in
South Carolina. That Bladensburg was the home of the
Lodge we think is sufficiently disproved by the isolated position
of the word, and may be accepted as the residence of the
donor. That Georgetown may claim the honor is supported
only by the fact that the Book has been in the possession of
the fraternity there from time immemorial. As the diploma
is only a tradition it cannot enter seriously into the argument.

So, giving the facts and theories as they exist as to this
early day and leaving the logical reader to draw his own con-
clusions, we pass on.
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CHAPTER II.

IN THE BEGINNING.

MASONRY AT THE BIRTH OF THE FEDERAL CITY—FIRST LODGE,
NO. 9, OF GEORGETOWN, CHARTERED—CORNERSTONE OF
THE DISTRICT—A UNIQUE DISPENSATION—FORMA-
TION OF FEDERAL, NO. 15—LAYING OF CORNER-
STONES OF CAPITOL AND WHITE HOUSE.

“Behold, I lay in Zion for a foundation a stone, a tried stone, a precious
corner-stone, @ sure foundation’—Isaiah xxviii, 16.

THAT FREEMASONRY was a dominating tho unobtrusive
force from the very first in this section has striking illustra-
tion in the fact that the cornerstone of the District was laid
with Masonic ceremonies, and this event, probably with-
out a parallel in the world’s annals, furnishes, perhaps, the
most natural, certainly the most interesting, point of depart-
ure in the historical journey we are about to undertake.
The word cornerstone is here used in no figurative sense,
but refers to a small marker of masonry set up at Jones Point,
on Hunting Creek, below Alexandria, Va., from which were
run at right angles the lines which formed the first two sides
of the ten-mile square constituting the original District of
Columbia. This initial stone was placed according to ancient
Masonic usages, April 15, 1791, by the Masonic Lodge of
Alexandria, Va., which had been chartered eight years before
by the Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania as No. 39, and which, in
1788, became Alexandria-Washington Lodge, No. 22, under the
jurisdiction of Virginia, with George Washington as Master.
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This lodge, with one chartered in Georgetown as No. 9, of
Maryland, in 1789, constituted organized Masonry within the
limits of the contemplated new Territory, and while there
remains to us only the most meager account of this first public
recorded Masonic function yet it may be surmised that the
latter lodge was also in evidence on that eventful Spring day
and took an active part in the exercises.

The following account of the affair, published at the time
in a Philadelphia paper, is deemed worthy of reproduction:

ALEXANDRIA, April 21, 1791.

On Friday, the 15th inst, the Hon. Daniel Carroll and Hon. David
Stuart arrived in this town to superintend the fixing of the first corner-
stone of the Federal District.

The Mayor and the Commonalty, together with the members of the
different Lodges [?] of the town, at three o’clock, waited on the com-
missioners at Mr. Wise’s, where they dined, and, after drinking a glass of
wine to the following sentiment, viz.: “May the stone which we are about
to place in the ground, remain an immovable monument of the wisdom
and unanimity of North America,” the company proceeded to Jones Point
in the following order:

1st. The Town Sergeant. 2d. Hon. Daniel Carroll and the Mayor.
8d. Mr. Ellicott and the Recorder. 4th. Such of the Common Council and
Aldermen as were not Freemasons. 5th. Strangers. 6th. The Master of
Lodge, No. 22, with Dr. David Stuart on his right, and the Rev. James
Muir [for many years an active Mason] on his left, followed by the rest
of the Fraternity, in their usual form of procession. Lastly. The citi-
zens, two by two.

When Mr. Ellicott had ascertained the precise point from which the
first line of the District was to proceed, the Master of the Lodge and Dr.
Steuart, assisted by others of their brethren, placed the stone. After
which a deposit of corn, wine, and oil was placed upon it, and the follow-
ing observations were made by the Rev. James Muir:

“ Of America it may be said, as of Judea of old, that it is a good land
and large—a land of brooks of waters, of fountains, and depths that
spring out of the valleys and hills—a land of wheat, and barley, and vines,.
and g-trees, and pomegranates—a land of oil, olives, and honey—a land
wherein we eat bread without scarceness, and have lack of nothing—a
land whose stones are iron, and out of whose hills thou mayst dig brass—
a land which the Lord thy God careth for;—the eyes of the Lord thy
God are always upon it; from the beginning of the year even unto the
end of the year.

“May Americans be grateful and virtuous, and they shall insure the
indulgence of Providence; may they be unanimous and just, and they
shall rise to greatness. May true patriotism actuate every heart; may it
be the devout and universal wish. Peace be within thy walls, O America,
and prosperity within thy palaces! Amiable it is for brethren to dwell
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together in unity; it is more fragrant than the perfumes on Aaron’s gar-
ment; it is more refreshing than the dews on Hermon’s hill.

“ May this stone long commemorate the goodness of God in those un-
common events which have given America a name among nations. Under
this stone may jealousy and selfishness be forever buried. From this
stone may a superstructure arise, whose glory, whose magmﬁcence, whose
stability, unequalled hitherto, shall astonish the world, and invite even the
savage of the wilderness to take shelter under its roof.”

The company partook of some refreshments, and then returned to the
place from whence they came, where a number of toasts were drank; and
the following was delivered by the Master of the Lodge (Dr. Dick), and
was received with every token of approbation:

“ Brethren and Gentlemen: May jealousy, that green-eyed monster, be
buried deep under the work which we have this day completed, never to
rise again within the Federal District.”

The light-house structure now on Jones Point covers the
site of these interesting ceremonies.

The next public Masonic function in the embyro city, of
which there is evidence, was the laying of the cornerstone
of the Union Public Hotel, better known as Blodget’s Hotel,
which was located between E and F and Seventh and Eighth
Streets, N. W., on the site of the old General Post Office,
now the Land Office building, and was the most pretentious
hostelry in Washington in the early days.

The ceremony took place July 4, 1793, and, while there
is no available account of the event, the fact is proven by the
existence of a copper plate placed in or on the stone at that
time, and discovered forty-six years thereafter.

The plate, a facsimile of which is here given, is in the
possession of Bro. Andrew H. Ragan, of B. B. French Lodge,
(a son of the late Bro. Daniel Ragan, of Potomac Lodge, one
of the devoted few who, in 1838, prevented the surrender of
the charter of that Lodge), and its authenticity is vouched
for by the following endorsement: “This plate was found
in cleaning away the rubbish from the new General Post
Office on E, between Seventh and Eighth Streets West, in the
City of Washington. Presented by Charles Coltman, the
Superintendent, Oct. 8, 1839.”

While no instituted lodge existed in the City of Washington
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at the time, it is possible that Federal was even then under
dispensation and formed the nucleus for the congregation of
the members of the craft living in Washington on that ““ mem-
orable” occasion.

The first charter known to have been issued to any lodge
within the limits of the present District of Columbia was
issued by the Grand Lodge of Maryland, at a meeting held
April 21, 1789, to a lodge to be held in George-Town, Md.,
on the Potomack River, with *— Fierer as W. M. and Alex-
ander Grier as S. W. This lodge was the second one chartered
by the Grand Lodge of Maryland, and was officially known
as “Lodge No. 9,” the designation “ Potomac” appearing
seventeen years later, in connection with the third lodge con-
stituted in Georgetown.

Lodge No. 9, in January, 1792, granted a dispensation for
certain of its members who had moved to Port Tobacco,
Charles Co., Md., to open a lodge at that place to be known
as St. Columbia, pending a regular application to the Grand
Lodge of Maryland. It may be said in passing that this
somewhat remarkable action finds partial justification in the
crude conditions of transportation and communication of the
time and the survival in a degree of the old “ inherent right”
doctrine. Altho this method of procedure was unfavorably
criticized in the Grand Lodge, yet the dispensation was con-
firmed by a warrant to the new lodge under the title of St.
Columbia, No. 11. Space is given to record the birth of this
lodge, which survived but six years, because of the fact that
it was an off-shoot from our own territory and an important
event in our little Fraternity world at that time, the drain on
the membership of No. 9 caused by its formation resulting
in the demise of the Georgetown lodge in the early part of
1794. The petition for the dispensation above referred to as
well as that document itself are so novel as to warrant their
literal reproduction:

* There is every reason to believe that this was Charles Fierer, Editor of the Times and
the Polomack Packet, 1789.
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PETITION.

Porr ToBacco, CHARLES CoUNTY, MD, 1792 AND 5792.

By a communication of sentiments, the following Brethren, to wit:
Robert Ferguson, Basil Warring, Alexander Grier, Archibald Dobbins,
Thomas Mundell, Judson Clagett, Zaphaniah Turner, Samuel B. Turner,
and Samuel T. Dyson, did sign and prefer the following Petition to the
Worshipful Lodge of Ancient York Masons No. 9, in Geo. Town.

To the Worshipful Master, Wardens and other Brethren of Lodge
No. 9, George Town on Potomack. The petition of a number of the
Society of Free and Accepted York Masons, residents of Port Tobacco
and its vicinity of Charles County, humbly showeth,—That being feeling
impressed with a sense of the duties incumbent on the members of that
society, when opportunities conveniently offer for the Commemoration of
them they humbly represent, to you, that from a diminution of Brethren
in and near that place, and many other concurrent circumstances, they are
now reduced to a small number, destitute of Constitutional rights to as-
semble in Lodge, yet those are both willing and desirous to co-operate
with other Brethren in perpetuating the Institution, and to become useful
members of the Fraternity your Petitioners therefore pray a dispensation
from Lodge No. 9, until they have it in their power to obtain a regular
establishment from the Grand Lodge of Maryland—We therefore, whose
names are hereunto subscribed, being all Brethren of the Ancient Or-
der of Masons, and conceiving ourselves capable of conducting a lodge
in purity, have proceeded to the choice of a Master and Wardens, and
have unanimously elected Brother Alexander Grier to be Master, Brother
Robert Ferguson to be Senior Warden and Brother Judson M. Clagett to
be Junior Warden of the same Lodge, and humbly pray that they may be
legally incorporated into a Lodge to be held in Port Tobacco.

(Signed) RoBerr FERGUSON. Jupson M. CLAGETT.
Basi, WARRING. ZepH. TURNER.
ALEX. GRIER. SamL. B. TURNER,
ArcHp. DoBBIN. Samr. T. Dyson.

THos. MUNDELL.

DISPENSATION.

(From the Worshipful Lodge of Ancient York Masons No. 9 in George-
Town.)

To all whom it may concern:

Know that Brother Robert Ferguson, Basil Warring, Alexander Grier,
Archibald Dobbin, Thomas Mundell, Judson M. Clagett, Zephaniah
Turner, Samuel B. Turner, and Samuel T. Dyson, are authorized and
fully empowered to assemble and meet together in Port Tobacco, as a
part of Lodge No. 9 (of which they are members) to appoint Officers to
govern themselves, according to the Ancient Constitution and Customs of
Masons: and they hereby have a dispensation in ample form for holding
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such meetings, as in their wisdom shall be deemed prudent, until the first
day of January next ensuing, they conducting themselves at such meet-
ings, as true, faithful York Masons, have power to do all work of Ancient
Free Masons in proper form, except only, entering, Passing and Raising a
Brother, for which a perfect Charter must be obtained from the Right
Worshipful Grand Lodge of Maryland.

In evidence of the above, the Officers of Lodge No. 9, do hereunto fix
our hands and seal of our Lodge, this twenty-fifth day of June, in the
year of our Lord, one thousand seven hundred and ninety-two, and of
Masonry Five thousand seven hundred and ninety-two.

Signed by P. CAasaNave, Master.
THos. Bearry, JR., Senior Warden.
VALENTINE REINTZELL, JR, Junior Warden.
ANTHONY REINTZELL, Treasurer.
SamL. TURNER, Jr., Secretary.

The cornerstone of the White House was laid October 13,
1792, and while tradition holds the ceremony to have been
under Masonic auspices, and a number of veracious histor-
ians so affirm, the most diligent search, in which the author
has had the assistance of the late A. R. Spofford, for many
years Librarian of Congress, and Bro. Elliott Woods, the
present Superintendent U. S. Capitol Building and Grounds,
has failed to unearth any account of the occasion. In the ab-
sence, however, of any evidence to the contrary, and taking
into consideration the known fact that the leading men in the
Government and in the corps of architects and builders at
that time were Master Masons, it is a reasonably fair as-
sumption that the ceremony was Masonic, and while this is not
historic it is given as an historic probability.

Work on the Capitol building, Executive Mansion, and other
public buildings at once brought to the new city a small army
of architects and builders, and among this company were
found many of the craft who later were prominently identified
with Masonic and municipal matters, and were largely instru-
mental in safely guiding the Federal city through its troublous
formative period. One or two may properly be mentioned,
and the first name that demands attention is that of Brother
James Hoban, known as *“ Captain” through his connection
with a militia organization, who was the Architect of the
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Capitol and the Executive Mansion, and who had previously
achieved distinction in his profession in Dublin. He was one
of many Irishmen and devout Romanists who in that day were
also consistent members of the Masonic Fraternity. A quick-
tempered tho generous man, with a rather exalted opinion
of his own merits, his professional life was a stormy one,
but to the sheer power of his will, combating official parsi-
mony, the country is indebted for the magnificent proportions
of our Capitol and Executive Mansion, and in him the Fra-
ternity finds one of the most potent early forces for the perma-
nent establishment of Masonry in this section. A resident of
Washington for nearly forty years, he grew rich, prominent, in-
fluential, and esteemed, and after a long and honorable career
passed away in 1831, and after a temporary burial in St.
Patrick’s Church graveyard (afterwards the site of the Ma-
sonic Temple at Ninth and F Streets) found his last resting
place in Mt. Olivet Cemetery. Next perhaps in point of
interest among the earlier Masons was Brother Clotworthy
Stephenson, who acted as Grand Marshal at the laying of the
cornerstone of the Capitol and was one of the organizers of
the old Volunteer Fire Department. Until his death, in 1819,
he was most active in Masonry and conspicuous on all public
occasions, being a man of fluent speech, good presence, and
quick resource. Collin Williamson, a Scotchman and Master
Stone Mason at the Capitol, who personally set the corner-
stone of that building, also deserves place in the list of the
prominent Masonic pioneers as one who, altho but a short time
a resident of the city, left the impress of his personality in-
delibly stamped on the early history of the Fraternity. The
limited scope of the present work forbids at this point the mul-
tiplication of names equally deserving of record and which
will find recognition on other pages, but these three are here
mentioned because of the fact that they were the prominent
movers in obtaining a charter for the first lodge founded after
the formation of the District. This lodge, Federal, No. 15, of
Maryland (now No. 1 of this jurisdiction), having previously,

according to the custom of the period, obtained a “dispensation”
. 2
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from No. 9, was warranted September 12, 1793, just six
days before the laying of the cornerstone of the Capitol, and
it is a natural and reasonable conclusion that this approaching
ceremonial had much to do with at least hastening its birth.

This cornerstone laying, one of the most important events
of our local history, occurred September 18, 1793, and was
under the exclusive control of the Fraternity, Joseph Clark,
Worshipful Master of Lodge No. 12, at Annapolis, acting
as Grand Master. Gen. George Washington, then President
of the United States, joined in the ceremonies as a Mason,
was honored with the chief place in the procession, and is
believed to have taken the square and level in his hands and
laid the stone according to the ancient Masonic rites. The
following contemporary account of the event, published in
the Columbian Mirror and Alexandria Gazette, September 23,
1793, gives us the viewpoint of the period, and is deemed of
such historical interest as to warrant its reproduction in part:

GEORGE-TOWN, September 21, 1793.

On Wednesday one of the grandest Masonic processions took place for
the purpose of laying the corner-stone of the Capitol of the United
States, which perhaps ever was exhibited on the like important occasion.
About 10 o'clock, Lodge No. 9 was visited by that congregation so
graceful to the craft, Lodge No. 22 of Virginia, with all their Officers
and Regalia; and directly afterwards appeared, on the Southern banks
of the Grand River Potowmack, one of the finest companies of Volunteer
Artillery that hath been lately seen, parading to receive the President of
the United States, who shortly came in sight with his suite, to whom the
Artillery paid their military honors; and his Excellency and suite crossed
the Potowmack, and was received in Maryland by the officers and brethren
of No. 22 Virginia, and No. 9 Maryland, whom the President headed, and
preceded by a band of music; the rear brought up by the Alexandria
Volunteer Artillery, with grand solemnity of march, proceeded to the
President’s square, in the city of Washington, where they were met and
saluted by No. 15, of the city of Washington, in all their elegant badges
and clothing, headed by brother Joseph Clark, Rt. W. G. M. P. T., and
conducted to a large lodge prepared for the purpose of their reception.
After a short space of time, by the vigilance of brother Clotworthy
Stephenson, Grand Marshal P. T., the brotherhood and other bodies were
disposed in a second order of procession, which took place amidst a
brilliant crowd of spectators of both sexes, according to the following
arrangement, viz:—
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The Surveying Department of the city of Washington.
Mayor and Corporation of Georgetown.
Virginia Artillery.

Commissioners of the city of Washington, and their attendants.
Stone Cutters. Mechanics.

Two Sword Bearers.

Masons of the 1st degree.

Bibles, &c., on Grand Cushions,

Deacons with Staffs of Office.

Masons of the 2d degree.

Stewards with wands.

-Masons of the 3d degree.

Wardens with truncheons.

Secretaries with tools of Office.

Past Masters with their Regalia.
Treasurers with their Jewels.

Band of Music.

Lodge No. 22, of Virginia, disposed in their own Order.
Corn, Wine, and Oil
Grand Master P. T. George Washington; W. M. No. 22, Virginia.
Grand Sword Bearer.

The procession marched two abreast in the greatest solemn dignity,
with music playing, drums beating, colors flying, and spectators rejoicing
from the President’s square to the Capitol in the city of Washington,
where the Grand Marshal ordered a halt, and directed each file in the
procession to incline two steps, one to the right, and one to the left, and
faced each other, which formed an hollow oblong square, through which
the Grand Sword Bearer led the van, followed by the Grand Master P. T.
on the left, the President of the United States in the centre, and the
Worshipful Master of No. 22 Virginia on the right; all the other orders
that composed the prosession advanced in the reverse of their order of
march from the President’s square to the south-east corner of the Capitol,
and the artillery filed off to a destined ground to display their manceuvres
and discharge their cannon; the President of the United States, the Grand
Master P. T., and Worshipful Master of No. 22 taking their stand to the
east of a hugh stone, and all the craft forming a circle westward, stood
a short time in awful order.

The artillery discharged a volley.

The Grand Marshal delivered the Commissioners a large silver plate
with an inscription thereon, which the Commissioners ordered to be read,
and was as follows:—

This *south-east corner-stone of the Capitol of the United States of
America, in the city of Washington, was laid on the 18th day of Septem-
ber, 1793, in the thirteenth year of American Independence, in the first
year of the second term of the Presidency of George Washington, whose

® The custom of laying in the north-east corner is of comparatively recent origin.



20 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY

virtues in the civil administration of his country have been so conspicuous
and beneficial, as his military valor and prudence have been useful in
establishing her liberties, and in the year of Masonry 5793, by the Presi-
dent of the United States, in concert with the Grand Lodge of Maryland,
several lodges under its jurisdiction, and Lodge No. 22 from Alexandria,
Virginia.

THoMAS JOHNSON,

Davip STUART, Commissioners.

DanieL CArroOLL,

‘_}osapn éZLAnx, RW.GM,P.T.

AMEs HoBaN, .
STeEPHEN HALLATE, } Architects.
CoLLiN WiLLiAMsoN, M. Mason.

The artillery discharged a volley.

The plate was then delivered to the President, who, attended by the
Grand Master P. T. and three most Worshipful Masters, descended to the
cavazion trench and deposed the plate, and laid it on the cornerstone of
the Capitol of the United States of America, on which was deposited
corn, wine, and oil, when the whole congregation joined in reverential
prayer, which was succeeded by Masonic chaunting honors, and a volley
from the artillery.

The President of the United States, and his attendant brethren, as-
cended from the cavazion to the east of the corner-stone, and there the
Grand Master P. T., elevated on a triple rostrum, delivered an oration
fitting the occasion which was received with brotherly love and commen-
dation.

[The oration is sufficiently quaint and interesting to justify
the few extracts below] :

My WorrHY BRETHREN :
» * s . *

I beg leave to declare to you that I have, and I expect that you also
have, every hope that the grand work we have done today will be handed
down, as well by record, as by oral tradition, to a late posterity—as
the like work of that ever memorable temple to our order erected by our
ancient G. M. Solomon.

* * * * *

I say that we further hope that the work may be remembered for many
ages to come as a similar work hath from the commencement of time
to this remarkable moment; I mean the work of laying the Corner
Stone of our ancient, h:mourab]e ami sublime ord:r. .

*

And T hope that our super-excellent order may here [City of Wash-
ington] be indefatigably laborious, not only to keep in good repair our
Hallowed Dome; but be incessantly industrious to adorn it, with the
Grand Theological Virtues Faith, Hope, and Charity, and embellish it
with Wisdom, Strength, and Beauty.

* * * * *

It must, my dear Brethren, be evident to all our understanding—that not

alone nature, but Providence, hath marked their intentions in the most
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indelible manner to make this the seat for the Grand Mark, the super-
excellent emporium of politics, commerce, industry and arts of the
United States—Seated in the very centricity of our republic—on the
banks of one of the noblest rivers in the universe—sufficiently capacious
to erect thereon a city equal, if not superior, in magnitude to any in
the world—It boasts, but then very truly—a climate the most serene and
salubrious—equal of access from all the cardinal and intermedial points
as any place that kind nature ever formed even beyond the conception
of art—wanting no defence but what is in, and ever will be in, I trust, the

intrepidity and bravery of its founder and citizens.
* * * - * *

Although it is not the growth of, yet there is already planted in this
rden or young nursery of the arts, and hath blossomed numerous
owers, that bloom with high lustre in their various departments, (not
to mention its ever to be revered founder), but its finances, conductors,
projectors, delineators and executive geniuses without number, and many
of them not only brethren of our order, but brothers of super-excellent

and sublime estimation.
*® & L L ] #

At frequent intervals, during the delivery of the oration, volleys were
discharged by the artillery. The ceremony ended in prayer, Masonic
chaunting honors, and a fifteenth volley from the artillery.

The whole company retired to an extensive booth, where an ox of 500
Ibs. weight was barbacued, of which the company generally partook, with
every abundance of other recreation. The festival concluded with fifteen
successive vollies from the artillery, whose military discipline and manceu-
vres merit every commendation.

Before dark the whole company departed, with joyful hopes of the
production of the labor.

The punctuation throughout is that of-the original article
and, in the last line but one of the section showing the Ma-
sonic formation, has led to the palpably erroneous impression
that President Washington was Grand Master P. T. on this
occasion, altho a proper examination of the rest of the account
plainly excludes the possibility of such an inference, and
indicates that the sentence is intended to enumerate three
persons: Joseph Clark, Grand Master P. T.; George Wash-
ington, and the Master of Lodge No. 22, of Alexandria, Va.
The conclusion thus reached does not, however, necessarily
carry with it the assumption that the long-cherished tradition
that Washington personally laid the cornerstone must be
abandoned. Controversialists point to the fact that W. Bro.
Washington was not the Grand Master P. T., and that while
the account credits him with having “ deposed” the silver plate
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it simply recites that corn, wine, and oil were deposited on
the stone and is silent regarding the ceremony attendant there-
on, and argue therefrom that the more important part must
have been performed by the Grand Master P. T., and attempt
to fortify their position by holding it to be inconceivable in
Masonry that any one other than the Grand Master should,
in his presence, officiate on such an occasion. But while there
is no available record of the details of the affair except the
above, there is sufficient evidence, both in the text of the in-
scription referred to and in the body of the article, to estab-
lish beyond question the fact that, by the high power in him
vested, the Grand Master P. T. delegated to \WV. Bro. Wash-
ington, for the time being, his rights and prerogatives, in
large part, at least, and that to the distinguished first Presi-
dent of the United States belongs the honor of “laying” the
cornerstone of its Capitol building. Indeed this has substantial
corroboration through Bro. John Mountz, Secretary at that
time of Lodge No. 9, Georgetown, who was present, and who
has left documentary testimony that he stood near the Presi-
dent “ when he laid the first cornerstone of the Captiol of
the United States,”” and while this document is dated in 1854,
when the Brother had reached the advanced age of 83 years,
his contemporaries accredit him with unimpaired mental fac-
ulties, and full credence must therefore be given to this prac-
tically conclusive evidence.

The gavel used by Worshipful Brother Washington was
upon the conclusion of the exercises handed to the Master of
No. 9, of Georgetown, Valentine Reintzel, afterward the first
Grand Master of the District of Columbia, and has been care-
fully preserved by the successors of that lodge, being now
in the possession of Potomac Lodge, No. 3, of this jurisdiction,
and never allowed to leave the custody of a special committee.
A list of the many notable occasions on which it has since
been used will be found elsewhere in these pages. The trowel
with which the cement was spread is still in the possession of
Alexandria-Washington Lodge, No. 22, of Virginia, and is
one of the most cherished relics of that historic lodge.
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CHAPTER III.

BETWEEN THE CENTURIES.

A JURISDICTION IN THE MAKING—FORMATION OF THE EARL-
IEST LODGES, COLUMBIA, NO. 19, COLUMBIA, NO. 35,
NAVAL, NO. 41, POTOMAC, NO. 43, OF MARYLAND, AND
ALEXANDRIA-BROOKE, NO. 47, OF VIRGINIA—
DEATH OF WASHINGTON—SIDE LIGHTS ON

THE MASONIC USAGES OF THE TIME.

“They hadn’t any fine regalia;
Their lodges were old and bare;
But they knew the ancient landmarks,
And they kept them to a hair.”
—KipLING.

WHILE A DETAILED SKETCH of each local lodge, living or
extinct, is made a part of the present work, yet inasmuch as
the history of the earlier lodges constitutes the history of
Freemasonry in the District for the period preceding the form-
ation of the Grand Lodge, a brief outline of the more impor-
tant events connected with these several bodies at that time
must find place at this point, that the story may lack no es-
sential element for the general reader, the more exacting
student being referred for minutize to the sketches referred to.

In the Grand Lodge of Maryland, October 22, 1795, the
following quaint petition was presented, and, being supported
by Federal Lodge, No. 15, now grown to comparatively stal-
wart proportions in the new city, a charter was issued under
the title of Columbia Lodge, No. 19:
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The petition of the subscribers, members of the Society of Free and
Accepted Ancient York Masons, residents of Georgetown, Potomack
River, Humbly Showeth:

That whereas the Lodge heretofore held in this town known and dis-
tinguished as Lodge No. 9 has from the want of a proper attention in its
members and a remissness in the execution of its by-laws by the proper
officers and from sundry other causes sunk into disregard; that your peti-
tioners a select few who have ever kept sight of the Ancient Landmarks,
and reviewed with pain the decline and at length total annihilation of that
Lodge and being deeply impressed with a sense of the duties incumbent
on us as Masons, and conscious that every effort to revive a Lodge under
the charter of No. 9 would prove fruitless, have agreed to petition the
Grand Lodge to grant us a constitutional right to assemble, to have and
enjoy all rights and privileges usually granted to Lodges, and to confirm
our choice of Master and Wardens, with much sincerity we subscribe
ourselves your affectionate Brothers.

ANTHONY REINTZEL. GrorGE  WAUGHAN.
JouN SuTEr, JR JorN REINTZEL.
Wwu. Casgy. James MELvIN.
VALENTINE BOGANREIFF. J. THOMPSON.
CHARLES MINER, Wu. Cary,

THos. Bearry, Jr

This lodge, while only in existence for several years, has
left a few fragmentary records through which may be gained
a glimpse of the Masonic usages and customs of that early
day which cannot fail to be of absorbing interest to the
Masonic reader, and the thoughtful student needs no word of
warning in the perusing of these notes to avoid too hasty
conclusions. In order to get the proper viewpoint we must
breathe the atmosphere of the period, and, as conditions were
so radically different then from now, we must accept as
necessary and proper many incongruities and odd regulations
almost unintelligible to the modern mind but which, doubt-
less, were the offspring of the necessities of the times.

The accounts of this lodge were kept in pounds, shillings,
and pence, Maryland currency, and the item of expense for re-
freshments which were enjoyed at every meeting figured large
in the total; yet this is easily understandable when we reflect
that the opportunities for gathering socially were few and the
brethren, many of them coming long distances, would nat-
urally desire to embrace the opportunity to refresh the inner
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man, and neither should we too harshly criticize the fact
that liquids of various kinds frequently formed part of the
cheer. Tempora mutantur et nos mutamur in sllis.

The single book of records covers from November 7, 1795,
to December 12, 1796, and contains the by-laws, and, while
the entire contents of the book might profitably be quoted,
we have space for but a few extracts, and select those that
exhibit the widest divergence from our latter day customs.

Sunday meetings were frequently held for work and routine
business, and this habit, indeed a general one, was not broken
entirely in the District until the nineteenth century was well
advanced.

An entry under date of May 9, 1796, reads: “ Whereas
Bro. Bogimaff cannot procure leather aprons as required of
him by a resolve of last meeting; Resolved, that Bro. Jas.
Thompson procure six dimity aprons for the use of the visit-
ing brethren.”

A provision which will at once appeal to the modern Master
provided that members of committees be subject to a fine of
fifteen shillings for non-attendance on meetings, and unless
satisfactory excuse be made to the lodge suspended or expelled.

Commendable stress was laid upon the observance of the
proprieties in the lodge room, a regulation forbidding a
member from leaving his seat on any pretense whatever
“to walk about the room except it be an officer on his duty,
nor shall any refreshment be taken in open lodge or any
member leave the room for that purpose without leave from
the chair.”

From the by-laws we quote the following:

Art. I—The stated meetings of this lodge shall be on the second Monday
of each month, to -be opened precisely at half-past 6 o'clock in all the
months of November, December, January, February, and March, and at
half-past 7 o’clock in the months April to October.

It shall be the duty of the Secretary or his deputy to call over the
names of the members, when every absentee shall pay as a fine for non-
attendance at every stated meeting 3s. 9d. (Later raised to 7s. 6d.), and
for the third neglect a summons shall be issued and unless due respect
be paid thereto and satisfactory reasons be given for such non-attendance
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shall be expelled or suspended for a time as a majority of the members
present may deem right.

Art. III—Members behaving in an indecent or disorderly manner shall
be suspended for the night or fined in the discretion of the members
present in a sum not exceeding two dollars.

Art. V.—No Mason shall be admitted as a visitor of this Lodge more
than two nights in any one year without paying on stated nights the sum
of three shillings and nine pence, neither shall any Mason resident of
Geo. Town more than three months be permitted to visit without paying
the sum of 7s. 6d.

Art. VII.—Every member shall pay into the hands of the Treasurer or
his deputy the sum of 3s. 9d. on all stated nights—2s. 6d. for the necessary
and incidental expenses of the lodge and 1s. 3d. for a charity fund to be
paid three months in advance.

Art. VII.—* * * ¢ pounds for initiation, 3 for fellowcraft and same
for M. M.

Art. X.—[As to ballotting] * * * The J. D. shall furnish every mem-
ber present with a white and black ball and after depositing the ballott
Box in some convenient part of the room each member shall ballott, and
on two black balls being found such candidate stands rejected.

Art. XI.—* * * apd in no one night shall more than 3 be passed to
the degree of F. C. nor more than 2 to the sublime degree of M. M.

Art. XIII.—A committee of three to serve three months to furnish re-
freshments under the direction of the lodge.

The last meeting of the lodge of which there is any record
was held December 12, 1796, on which occasion the officers
were elected for the ensuing year, an invitation accepted from
Federal Lodge, No. 15, to join with them in procession on the
next St. John’s day, and a bill passed to pay for refreshments
furnished at the last meeting, amounting to £1 3s. 94d., all
tending to show that the lodge was then in a vigorous and
healthy state, but at some time between that date and 1806
they suspended operations.

Throughout this period Federal Lodge continued in a fairly
prosperous condition, and after the collapse of Columbia, No.
19, occupied the Masonic field alone in that part of the new
territory constituting the present District of Columbia for the
remainder of the century, not only being the exponent of
symbolic Masonry, but supporting for a few years, according
to the usage of the time, an appendant R. A. Encampment.
The ruling spirit of the lodge during the latter years of the
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eighteenth century was Alex. McCormick, an indefatigable
Masonic worker, to whose individual efforts the lodge was
more than once saved from dissolution, and who afterward
became the second Grand Master of the District.
Alexandria-Brooke Lodge, No. 47, located at Alexandria,
was chartered by the Grand Lodge of Virginia, November 29,
1796, and as it was one of the original lodges uniting to form
the Grand Lodge of the District, and as it subsequently, for a
period of years, was an important member of the local Ma-
sonic confederation, it may properly be considered our prop-
erty, and its birth and development noted in regular course.
With the closing hours of the century the immortal Wash-
ington passed away at his Mt. Vernon home. His life and
death, his character and works, are matters of household his-
tory the world over, and need no fulsome repetition here;
yet a brief sketch of his Masonic career must needs find
place in the history of the Fraternity in this jurisdiction, which
owes its very existence to his forceful will and which was the
object of his especial solicitude and care during the latter
years of his life. November 4, 1752, shortly before reaching
his majority, he was initiated in Fredericksburg Lodge, No. 4,
Fredericksburg, Va.; March 3, 1753, nine days after his
twenty-first birthday, he passed to the degree of Fellow-craft,
and on the 4th of the succeeding August was raised to the
degree of Master Mason. Washington was therefore dur-
ing his entire adult life a Freemason, and no opportunity was
ever permitted by him to pass without manifesting his con-
fidence in and respect for the Fraternity. That he took an
active part in the formation and conduct of traveling or army
lodges during the Revolution is evidenced by the following
statement of Brother Scott, P. G. M. of Virginia, in his ad-
dress at the laying of the cornerstone of the Washington Mon-
vment at Richmond, Va., February 22, 1850: “ Frequently
when surrounded by a brilliant staff, he would part from the
gay assemblage and seek the instruction of the lodge. There
lived, in 1842, in our sister State, Ohio, Captain Hugh Maloy,
then ninety-three years old, who was initiated a Mason in
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the marquee of Washington, he officiating and presiding at
the ceremony.”

December 27, 1779, a convention of army lodges met at Mor-
ristown, N. J.,, and the subject of a General Grand Lodge was
discussed and a committee appointed to address the several
existing Grand Lodges on the subject, which, February 7,
1780, was done, and while the name of Washington was not
mentioned as first General Grand Master yet it was generally
understood to be the choice of the convention. A month pre-
viously, at an emergent session of the Grand Lodge of Pennsyl-
vania, it was by ballot determined that it was for the benefit
of Masonry that there be ‘“a Grand Master of Masons
throughout the United States,” and upon ballot “ his Excel-
lency, George Washington, Esq., General and Commander-
in-Chief,” was unanimously elected. Massachusetts, however,
concluding that the movement was “ premature and inexpedi-
ent,” and Virginia, the only remaining Grand Lodge, making
no movement, the project died. The action of Pennsylvania
doubtless gave rise to the historical error, widely prevalent
and stoutly maintained, that Gen. Washington was at one
time General Grand Master of the United States.

That he was the first Master of Alexandria-Washington
Lodge, No. 22, is shown by the fact that the charter is di-
rected to “our illustrious and well-beloved Brother, George
Washington, Esq., late General and Commander-in-chief of
the forces of the United States of America. * * *” Not
only was he an active worker in his own lodge, but by the
testimony of cotemporaries we learn that he often visited
Lodge No. 39, of Alexandria. The prominent part taken
by him in the ceremonies incident to the laying of the cor-
nerstone of the Capitol building has already been touched
upon, and of itself effectually sets at rest the malicious as-
sertions appearing from time to time that Washington was
not a Mason—a statement so fully controverted by document-
ary evidence as to require no denial. »

The body of the illustrious dead was consigned to the
tomb December 18, 1799, the two Alexandria lodges and
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Federal Lodge of this city uniting as a funeral lodge and being
escorted to the vault by an imposing procession in the follow-
ing order:

Companies of cavalry, artillery and infantry; military guard
of honor; a led horse, bridled and saddled, with the spurred
boots of its late rider in the stirrups, and his sword and gaunt-
lets at the saddle; the body on a bier covered with a black
pall, the tassels of which, three on a side, were held by six
colonels of the Revolutionary Army, all Freemasons; rela-
tives and intimate friends; funeral lodge of Freemasons; the
municipality of Alexandria; citizens; servants of the estate.

As the procession moved to the sound of muffled drums
minute guns were fired from a vessel anchored near the wharf.

Upon arrival at the tomb the mourners and Freemasons
formed an inner circle enclosed by the military, citizens, and
servants. The chaplain of the Alexandria Lodge conducted
the burial service from the Book of Common Prayer, and
closed with a brief address, after which the Masonic rites were
fully performed according to the ancient usage. As bearer
of one of the ““lesser lights,” Brother McCormick entered the
tomb, and the unconsumed part of the sperm candle he carried
was suitably inscribed and preserved by him, and in 1867
came into possession of the Grand Lodge of the District. Ac-
cording to the custom of the time, refreshments were served
throughout the day.

The beginning of the nineteenth century found Masonry
languishing on this side of the river, Federal, the lone rep-
resentative, experiencing a period of depression which, how-
ever, soon passed, and when on November 8, 1802, the Grand
Lodge of Maryland, upon the recommendation of No. 15,
granted a charter to Columbia Lodge, No. 35, with a list
of twenty-one members, largely drawn from the employés
of the Treasury Department, an era of comparative activity
set in. The two lodges in 1804 united in the erection on
Eleventh Street, N. W., of the building long known as Union
Lodge Room, a more particular account of which is given in
another chapter, and by this enterprise placed the Fraternity
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on a more substantial and promising footing than it had yet
enjoyed.

Over in the East End, or to use a colloquial phrase, “ on the
Navy Yard,” the Masonic leaven was also working, and in re-
sponse to a petition from ‘‘ sundry Brethren working under
a dispensation in the Navy Yard at Washington,” on May
14, 1805, the Grand Lodge of Maryland issued a warrant to
Washington Naval Lodge, No. 41. The selection of the name
is easily traceable to the location, and perhaps also to the
fact that the war with Tripoli had just ended and the country
was ringing with the daring deeds of Decatur and his fleet.
This latter assumption seems all the more probable because
it was in this city that many of the crews from the fleet were
discharged. Tradition indeed holds that from this source the
lodge obtained large accessions of membership. As a sample
of the warrants issued by the Grand Lodge of Maryland at
that time the one granted to Naval Lodge, which is still pre-
served, properly calls for reproduction here as one of the
valued documents of the Fraternity:

JouN CRAWFORD, M. D.,
G. M.

To All Whom It May Concern.

We the Granp Lobce of the State oF MArYLAND of the most Ancient
and HoNoUraBLE FraTerN1TY Of FREE & AcCEPTED MAsoNs (according to
the oLp iNsTITUTION) duly established, constituted and organized for the
said StaTe Do HEREBY constitute and appoint our trusty and well be-
loved Brethren JomN Davis of Abel, Master, WiLLiaAM SMiTH Senior
WarDEN & Joun CumMmiNs Junior WARDEN of a NEW LODGE to be held in
the Crry of WasHiNgTON in the Districr oF CoLuMmBiA by the name of
“WasHiNGTON Navar Looce” Numser ForTy-oNE, and We do HEREBY
authorize and empower our said trusty and well beloved Brethren to hold
their Lodge at the place hereby appointed and directed at such times as
they shall think necessary and convenient and according to the CoNsTiTU-
110N of MAsoNry and to admit and make Free MasoNs according to the
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most HONOURABLE custom of the ROYAL CRAFT in all NATIONS throughout
the known worLbp and not contrariwise: AND WE do further authorize
and empower our said Brethren and their successors to hear and deter-
mine all and singular matters and things relating to the crAFr within the
Jurisdiction of the said Lodge No. 41. AND LASTLY, WE DO HEREBY
authorize and empower our said trusty and well beloved Brethren JomN
Davis, WiLLiaM SmMiTH, AND JoEN CUMMINS to nominate choose and
INSTALL their successors to whom they shall deliver this wArraNT, and
invest them with all their Powers and Dignities as Freg MAsons and
such successors shall in like manner nominate, choose and Install their
successors, &c. &c. &c. such INSTITUTIONS to be upon or near St. JoHN the
EvANcELIST'S DAy during the continuance of this Lopce for EVER; PROVIDED
always that the said above named Brethren and their successors pay due
respect to the RicET WorsHIPFUL GrAND Lopnge from whom they have
their authority otherwise this WARRANT to be of no FORCE or VIRTUE.

Given under our BANDS and the searL or THE GrAND Lobck at the City
of BALTIMORE this fourteenth day of MAy in the Year of our Lorp, One
thousand eight Hundred and five and of Masonry, Five thousand eight
hundred and five.

Jacos Smarr S. G. W. Pt. James SmyrH J. G W. Pt.

Samri. Vinceént G. Sec.

At the same communication of the Grand Lodge there was
received and read the proceedings of a lodge held in the City
of Washington, termed ‘ The Congressional Lodge,” work-
ing under a dispensation granted by the Rt. W. G. M., author-
izing Bro. Roger Nelson to obtain a charter, and * whereas
no other proceedings of said lodge were transmitted, the
dues not paid nor the dispensation returned,” it was “ resolved
that no further proceedings take place respecting said lodge
and that said lodge be suspended agreeable to the tenor of
said dispensation.”

Events now moved rapidly. Some little temporary dissension
arising between Federal and Naval, the ill-feeling seems to
have been carried to the Grand Lodge, and is alleged to have
been the cause of the suspension by that body of the charter
of Federal, May, 1806, on the charge of having admitted
“irreligious and unworthy characters” to membership. Six
months later, however, the Grand Lodge removed the sus-
pension on the ground that Federal had not been given a
proper hearing and that the information on which the pre-
vious action had been based had been found to be erroneous.
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An appropriation of $55 was voted to the lodge to reimburse
it for expenses incurred in its defence, and this amende hon-
orable clears the record of one of our oldest and most valued
lodges.

Over in Georgetown, also, the long dormant Masonic spirit
was awakening, and at the communication of the Grand Lodge
of Maryland November 6, 1806, a charter was granted to a
number of brethren to hold a lodge to be known as Potomac
Lodge, No. 43. At the first election of officers Valentine
Reintzel, later the first Grand Master of the District, was
chosen Master, and under his administration and through his
activity the lodge obtained a foothold which has enabled it to
weather the storms of more than a century. For the reason
that some of the same names appear in the records of Lodge
No. 9, Columbia Lodge, No. 19, and Potomac, No. 43, and
also because of the fact that fragments of the records of the
first two are in the possession of the last named lodge, the
conclusion is natural and logical that it may be considered to
have been the same lodge with periods of inaction and under
different titles.

While not strictly bearing upon the history of events, yet
possessing no little value as side-lights to bring into stronger
relief the details of the picture of the local Masonic world in
those pioneer days, a few extracts from the by-laws of ““ Po-
tomak” Lodge, No. 43, in force in the year 1807, may prop-
erly find place here.

The curiously worded preamble is a gem and is as follows:

We, the Master, officers and members of Potomac Lodge, No. 43, of
the most ancient and honorable fraternity of Free and accepted Masons,
duly constituted by charter from the Grand Lodge of Maryland, bearing
date the 12th day of November, A. D., 1806, and now in open lodge
assembled at our lodge-room in Georgetown, this day of January,
1807, Annoque Lucis, 5807, in order to pay homage and adoration to the
Grand Architect, whose divine wisdom having resolved to form the world,
and reduced a wild chaos to a fair, regular and permanent system; and
who not only traced out the whole plan of the Universe, but gave life and
being, form and figure, to every part of what before had been a rude
indigested and immovable heap of matter, who said, “ Let there be light,
and there was light,” and the dull, heavy and terrean parts of matter
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which over clouded the expansion, obeyed the Almighty fiat, and began
to range into form and order, and for the purpose of disseminating
brotherly love, relief and charity; and to maintain the principles of
benevolence and religion inculcated by our Order—have made, estab-
lished and confirmed the following articles, as a constitutional code, for
the government of ourselves and our successors.

* * * * * %

Art. 1. Sec. 2—The Lodge shall be opened within thirty minutes of
the stated hour of meeting and in case the Master and Wardens should
be absent the last Past Master (if a member) shall take the chair; and
in case no Past Master should be present the oldest Master Mason shall
preside and after offering a prayer to the Divinity for a blessing on our
labours proceed to business.

Art. II. Sec. 2.—* * * $5 accompanying petition, $15 additional if
accepted. * * * and provided also that where there is only one nega-
tive the petition shall lye over until the regular meeting next following—
and the member who blackballed the candidate shall in the intermediate
time make known his objections with the reason of the same to the
Master and Wardens who shall be competent to judge whether they are
sufficient and if they are adjudged insufficient or if he neglects or refuses
to make them known the candidate may then be received.

Sec. 3—FEach step balloted for as above.

Art. XII, Sec. 3, provides for fining the Master $2, the in-
stalled officers $1, and the members 50 cents for non-
attendance.

And thus in our hasty survey we have passed through the
formative period of organized Masonry in the District of
Columbia and stand upon the threshold of our existence as an
independent jurisdiction.
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CHAPTER 1IV.

INDEPENDENCE.

THE BIRTH OF THE GRAND LODGE—PIONEER OFFICERS—FORM
OF WARRANTS ISSUED TO SUBORDINATE LODGES—
FORMAL NOTIFICATION TO OTHER GRAND LODGES.

“The childhood shows the man as morning shows the day.”
—TENNYSON.

By THE END of the first decade of the nineteenth century
Masonry was in a comparatively flourishing condition in the
District of Columbia, with four lodges, Federal, Columbia,
Potomac, and Naval, north, and two, Alexandria-Washington
and Alexandria-Brooke, south of the river, and while the ag-
gregate membership did not equal that of many of our present
lodges, yet in proportion to the population it was numerically
strong and healthfully active. As -the local fraternity ex-
panded and prospered there rapidly developed the American
spirit of independence, which soon culminated in a successful
movement looking to the formation of a Grand Lodge in and
for the District.

The history of this movement and the birth of the Grand
Lodge, being events of the most vital moment in our local
history, demand as full a report as the scope of this work will
permit, and so, as succinctly as may be without sacrificing any
essential feature, the following account is presented.

The agitation of the subject, covering a period of several
years, resulted in the appointment of delegates by the several
subordinate lodges and the meeting of those delegates in con-
vention in the then Union Lodge Room, on Eleventh Street,
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N. W,, December 11, 1810, to consider the advisability of
“ establishing and organizing a Grand Lodge in and for said
District.” Alexandria-Washington Lodge alone held aloof,
and tho afterward courteously requested to join the union and
as courteously declining, still remained friendly and interested,
while continuing to hold to its former allegiance. At this con-
vention there were present:

Brothers Alexander McCormick, Patrick Magruder, C. Wil-
lis Weaver, Archibald Van Horn, and Charles Glover, of Fed-
eral, No. 15; James Galt, Amos Alexander, and James Carson,
of Alexandria-Brooke, No. 47; Charles Jones, Orlando Cooke,
and Ninian Beall, of Columbia, No. 35; John Davis, of Abel,
Shadrach Davis, Joseph Cassin, James Kemp, and David Dob-
byn, of Washington Naval, No. 41; Henry Pyfer, Daniel
Kurtz, and Lewis P. W. Balch, of Potomac, No. 43.

It having been unanimously resolved that it was right and
expedient to establish and organize a Grand Lodge in and for
the District of Columbia, it was further resolved to notify the
several lodges to appoint deputies to meet in convention Janu-
ary 8, 1811, with full power to form a Grand Lodge and elect
and install Grand Officers.

Pursuant to this plan, the authorized deputies met in Union
Lodge Room, at 3 P. M. on the date mentioned, and, having
resolved that the installed officers of the Grand Lodge should
be a Grand Master, a Deputy Grand Master, Grand Senior
Warden, Grand Junior Warden, Grand Secretary, and Grand
Treasurer, to be elected by ballot (the deputation from each
lodge to have collectively one vote), and that not more than
one of the five first-named officers should be chosen from the
same lodge, proceeded to an election, which resulted as
follows:

Valentine Reintzel, Potomac, No. 43, R. W. G. Master;
John Kinkaid, Brooke, No. 47, R. W. D. G. Master; Alex-
ander McCormick, Federal, No. 15, R. W. Senior G. Warden;
Joseph Cassin, Washington-Naval, No. 41, R. W. Junior G.
Warden; and Charles Jones, Columbia, No. 35, R. W. G.
Secretary.
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The selection of a Grand Treasurer was postponed until the
next meeting, and, after the appointment of a committee to
prepare and submit a constitution for the Grand Lodge of the
District of Columbia, the Secretary was ‘ requested” to for-
ward copies of the proceedings of the convention to the sec-
retaries of the Grand Lodges of Maryland and Virginia, to be
laid before their * respective lodges,” and adjournment was
had until February 11, 1811, on which date, for reasons im-
possible to gather from the meager records, further adjourn-
ment was taken until the following Tuesday.

No further adjournment being deemed necessary, this lat-
ter date, February 19, 1811, saw the convention again in
session and witnessed the birth of the Grand Lodge. Brother
John Kinkaid, having in the interim passed away, Brother
John Richards, of Brooke, No. 47, was duly elected R. W. D.
G. Master, and the position of Grand Treasurer was filled by
the selection of Brother John Davis, of Abel, of Washington-
Naval, No. 41. The Secretary reported that he had, agree-
able to the resolution of January 8, forwarded to the secre-
taries of the Grand Lodges of Maryland and Virginia a copy
of the proceedings, and accompanied the same with an ex-
planatory letter in which he had incorporated the request that
the lodges here be permitted to retain the warrants under
which they were then working.

The Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia then, by
unanimous consent of the deputies present, was opened in
ample form, when the officers-elect, enumerated above, with
the exception of Bro. Chas. Jones, were severally installed and
proclaimed as such according to ancient form.

The roster of officers was increased by the selection of
Brother Daniel Kurtz, of Potomac, as W. S. Grand Deacon;
William O’Neale, of Federal, No. 15, as W. J. Grand Deacon,
and Thomas Summers, of Brooke, No. 47, as Grand T'yler.

The committee on preparation of a constitution not being
ready to report, a committee to prepare a suitable form of
warrant was appointed, and the first meeting of the Grand
Lodge closed.
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Tuesday, March 12, 1811, the Grand Lodge met agreeable
to adjournment, heard the report of the committee on consti-
tution, which, after consideration and adoption in part, was
referred back to said committee for further consideration.
The report of the committee on form of warrants was re-
ceived, considered, and unanimously adopted, and then the
Grand Lodge “closed in harmony.”

These warrants, while following in a general way the form
of the Grand Lodge of Maryland, are our own, and a sample,
that of Federal Lodge, No. 1, is therefore given:

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA.

VALENTINE REINTZEL,
Grand Master.

ALEX’R McCorMICK,
Senior Grand Warden.

JouN RicHARDS,
Deputy Grand Master.

Josepr CaAssIN,
Junior Grand Warden.

To ALL WHOM IT MAY CONCERN :

Know ye that we, the Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia, of the
Ancient and Honourable Fraternity of FREE and ACCEPTED MA-
SONS, duly established, constituted, and organized for the said District,
by and under the authority of a Convention of Deputies from five
Lodges, held at the city of Washington on the nineteenth day of Feb-
ruary, in the year of Masonry five thousand eight hundred and eleven,
do hereby constitute and appoint our trusty and well-beloved brethren,
Nicholas D. Queen, Master; Archibald Van Horn, Senior Warden, and
Patrick Magruder, Junior Warden, of a Lodge to be held in the city of
Washington, in the said District, by the name of Feperar Lobce number
one, late Federal Lodge number fifteen, working under the authority
from the Grand Lodge of Maryland.

AND WE do hereby authorize and empower our said trusty’and beloved
brethren, and their successors, duly elected and installed, to hold their
Lodge at the place aforesaid at such times as they may deem necessary
and convenient, and to admit and make Free MasoNs according to the
Most Ancient and Honorable custom of the Crarr.
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AND WE do further authorize and empower said brethren and their suc-
cessors to hear and determine, all and singular, such matters and things
relating to the Craft within the jurisdiction of their said Lodge, with the
assistance of the members thereof.

AND LAsTLY WE do further authorize and empower our said truly and
well-beloved brethren to install their successors, being first duly elected
and chosen, to whom they shall deliver this warrant and invest them with
all their powers and dignities as Free Masons, and their successors shall
in like manner install their successors, &c., &c., &c., such installation to
be on or near SAINT JoEHN THE EvaNcELIST's day, during the continuance
of this Grand Lodge. ProvibeEp ALwAys, That the said above named
brethren and their successors pay due respect to THIS RicHT WoORSHIPFUL
Granp Lopce and the ordinances thereof; otherwise this warrant to be
void and of no effect.

GIvEN in oPEN GRAND LoDGE, under the hands of our Right Worshipful
Grand Officers and the Seal of our GRaNDp LongGk, at the City of Washing-
ton, this nineteenth day of February, Anno Domini one thousand eight
hundred and eleven, and of MASONRY five thousand eight hundred and
eleven.

CHAs. JoNEs,
Secretary.

Warrants were issued as follows: To Federal, as No. 1;
Columbia, as No. 2; Brooke, as No. 3; Naval, as No. 4, and
Potomac, as No. 5, all bearing date of February 19, 1811.

At the next meeting, occurring April 9, 1811, the following
resolutions were adopted :

Resolved, That the Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia recom-
mend to the different lodges under its jurisdiction the appointment of
delegates to meet the Grand Lodges of Maryland and Virginia at their
next grand convention, and that they pay their respective dues to said
Grand Lodges, and do all other necessary acts and things in relation to
obtaining a discharge therefrom.

Resolved, That a committee of three be appointed for the purpose of
informing the R. W. Grand Lodges of Maryland and Virginia that we
have organized and established a Grand Lodge for the District of Colum-
bia, giving our reasons therefor, and that they request their concurrence
therein.

Tuesday, May 21, 1811, the Grand Lodge again met and
completed the roster of officers by the election of the follow-
ing: Andrew T. McCormick, Grand Chaplain; Thomas Ar-
buckle, S. Grand Deacon; Thomas Holliday, Grand Deacon;
Nicholas L. Queen, Grand Marshal; Francis Clark, Grand
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Steward; Ninian Beall, Grand Sword Bearer; John McGill,
Grand Pursuivant, and Barney Parsons, Grand Tyler, the
formerly-elected Grand Tyler, Brother Thomas Summers,
having resigned.

This meeting was notable, in the light of the history of sub-
sequent years, in giving birth to the Committee on Corre-
spondence, at that time designated as the “ Committee of Com-
munication and Correspondence,” with the limited duty of
sending out extracts of our proceedings to sister jurisdictions.
The important addition of collating and publishing extracts
from the proceedings of other jurisdictions, which has proved
of such inestimable value, came later.

At the next meeting of the Grand Lodge, July 9, 1811, the
Constitution was finally adopted, 100 copies ordered printed,
and the committee appointed for that purpose reported that
they had prepared and transmitted an address to the Grand
Lodges of Maryland and Virginia. While unmistakably re-
calling the Declaration of Independence and couched in some-
what stilted phrase, this address is a model of the writing of -
the period, and certainly a Masonic paper of absorbing in-
terest. We quote it in full:

, R. W. Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of
ResPECTED Sir AND BROTHER:

When it becomes necessary that a separation should take place with
those who have long been united in the tender ties of mutual harmony
and intercourse a sense of gratitude and esteem should impel those who
desire that separation freely to declare the reasons by which they are
actuated. Under this impression we, in behalf of the Grand Lodge of
the District of Columbia, beg leave to state the reasons which influenced
the lodges in this District in the measure by them taken.

The right and expediency of establishing a Grand Lodge in this District
had for a considerable time engaged the attention of the most experienced
Masons of this place. Not willing, however, to confide implicitly in their
own judgments in a matter of so much importance, experienced Masons
from various parts of the United States were consulted, from the de-
cisive nature of whose opinion the practicability of the measure appeared
manifest. And at a meeting in convention of deputies from five lodges,
after mature consideration, the right and expediency was unanimously de-
clared; and afterward, on the 19th day of February, 1811, the Grand
Lodge of the District of Columbia was organized and opened in due form,
with full appellant and corrective powers, which, under the superintending
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care and direction of the Supreme Architect, will promote the interests
of the craft and extend the empire of Masonry. The propriety of the
measure taken was confirmed by a reference to historic facts. In England
Masonry flourished but partially until the organization of the Grand
Lodge at York, from which time Masonry, literature, arts, and sciences
flourished. The same fruitful source of intelligence extending its benign
influence across the Atlantic animated our brethren of the Eastern States,
who organized Grand Lodges previous to our Revolution, under authority
of charters granted from some one of the Grand Lodges in Great Britain,
after which they at once saw the impropriety of working under authority
derived from a country having different laws, government, and interests
from their own, and accordingly gave up the authority under which they
had before acted. There then being no head to resort to, the subordinate
lodges of several States, by deputies appointed for that purpose, organized
Grand Lodges. It is admitted that necessity urged the adoption of this
measure, and that the principle was then acknowledged, and has never
since been disputed, and that the lodges of each State were entitled to
equal privileges. This District being composed of parts of two States,
and separated from them in the same degree as one State is from another,
was a circumstance that received considerable weight, in addition to which
the desire of uniting and harmonizing the citizens of a district thus
situated—the expenses and dues retained among us, and the facility of
decision in cases within the jurisdiction of a Grand Lodge, were circum-
stances that received the consideration due to their importance. Also,
this being the seat of government, it was supposed the most proper place
to rear the standard of Masonry, that the enlightened and distinguished
men of our country may meet and unite in one general system the several
Grand Lodges of the United States.

The lodges here have been directed to return the warrants under which
they lately worked to the authority from whom they received them, if
required, and to settle their accounts. This will be attended to without
delay, and experience leads us to believe that when the subject of our
proceedings shall be taken into consideration our motives and conduct
will receive the sanction of your approbation.

We cannot on this occasion withdraw from you without experiencing
those feelings of regret which flow from a lively recollection of favors
bestowed on us for a series of years, and expressing that ardent anxiety
for your prosperity which will ever animate our hearts. The sensibility
of our feelings is, however, somewhat assuaged with the hope that the
strong claim of love will forever be preserved bright between us, and
that all our designs and all our exertions will tend to promote the general
good.

We are, etc.

(Signed) AMOS ALEXANDER,
CHas. GLOVER,
Committee.

City of Washington, May, 1811.
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It will be observed that the committee could not resist the
temptation to deftly suggest the iridescent dream of a General
Grand Lodge, a subject already claiming the attention of the
Fraternity and rapidly gathering enthusiastic exponents.

At the same meeting the following resolution from the
Grand Lodge of Maryland was read:

Resolved, That the several lodges composing the Grand Lodge of the
the District of Columbia, and heretofore working under the authority of
this Grand Lodge, be permitted, according to their desire, to retain their
warrants; and that, upon the several lodges paying all their dues up to
the time of this grand communication, except initiation fees from the
time of their formation of said Grand Lodge, they be recognized as a
Grand Lodge, and admitted into correspondence accordingly.

(Signed) J. LEwis WaMPLER,

Grand Secretary.
6th May, A. L. 5811.

This action completed the formal withdrawal from the
mother Grand Lodge, a separation amicably effected, and
which has never for a moment interfered with the closest and
most fraternal connection between the two jurisdictions.

While the usual acknowledgments and good wishes were
received from the Grand Lodges of New York, New Jersey,
Maryland, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Ohio,
Kansas, Tennessee, and England, Pennsylvania alone, on the
ground that the mere sending of the proceedings covering the
formation of a Grand Lodge did not constitute official notifica-
tion, held aloof, and it was not until the Grand Lodge of the
District had entered into lengthy explanations and disclaimed
any intention of being disrespectful, and more than a decade
had elapsed, that full fraternal correspondence was established
between the jurisdictions.

Thus came into being the Grand Lodge of the District of
Columbia.
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CHAPTER V.

IN THE EARLY DAYS.

UNION LODGE, NO. 6, AND LEBANON LODGE, NO. 7—THE RISE
AND FALL OF THE GENERAL GRAND LODGE IDEA—
QUAINT CONSTITUTIONAL REGULATIONS—NOTES.

“A few strong instincts and a few plain rules.”—W ADSWORTH.

THE FIRST LODGE to receive its charter from the new Grand
Lodge was warranted July 9, 1811, as Union Lodge, No. 6, a
lodge formed in the East End, in the territory and upon the
recommendation of Naval Lodge, No. 4, and which for many
years sustained a most intimate and unique association with
the latter body, a detailed account of which may be found in
Chapter XV. After a precarious existence of a little over
twenty years it surrendered its charter in 1835.

The same year witnessed the birth of Lebanon Lodge, No.
7, which was chartered October 8, 1811, in response to a
petition recommended by Federal Lodge, No. 1, and signed
by eight brethren, including William Hewitt, subsequently
Grand Master.* This Lodge rapidly forged to the front in
point of membership, and in 1821 led all its sister lodges with
a roster of thirty-nine names. Lebanon rounds out its first
century of continuous activity in the year of this publication.

In the first year of its existence the subject of the formation
of a General Grand Lodge came up in the newly-formed grand
body. This scheme had been agitated for many years, the
Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania, as early as 1780, having con-
sidered the propriety of appointing a General Grand Master,

* It is worthy of note, too, that the first initiate of the new Lodge, Bro. Roger C. Weight-
man, also served the jurisdiction as Grand Master in later years.
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and having subsequently formally elected General George
Washington to that position and invited the Grand Lodges of
Virginia and Massachusetts to join the movement; but, the
latter bodies holding aloof, the election was not consummated
and the matter dropped. In the succeeding years, however, it
persisted in coming to the front, and, inasmuch as this juris-
diction in the earlier years took a leading part in the various
movements in this direction, it is deemed a matter of sufficient
local as well as general Masonic interest to warrant a concise
résumé of what has been referred to in the preceding chapter
as an “iridescent dream,” and, that the reader who is inter-
ested in the subject may have placed before him at once the
whole story as it affects the District, we digress from chrono-
logical order to pursue it to the end.

At the meeting held October 8, 1811, a resolution was passed
to appoint delegates to meet similar representatives from other
Grand Lodges, with a view of meeting in grand convention in
the City of Washington Monday, January 4, 1812, or such
other date as might be agreed on, and under this authoriza-
tion delegates were appointed, but, sufficient interest not being
taken by the other jurisdictions in the proposition, the con-
vention was not held, and the matter lay dormant for a decade.

In the issue of the National Intelligencer of March 9, 1822,
appeared the following notice:

Masonic Norice—~Those members of Congress who belong to the
Masonic Fraternity, and those visitors of the city who are or have been
members of any State Grand Lodge, are respectfully invited to attend
a meeting to be held in the Senate Chamber, this evening, at 7 o’clock, to
take into consideration matters of general interest to the Masonic insti-
tution.

Pursuant to this notice a notable assembly of Members of
Congress and other prominent Masons assembled in the Sen-
ate Chamber (the present Supreme Court Room) at the Capi-
tol on the evening referred to. Bro. Thomas R. Ross, a mem-
ber of Congress from the State of Ohio, was elected Chair-
man, and Bro. William Darlington, Secretary. This conven-
tion, unique and unprecedented in history, when the public
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character and prominence of the men engaged, the official
character of the place, and the object sought after are con-
sidered, was an event of peculiar Masonic importance and in-
terest, both local and general, and deserves far more space
than may here be given, yet cannot be passed without a brief
report.

After lengthy debate on the general subject, in which the
individual views of the speakers were advanced, the following
resolutions, offered by Bro. Henry Clay, of Kentucky, were
unanimously adopted:

Resolved, That, in the opinion of this meeting, it is expedient, for the
general interests of Freemasonry, to constitute a General Grand Lodge
of the United States.

Resolved, That it be proposed to the several Grand Lodges in the
United States to take the subject into their serious considerations, at
their next annual communication, and that, if they approve of the forma-
tion of a General Grand Lodge, it be recommended to them to appoint
one or more delegates, to assemble in the city of Washington, on the
second Monday of February next, to agree on the organization of such
Grand Lodge.

Resolved, That if two-thirds of the Grand Lodges within the United
States concur in the propriety of establishing a General Grand Lodge it
be recommended to them to instruct their representatives to proceed to
the formation of a constitution of a General Grand Lodge, to be subse-
quently submitted to the several Grand Lodges in the Union, for their
ratification, and which, being ratified by a majority of them, shall be
considered as thenceforth binding on all the Grand Lodges assenting
thereto.

Resolyved, That the Most Worshipful John Marshall, of Virginia; Henry
Clay, of Kentucky; William H. Winder, of Maryland; William S, Cardell,
of New York; Joel Abbott, of Georgia; John Holmes, of Maine; Henry
Baldwin, of Pennsylvania; John H. Eaton, of Tennessee; William W.
Seaton, of Washington; Christopher Rankin, of Mississippi; Thomas R.
Ross, of Ohio; H. G. Burton, of North Carolina, and the Rev. Thaddeus
Mason Harris, D. D, of Massachusetts, be, and they hereby are, ap-
pointed a committee to open a correspondence with the respective Grand
Lodges within the United States, and to take such measures therein as
they may deem expedient to carry the aforesaid resolutions into effect.

The committee referred to, in complying with these reso-
lutions, issued a circular letter of some length setting out the
growing need of a general governing body and the advantages
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to be expected from its establishment. Space permits quoting
only one paragraph, which appears to contain the conclusion
of the whole matter. It reads:

There are two points which at once present themselves in connection
with the idea of establishing a General Grand Lodge of the United States.
The first is to acquire, in a correspondence with foreign nations, an
elevated stand for the Masonry of this country; to unite with them in
maintaining its general principles in their purity; and, secondly, to pre-
serve, between our own States that uniformity in work, and that active
interchange of good offices, which would be difficult, if not impossible,
by other means.

Inaugurated under such unusual and brilliant auspices, this
movement might be supposed to have acquired sufficient initial
momentum to carry it to some equally brilliant result, but
truth demands the statement that it shared the fate of pre-
vious efforts.

The several jurisdictions failed to warm to the subject.
Pennsylvania, while disagreeing with the General Grand
Lodge proposition, proposed a convention for the purpose of
consulting upon the interests of the Order, to be held in Phila-
delphia, or other suitable place, June 24, 1823. Kentucky fol-
lowed, by disagreeing with the General Grand Lodge idea and
also the substitute offered by Pennsylvania, and, in the face of
these discouraging actions, the local Grand Lodge at its meet-
ing in November, 1822, proposed, in the form of a resolution,
the establishment of a General Grand Lodge, to meet annually
at the seat of government, and appointed delegates to repre-
sent it at a meeting to be called at Washington the second
Monday of February, 1823.

That this meeting did not take place is evidenced by the fact
that at the communication of May 6, 1823, a resolution was
passed that an address on the subject be prepared and trans-
mitted to the sister grand lodges calling their renewed atten-
tion to the matter of a General Grand Lodge, and asking their
co-operation in a convention for that purpose to be held in this
city on the third Wednesday of February, 1824.

This attempt proving equally abortive, twenty years elapsed
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before any further concerted action was undertaken, which
may in part be accounted for by the fact that this was the
period embracing the remarkable anti-Masonic wave of senti-
ment which for a few years swept the country.

On May 8, 1843, however, a National Masonic Convention
was held in Baltimore, at which fifteen grand lodges, includ-
ing our own, were represented, and while the convention was
ostensibly in the interest of uniformity of work other matters
were taken up, among which was a proposition to form a Na-
tional Masonic Convention—a modification of the General
Grand Lodge idea, which preserved to the several grand
lodges their independence—and suggesting Winchester, Va,,
as the next meeting place.

With this proposition our local body fell in, and appointed
delegates to the Winchester convention, which was subse-
quently scheduled to meet May 11, 1846, upon which date a
number of delegates assembled in that city, but, lacking a
quorum, transacted no business.

The next movement originated with the Grand Lodge of
Maryland, which, in issuing a call for a convention to be held
in Baltimore in September, 1847, intimated that it was pre-
pared to submit a constitution for adoption by the General
Grand Lodge when formed.

The Grand Lodge of the District, always complaisant as
well as progressive, was represented at this convention, which
adopted an agreement as to the organization and constitution
of the proposed General Grand Lodge, to become effective
after sixteen grand lodges had agreed to the same. This at-
tempt, so carefully conceived and carried out, gave promise of
success, but was killed by the failure of a majority of the juris-
dictions to ratify the constitution, our own Grand Lodge tak-
ing the ground that while a “ General Grand Lodge was de-
sirable, the Baltimore constitution needed modification to be
acceptable.”

In the year 1849 several propositions were advanced in the
Grand Lodge looking to the formation of a supreme Grand
Lodge, and similar movements were started in Maryland and
Rhode Island, but without sustained effort or result.
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In 1853 the District was represented in a convention pro-
posed by Maine and held at Lexington, Ky., at which it was
held to be inexpedient to form a General Grand Lodge, but
proposed a National Confederation for specific objects, and
called upon the Grand Lodge to ratify this proposition, which
would lay all matter of dispute before the Confederation, to
be settled by a two-thirds vote; and for the purpose of further
maturing the plans a later convention was held in January,
1855, and articles of confederation drawn up, the Grand
Lodge of the District, by resolution, becoming party to the
same. This proposition, eliminating as it did the vitally ob-
jectionable feature of the General Grand Lodge idea—that of
loss of independence—seemed destined to succeed, but, like its
predecessors, failed of ratification by the requisite number.

Maine again, in 1857, initiated a movement for a General
Grand Lodge, which received the sanction of the local grand
body but collapsed at the very outset.

A modification of the same general scheme was proposed in
1859, in a convention held in Chicago, at which the late P. G.
M. B. B. French was a delegate as proxy for the then Grand
Master, George C. Whiting, for the purpose of forming a so-
called North American Masonic Congress; but, the proposi-
tion being deemed unsatisfactory, it failed to gain adequate
support.

The sentiment against a General Grand Lodge was now
crystalizing.

The lesson of the years was being learned by the thinkers
of the Fraternity, and the absolute futility of any attempt to
form a supreme governing body for the various jurisdictions
became so strongly impressed upon them that, while several
weak attempts have since been made to revive the idea, none
have been of sufficient strength and dignity to warrant de-
tailed description.

The experience which has been the outgrowth of these
years of struggle has, however, been valuable as a clearer,
more definite understanding of the powers and prerogatives
of each Grand Lodge within its own jurisdiction has been
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reached, a wholesome respect for the rights of sister Grand
Lodges gained, and a tacit though unwritten agreement of
mutual aid and correspondence attained which makes for
practical union and confederation without the sacrifice of in-
dividuality.

Returning from this digression to the contemplation of con-
ditions in our infant Grand Lodge, we find that as early as
January 14, 1812, the necessity for drastic action to insure at-
tendance at the meetings of the Grand Lodge led to the adop-
tion of the following amendments to the Constitution:

“Fach installed Grand Officer who shall not attend the
Grand Lodge at each regular or extra meeting, being duly
notified thereof, shall pay a fine of five dollars, unless the
Lodge may consider the excuse, if any, reasonable.

“ Each Lodge failing to be represented by their officers, or
to send a deputation duly authorized at each meeting of the
Grand Lodge, shall pay a fine of five dollars, provided the
Lodge or Master or Wardens thereof, shall be duly notified
of such meeting, unless satisfactory excuse shall be given to
the Grand Lodge.

“ The Lodge to be opened within half an hour after the time
appointed in the constitution or notification, in case of an
extra meeting, or as soon thereafter as a sufficient representa-
tion may appear, and such fines shall be assessed at large on
the proceedings.”

As the representatives were elected as such, and were not,
as now, the first three officers, it will be understood that in
view of the difficulties of communication, the long distances,
and the execrable roads, the billet was not a much sought after
one. In this connection it is within the memory of a few of
the brethren yet with us with whom the author has conversed,
that the usual method of reaching the Grand Lodge by the
delegates from the outlying lodges was on horseback.

In the first years the Tyler was also the Steward of the
Grand Lodge, and that officer was known as the Steward and
Tyler, but in 1820 the offices were divorced and a Steward ap-
pointed. In 1827, however, the two offices were again united,
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and while a list of jewels in 1829 shows two Stewards’ and
one Tyler's jewel, yet the offices continued as one for a
number of years, the supplementary title of Steward, how-
ever, being lost. In 1864 the appointment of two Stewards
was authorized, and the official family as we have it today
completed.

As a matter of interest, probably unknown to the later gen-
eration of Masons, may be cited the fact that upon the forma-
tion of the local Grand Lodge, and for many years thereafter,
the masters-elect of the subordinate lodges, and not infre-
quently the wardens, were installed in that body in a lodge
opened in the Past Master’s degree. The tendency of the
period seemed to be to invest this ceremony with all the
dignity and solemnity which properly belongs to it, and
which we of the latter days are, perhaps, in our haste, not
giving it.

That the matter of proper refreshment for the members of
the Grand Lodge at the regular and special meetings was of
considerable importance at this time and for a number of
years thereafter has documentary confirmation in a sheaf of
receipted Tyler’s bills, bearing dates in 1811-14, now on the
author’s desk, and these are so unique, not to say startling,
from our present-day viewpoint, that the temptation is strong
to give them place here; but as this is inadvisable, we repro-
duce one as a fair sample, and trust to the good sense of the
reader in examining it to make proper allowance for the dif-
ferent standards of that day.

As of course is well known, no uniform blanks for petitions
were in use, and as a consequence there are preserved some re-
markable efforts in this direction. The two following will
serve to illustrate this:

WasHINGTON 2nd Jan. 1809.

The petition of Brother respectfully sheweth that he is
a Master Mason and formerly belonged to Philadelphia Lodge, No. 72,
and now with the consent of the Bretherin of Federal Lodge, No. 15,

wisheth to become a member thereoff. Should your petitioner be so
happy as to obtain it he will as in duty Bound Ever pray.

4
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GreENLEAF's PoiNT, WasHINgTON CIry, April 24, 1815.
Siz—According to the Directions you give me I send you this line and
in hoaps that you will find the character of me that will be suitable to
the purpose that I have mentionned to you and by appling to Lieut. Baden
or Mr. Rodgers and Mr. Wise you will find. Sir you will peticion for
me after you are satisfied of my conduct and by doeing soe you will
oblidge yours Intended associate.

The present secrecy surrounding the condition of the ballot
does not seem to have obtained in the early days, as we note
an instance in 1815 in one of the lodges where the ballot being
passed and “8 black balls appearing, he was of course re-
jected;” and about the same period it was announced after the
ballot that the applicant had been * unanimously rejected.”

Before leaving these interesting glimpses of the time, it is
perhaps worthy of note that non-payment of dues was fre-
quently punished by expulsion from all the rights and privi-
leges of Masonry ; that subordinate lodges sometimes officiated
at the laying of cornerstones, and that it was the custom at
the opening of each meeting to have read “the charge and
prayer.”
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CHAPTER VI

THE FIRST DECADE.

WAR OF 1812-—ANNUAIL VISITATIONS INAUGURATED—FRA-
TERNAL CORRESPONDENCE—PUBLIC APPEARANCES
—DISCIPLINE—THE FIRST CONSTITUTION.

“ And Statesmen at her councils met
Who knew the Seasons.”—TENNYSON.

T'HE FIRST DECADE of the existence of the Grand Lodge
shows a slight falling off in point of numbers, for while the
two new lodges referred to in the preceding chapter were
formed within that period they were drawn almost entirely
from the other lodges, and altho for the first few years the
aggregate membership can only be deduced approximately
from fragmentary returns, yet a reasonably accurate compu-
tation shows about 250 members in 1814, while the complete
returns for 1821 show only a total of 219.

It is not the province of the historian to theorize on the
facts presented, for the intelligent reader will draw his own
conclusions, yet in seeking an explanation of this apparently
retrograde movement attention should be given to the fact
that instead of separate units owing allegiance to distant
grand bodies the lodges were now welded together with com-
mon interests, and responsible to a common authority at their
very doors, and this condition might well be supposed to re-
sult in the exercise of more especial care in the selection of
material and the weeding out of objectionable timber.

At the communication of the Grand Lodge of July 14, 1812,
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- which, in the quaint phraseology of the day, “ closed in ample
form and great harmony,” a Committee on Correspondence
was appointed, which subsequently at each annual communi-
cation until November 6, 1821, reported that they found noth-
ing worth the attention of the Grand Lodge, but on the latter
date suggested the printing of certain extracts culled from the
proceedings of other grand lodges in our own annual publi-
cation. The systematic review of the proceedings of our
sister grand lodges did not, however, approach its present
form until 1849, when quite an exhaustive report was sub-
mitted, signed by Brother Charles S. Frailey, Grand Master,
1855—6, and Brother Thomas Miller, since which time this
valuable and instructive feature of the annual reports has been
handled by a succession of eminent local Masonic writers,
among whom it involves no invidious comparison to mentien
especially our late Brother, Grand Secretary Wm. R. Single-
ton, whose work along that line was for many years of na-
tional reputation, and P. G. M. George W. Baird, the present
chairman, a profound student of Masonry, whose work is of
the most scholarly character. While a scarcity of funds has
from time to time necessitated limiting the space allotted to
these unselfish toilers, yet ample recognition of their worth has
never been withheld, and the cumulative result of the last half
century constitutes a liberal education in Masonic jurispru-
dence to him who cares to take advantage of the opportunity
offered.

The War of 1812, while bringing many exciting and terri-
fying days to the inhabitants of Washington, especially at the
time of the occupation of the city by the British, does not
seem to have affected the Fraternity, the destructive work of
the troops being confined to the public buildings, private prop-
erty, in the main, being respected. In the defense of the
Capital it is a matter of record that many members of the
Fraternity took part either in the force under Commodore
Barney or in the militia called out to aid in repelling the in-
vading army. A little later we find among the visitors to the
various lodges English and Irish brethren whom it is reason-
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able to suppose wore the uniform of the enemy. Once over
the threshold of the lodge, however, they met as brethren and
not as foes, and who can estimate the vast influence for good
that sprang, then as now, from this practical application of
the spirit of universal brotherhood?

Systematic correspondence with other jurisdictions was in-
augurated by order of the Grand Lodge in 1813, and the year
following the proceedings were printed and distributed for the
first time, the pamphlet being 214 X5 inches and the bill $10.

In 18183, also, a resolution was passed to visit the subordi-
nate lodges once a year, and while there is no record of com-
pliance with the order until 1818, yet the former date marks
the inauguration of a custom peculiar to the District of Co-
lumbia, which has been observed with comparatively few
omissions to the present time. From a mere perfunctory busi-
ness inspection, at which not infrequently several lodges, and
on at least one occasion, in 1849, as many as five lodges,
would meet in joint session for that purpose, the visitations
were later, in the administration of Grand Master Donaldson,
made entertaining and instructive by the introduction of com-
petent lecturers with suitable topics, and in the earlier days of
this innovation the speakers were selected by the Grand Mas-
ter, who only in comparatively recent years has given over this
duty to the subordinate lodges. The presence of the entire
official line of the Grand Lodge at each of the subordinate
lodges once a year is, as has been said, only possible in a juris-
diction as compact and limited as this, and is a privilege as
unique as it is agreeable and educational.

The year 1813 was one of initiative, for, in addition to the
matters above mentioned, a set of jewels was obtained for the
grand officers for the first time. According to the custom of
the period, the jewels proper were subordinated to the collars,
from which they were pendant, the latter being of huge size
to our modern local eyes, and in marked contrast to the jewels
of the present, with their modest ribbons clasping the neck.
The evolution was the work o‘f a century, and has been along
a line practically untouched by many other jurisdictions, the
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more conservative still holding tenaciously to the elaborate
collar.

At the communication of January 10, 1815, it was decided
to recognize the services of the Grand Secretary by the pay-
ment of a salary, and this was fixed at $20. This sum was
increased and decreased at various times until the Grand
Lodge, entering upon an era of comparative prosperity, in the
middle of the century, in 1850 increased it to $100, and in
1872 to $300, from which time its growth was steady until
the present salary of $1,200 was reached, but has hardly kept
pace with the immense increase of the business of the office,
which now requires the undivided time and attention of the
Grand Secretary. This position, for so many years held by
that noted Masonic scholar and writer, the late Brother Wm.
R. Singleton, has now been filled for more than ten years by
Brother Arvine W. Johnston, who has won an enviable repu-
tation by the acceptable transaction of the arduous duties of
his office.

The first public appearance of the new Grand Lodge took
place September 14, 1815, when the cornerstone of St. John’s
Episcopal Church, Sixteenth and H Streets, N. W., was laid
according to ancient Masonic usage, R. W. Grand Master
Davidson presiding.

During this decade there was also laid the cornerstones of
a building for Brooke Lodge, No. 2, at Alexandria, Va., July
8, 1818; of the Second Presbyterian Church, in Georgetown,
July 29, 1820, and of the new City Hall, August 22, 1820, the
latter being attended with especial ceremony and display and
justifying the following brief description:

A procession according to the form usual on such occasions
was formed at Union Lodge Room and moved under the
command of three grand marshals to Strother’s Hall, where,
according to the arrangements previously made, it was joined
by the clerks of the several judicial tribunals of the District
of Columbia, the Clerk of the Supreme Court of the United
States, the Marshal of the District of Columbia and his
deputies, the Attorney of the United States for the District
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of Columbia, Ambassadors from foreign governments and
their secretaries, Commissioners of the public buildings, Secre-
taries and other heads of Departments of the Government of
the United States, President of the United States, Master
Builders and Principal Architect of the work, officers of the
Corporation of the City of Washington, Mayors of the towns
of Georgetown and Alexandria, ex-Mayors of Washington,
the Boards of Aldermen and Common Council of the City of
Washington, officers civil, military, and naval, of the United
States, and the citizens of the District of Columbia and the
adjoining country generally, and strangers then within the
City of Washington. The procession thus formed, augmented
by a large concourse of spectators, proceeded to the site, where
M. W. Grand Master William Hewitt made an address and
after an invocation proceeded to lay the cornerstone with the
customary ceremonies, upon the conclusion of which Brother
John Law delivered the oration of the occasion.

The first celebration of St. John's day occurred December
27, 1817, on which occasion the Grand Lodge, escorted by the
several subordinate lodges and led by a brass band, formed a
procession and proceeded to the Protestant Episcopal Church
near the Navy Yard and listened to an appropriate discourse
by the Rev. Bro. Andrew T. McCormick. It may be said in
passing that this method of observing the day was for a num-
ber of years a popular-one, and invariably included a band
and substantial refreshments, the latter feature, indeed, being
considered of such paramount importance that when, in a
spasm of economy in 1821, the Grand Lodge resolved that not
more than $20 be expended for refreshments at one time, the
provision was inserted that this would not apply to St. John’s
day. A moment’s reflection makes this understandable, for
the difficulties of travel from one part of the city to another
was such that these affairs were practically all-day matters,
and it was not only desirable but necessary that food and
drink be provided.

In striking contrast with the point of view of the present, is
the fact that on October 19, 1819, a resolution was passed by
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the Grand Lodge to petition Congress to authorize a lottery to
raise $50,000 for the purpose of erecting a Masonic Hall in
this city, a favorite method of the time for raising funds for
such purposes. No action, however, was taken under the
resolution.

The matter of the proper designation of the various officers
having been under discussion it was, in 1820, ordered that the
appellation of the grand officers be Most Worshipful Grand
Master, Right Worshipful Deputy Grand Master, and Right
Worshipful Grand Wardens, Secretary, and Treasurer, re-
spectively, while the Masters of the subordinate lodges should
be styled Right Worshipful and the Wardens Worshipful.
These titles remain unchanged as far as the grand officers
are concerned, but have long since been modified in the sub-
ordinate bodies, where the simple Worshipful Master and
Wardens alone are used.

A standing resolution, which provoked a great deal of dis-
cussion in the Grand Lodge and was finally repealed after
some years’ operation, provided that “ it shall be the duty of
the lodges working under the jurisdiction of this Grand Lodge
to advertise all expulsions for unmasonic conduct in one or
more newspapers published in the District of Columbia after
such expulsion shall have been sanctioned by the Grand
Lodge.”

The matter of disciplining the brethren for unmasonic con-
duct these days was not neglected, and if in reading over some
of the charges and specifications we are in turn shocked and
amused, we must, for a proper appreciation of the situation,
consider the radical difference between the social conditions
of that day and this. Thus fortified we can read with some
degree of equanimity of the trial and suspension of Brother
, in 1815, on the following charge and specification:
“ Violation of his obligation by entering into and breaking
the cellar of my house in the absence of myself and family,
and taking out for his own use a quantity of liquor, for which
he has never made or offered any explanation or acknowledg-
ment * * *”
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At a later date, in one of the lodges we find this quaintly-
worded entry:  Brother exhibited the following
charge against Brother : ‘Brethren, I hereby charge
Brother with unmasonic conduct, inasmuch as he
threatened to cut my throat. Yours, respectfully,

Y9

’

Again we read as one of the specifications against a brother
that he “ has been seen by a member of this lodge riding a bull
about the streets and acting in an unmasonic manner. * * *”

In another place is shown the charge against a member of
the Fraternity, “ that he threatened to cowskin a brother.”

Happily many of the differences were settled “out of
court,” it frequently being found only necessary to bring about
mutual explanations to effect harmony; but it is indicative of
their stern sense of duty that our early predecessors never
shirked that most unpleasant of Masonic duties, the trial.

It is a matter of regret that altho 100 copies of the first
constitution of the Grand Lodge were printed in 1812, the
most diligent search has failed to bring one to light, and, in-
teresting as that document in its entirety would have been,
we must perforce be satisfied to judge of it by the few amend-
ments which are of record and which have already been
quoted, together with the constitution of 1820, which, being
the first available instrument of its kind and possessing the
merit of brevity, is quoted in full.

CONSTITUTION.

Article 1. The Grand Lodge shall meet in the city of Washington on the
first Tuesday in every November and May, at 10 o'clock a. m.

Art. 2. The installed officers of the Grand Lodge shall be elected by
ballot at the meeting in November, after the business of the Grand Lodge
shall have been acted on and disposed of. The officers elected shall be
declared as elected for their respective offices from St. John, the Evan-
gelist's Day, inclusive, for one year, or until their successors are elected
and installed; and they shall be accordingly so installed and invested as
the Lodge may determine, at any time on or before St. John’s Day next
succeeding the election.

If any officer-elect be absent at the General Installation, the Lodge, or
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the Grand Master, shall appoint some suitable brother to install him at
some other time and place soon after.

No person shall be declared elected to office who hath not received a
majority of all the votes given in on the last ballot.

And in case of the death, removal, resignation, or inability to serve, of
any of the officers so elected, the vacancy shall be filled with the least
possible delay for the remainder of the term. Notice of resignations to
be given at a meeting previous to being acted on, and may be accepted
or rejected by the Lodge.

Art. 3. The officers to be elected according to the above articles, are—

1. The Most Worshipful Grand Master.

2. The Right Worshipful Deputy Grand Master.

3. The Worshipful Senior Grand Warden.

4. The Worshipful Junior Grand Warden.

5. The Worshipful Grand Secretary.

6. The Worshipful Grand Treasurer.

The officers to be chosen by ballot or otherwise as the members present
may agree on, are—

7. Grand Chaplain.

8..Grand Senior Deacon.

9. Grand Junior Deacon.

10. Grand Marshal.

11. Grand Steward.

12. Grand Sword Bearer.

13. Grand Pursuivant.

14. Grand Tyler.

And shall each (except the Tyler) be entitled to a vote on all questions.

Art. 4. Each installed Grand Officer who shall not attend the Grand
Lodge at each regular or extra meeting, being duly notified thereof, shall
pay a fine of five dollars, unless the Lodge shall consider the excuse, if
any, reasonable.

Art. 5. The honorary members of the Grand Lodge are, Past Installed
Grand Officers, being members of a lodge, the Master and Wardens of the
lodges working under this jurisdiction.

Every Past Master who hath served six months in the chair, being a
member of a lodge.

Art. 6. Every lodge, working under the jurisdiction of this Grand
Lodge, shall be represented at every meeting of this Lodge by their
deputy or deputies, not exceeding five, who shall be Past Master Masons;
and each lodge, by their deputy or deputies, shall have a vote on all ques-
tions before the Grand Lodge.

Art. 7. Each lodge failing to be represented by their officers, or to send
a deputation duly authorized at each meeting of the Grand Lodge, shall
pay a fine of five dollars, unless satisfactory excuse shall be given to the
Grand Lodge: Provided, The lodge, or Master or Wardens thereof, shall
be duly notified of such meeting.

Art. 8. The Master and Wardens of a lodge shall be the legal repre-



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 59

sentatives, unless the lodges shall think proper to be represented by other
members; the names of all deputies thus chosen, to be communicated to
the Secretary of this Lodge. A representation from five lodges shall be
sufficient to elect or disqualify officers, to expel members, and to act on
all cases within the jurisdiction of this Grand Lodge.

Art. 9. Every lodge under the jurisdiction of this Grand Lodge, shall
make a just and true return to this Lodge, at the meeting in November,
of all their members, the grade in which they stand, resignations, deaths,
rejections, suspensions and expulsions; and for every neglect to make
return as aforesaid, shall pay a fine, to this Lodge, of five dollars; they
shall pay one dollar for every new-made brother, and fifty cents for every
member at each return. Every lodge neglecting to make return and pay-
ment of their dues and fines, shall not be allowed to vote by their deputies
in this Lodge. And if they refuse or neglect to make return and payment
as aforesaid, for two years, the warrant of such lodge or lodges, shall be
recalled.

No lodge shall initiate more than five at the same meeting, or any candi-
date that has been rejected by another lodge under this jurisdiction, within
one year after such rejection; nor shall any candidate receive more than
one degree at the same meeting (cases of emergency only excepted).

Art. 10, All fines to be assessed at large on the proceedings.

Art. 11. This Grand Lodge shall have, exercise, and enjoy, full and
complete appellant and corrective powers, in all cases relating to the
Craft, within its jurisdiction, to assess such contributions from time to
time, as the good of the Craft may require, to warrant and organize
lodges in this District; such warrant to be prepared by the Secretary, and
signed by the installed officers; and there shall be paid therefor, before
the same is delivered, twenty-five dollars for the use of this Lodge, and
five dollars for the Secretary.

Art. 12. The Most Worshipful Grand Master to preside when present;
he may call an extra meeting of the Lodge when an emergent occasion
shall require; he shall preserve peace and harmony in the Lodge, or cause
it to be done. In case of the absence of the Most Worshipful Grand
Master, the Deputy Grand Master shall preside, and so on to the Junior
Warden. And if none of the above-named officers be present, then the
senior officer of a lodge, not less than Junior Warden, shall preside, the
officers of the senior Lodge to have the preference, in case there be two
of the same grade; the presiding Master to make appointments pro tem.
to fill all vacancies for the meeting, to decide all questions of order not
provided for in this constitution, with the right of an appeal from his
decision to the Lodge.

Art. 13. All Past Grand Masters, Past Deputy Grand Masters, and Past
Grand Wardens, shall, in each grade collectively, be entitled to one vote.

Art. 14. The Past Masters of each lodge present, at any meeting of the
Grand Lodge, shall have one vote collectively, but any Past Master
otherwise entitled to a separate vote in the Grand Lodge, shall not have
a right to a voice in this vote. And if no Past Master be present, from
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any lodge which has a Past Master, then the delegates from that lodge
shall give the Past Master’s vote.

Art, 15. All questions before the Grand Lodge shall be determined by
a majority of the votes of the members present, entitled to vote, except
on motion (the mover and seconder being of different lodges) it may be
determined by a vote by lodges, that the question be taken by lodges.

Art. 16. The members of the Grand Lodge shall take their seats accord-
ing to the seniority of their respective lodges, and shall not remove from,
or change the place assigned them by the Pursuivant during the commu-
nication, without the permission of the presiding Master.

Art. 17. No person shall be admitted in the Grand Lodge, before his
name shall be announced in the Lodge, and leave given by the presiding
Master.

Art. 18. The duty of the Treasurer is, to keep a fair and just account
of all moneys received and paid by him, on account of this Lodge, and to
exhibit the same to this Lodge at every regular meeting, and, on the
order of the Most Worshipful Grand Master, or the presiding officer,
attested by the Secretary, to pay any money in his hands or possession,
belonging to this Lodge.

Art. 19. The duty of the Secretary is, to keep a fair record of the pro-
ceedings of the Lodge, to sign all drafts on the Treasurer, to keep an
account with the Treasurer, and with the respective lodges under this
jurisdiction, and also to keep an account of all fines incurred under this
constitution, and make report thereof to this Lodge at every meeting, to
take care of, and safe keep the books, papers, and seal of this Lodge, to
issue summonses when directed by the senior officer of this Lodge, in the
District, and to do and perform all other duties appertaining to the office
of the Secretary; and he shall deliver to this Lodge, or a committee
thereof, all books, papers, etc. in his possession, whenever directed so to
do by the Lodge.

Art. 20. The duty of the Marshal is to conduct and command all pro-
cessions of the Grand Lodge, to enforce the orders of this Lodge, or of
the presiding Master, and to serve all special summonses.

Art. 21. The duty of the Pursuivant is, to attend the admission of every
member or visitor, to see that they enter the Lodge in a proper manner,
and that they take and keep the stations assigned them.

Art. 22. The Lodge to be opened within half an hour of the time
appointed in the constitution, or in the notification, in case of an extra
meeting; or as soon thereafter as a sufficient representation shall appear.

Art. 23. All amendments and additions to this constitution, must be
submitted at a previous meeting; or a copy of such alteration, addition or
amendment, must be served on and left with the Masters of the several
lodges under this jurisdiction, two months previous to being acted on.

The foregoing is the constitution of the Grand Lodge of the District
of Columbia, as amended up to the 20th May, A. D. 1820, A. L. 5820, and

ordered to be published.
SaMUEL BURCH,

Secretary Grand Lodge.
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An amendment was adopted May 24, 1822, which grew out
of several unsatisfactory experiences and was as follows:

Art. 24. That it shall not be competent for the Grand Lodge to hold
any procession or ceremony for the purpose of laying the cornerstone of
any edifice, except such building be intended for Masonic purposes, unless
the persons requesting the same, or those having an interest in, or super-
intending the erection of such edifice, shall previously agree to pay all
expenses, if any there may be, attending said procession or ceremony,
including music and necessary refreshments.



62 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY

CHAPTER VII

DARK DAYS AND BRIGHT.

FIRST MERIDIAN—THE WASHINGTON MONUMENT—FIRST MA-
SONIC TEMPLE—FORMATION OF LODGES 8, 9,
10, 11, 12, AND 13—THE ANTI-MASONIC
WAVE—REPRESENTATIVE SYSTEM—
CORNERSTONES—NOTES.

“Truth forever on the scaffold; Wrong forever on the throme—
Yet that scaffold sways the future; and behind the dim unknown
Standeth God within the shadow, keeping watch above his own.”

—LoOWELL.

THAT THE GRAND LoODGE at this time had a by no means
narrow conception of its duty as a promoter of the public wel-
fare has striking illustration in the fact that there was laid
before that body, November 5, 1822, a letter from Brother
William Lambert, late of Lebanon, No. 7, accompanied by a
printed copy of his report to the President of the United
States made in November, 1821, relative to the longitude of
the Capitol in the City of Washington, together with a sup-
plemental report on the same subject made in the month of
March, 1822, and presented as a testimonial of respect from
the author, and upon the reception of which a suitable resolu-
tion was passed, which was, at the meeting of May, 1823.
amplified into the following:

WHEREAS, this Grand Lodge did at their last annual communication, held
on the 5th of November last, declare “that the encouragement and diffu-
sion of learning and science is among the objects embraced by the institu-
tion of Masonry,” and believing that the measures which have been, and
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may be taken for the establishment of a first meridian for the United
States at the seat of their government ought to be supported, as tending
to lessen, if not to remove, a dependence on Great Britain or other
European kingdom, for such meridian; and also to disseminate among our
fellow citizens the knowledge of a useful branch of science; therefore,

Resolved, That the members of this Grand Lodge will use such influence
as they may possess, to induce the proper constituted authorities of this
country to carry into effect a national object, in which the inhabitants of
the District of Columbia, in common with the citizens of the respective
States composing the American Union, must feel themselves materially
interested.

At the meeting of May 4, 1824, a resolution was adopted
taxing every brother who visited the Grand Lodge fifty cents,
to be demanded of him at the door by the Treasurer unless the
Grand Lodge saw fit to admit him without payment. This
resolution, meeting with natural objection, was only in force
until November 1, 1825, when it was repealed.

On May 4, 1824, also, the list of lodges was lengthened by
the granting of a charter to Humphrey Peake, G. Thornton,
Isaac Kell, and other Master Masons, residing in Alexandria,
D. C,, to form a lodge to be known as “ The Evangelical
Lodge of Alexandria, No. 8,” the M. W. G. M,, W. W.
Seaton, previously stating that he had granted a dispensation
to these brethren April 23, preceding. This lodge, coming
into existence close upon the stormy period of Masonic per-
secution, was not destined to survive, and became extinct in
1843. During its life the Grand Lodge at least once met in
its room in Alexandria, in 1838, and it is of record that
altho the constitutional hour of convening was 4 P. M., by
reason of the delay of the boat in making the “ voyage” it
was 7 P. M. before the meeting could be held.

As we pass along the beaten track of history we cannot
resist the temptation to take note of matters, trivial in them-
selves and yet not without value as uncovering what to our
eyes were unusual conditions, and among these we note that
it was the regular custom of the Grand Master to retire from
the meetings of the Grand Lodge, frequently for almost the
entire time taken for the transaction of business, and return later
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with some pomp and circumstance, the Deputy Grand Master
in the meantime officiating. Another custom, which obtained
on occasion, was appealing from the decision of the Grand
Master or acting Grand Master, when in the judgment of the
members he was faulty in his interpretation of the constitu-
tion or regulations, a proceeding peculiar to the period, wholly
without warrant of ancient usage, and happily but compara-
tively short-lived.

November 2, 1824, The New Jerusalem Lodge, No. 9, was
chartered, the Grand Master having previously, on October 4,
of the same year, granted a dispensation to said lodge on the
petition of William Hewitt (Grand Master 1820, 21, 28, 29),
Henry Whetcroft, Thomas Staley, and others, Master Masons.
While starting with an unusually small charter list—but eight
names appearing on the first return—this lodge has had a
steady and prosperous growth and a brilliant career, and now
ranks well up near the top in numerical and financial standing.

One of the customs of the Fraternity in this era, to which
passing allusion has already been made, was the frequent for-
mation of processions, and this ceremonious public appearance
was not confined to funerals and cornerstone layings, as at
present, but was usual in their attendance upon divine and
memorial services and in public functions not strictly of a
Masonic character. A not unusual occurrence was the forma-
tion of a procession by a lodge or lodges, accompanied by the
children from an orphans’ home, a special feature of which
was the collection of a voluntary contribution at the end of the
march for the benefit of the institution, and it is gratifying
to note that these offerings invariably netted a comfortable
sum. Any public appearance, whether for a funeral or other-
wise, was seldom made without the services of a brass band;
but it must be remembered in this connection that carriages
were rarely used, that luxurious method of performing a duty
coming in with a later age. The obligation to attend the
funeral of a deceased brother was properly considered of the
first importance and as a result we find the record of numer-
ous gatherings on all these occasions, no stress of weather.
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apparently, operating to prevent the brethren from being pres-
ent and joining in the solemn march and simple rites that
marked the passing of a Master Mason.

The history of Naval Lodge, No. 4, furnishes an instance
of unusual and impressive conditions in the burial at 10 o’clock
of a mid-winter’s night, with the earth covered with snow, of
the remains of a brother whose death from small-pox neces-
sitated hasty interment under circumstances which must have
stamped the occasion indelibly upon the minds and hearts of
every one present, for given but the bare statement of the
time and place, the character and purpose of the gathering,
and it needs no master hand to paint the scene, but the most
sluggish imagination easily conjures up the weird picture with
all its awesome details.

As early as November 1, 1825, the Grand Lodge passed a
set of resolutions commending the project of erecting a monu-
ment to George Washington and pledging its active co-opera-
tion and aid in that enterprise, and it is no exaggeration to
say that the mammoth obelisk now for many years the pride
of the country, owes its existence to the efforts of the Masonic
Fraternity in general and the local craft in particular. In this
connection it may be stated that Washington’s birthday was
for many years celebrated annually by the Masons of this
jurisdiction with great display and oratory.

On November 1, 1825, the minimum fee for conferring the
degrees was fixed at $20. Following the subject to its con-
clusion, we find that on November 4, 1834, this sum was
reduced to $15; was later raised to $R1; again, in 1844, re-
duced to $16; increased in 1850 to $21; in 1864 to $30; in
1867 to $40; in 1876 to $45, and in 1889 to $50, the present
figure.

The event of paramount importance in the year 1826 was
the laying of the cornerstone of the Masonic Temple at
Four-and-a-Half (John Marshall Place) and D Streets, N. W.,
an enterprise of great moment to the local craft, which, tho
unhappily of disastrous termination, marked an era in our
history, and is of such interest that a detailed account, not

5
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only of the ceremonies attending the event but the subsequent
history and final loss of the building, is given in the chapter
devoted to the ““ Meeting Places of the Fraternity.”

On April 10 of the following year the Grand Lodge laid
the cornerstone of the First Presbyterian Church, a few doors
from the new Masonic Hall, and it is worthy of mention that
it was only agreed to perform the function after the Church
had obligated itself to pay all expenses. The accounts of the
ceremonies show the occasion to have been a most brilliant
affair, and an auspicious inauguration of one of our oldest
and most influential church organizations. Practically un-
changed exteriorly, tho somewhat modernized as to its in-
terior, the building stands to-day as the home of the same
congregation.

In this year Masonry took organized form in the old First
Ward, Hiram Lodge, No. 10, located in the eastern edifice of
the Seven Buildings, north side of Pennsylvania Avenue, be-
tween Twenty-first and Twenty-second Streets, N. W., being
chartered December 27, 1827, with Thos. Wilson as Master;
Thos. Smith, S. W., and Chas. G. Wilcox, J. W. This lodge,
successful from the start, while changing its abode a number
of times, has never wandered far from the vicinity of its first
location, and has for a number of years had its home at the
southwest corner of Nineteenth Street and Pennsylvania Ave-
nue, N. W.

March 29, 1828, witnessed an unusual Masonic demonstra-
tion in a joint procession formed by the Grand Lodge and
Grand R. A. Chapter to testify to the high respect entertained
by the Fraternity for the “ exalted character and extensive
usefulness’” of De Witt Clinton, late Governor of New York
and G. G. H. P. of R. A. Masons of the U. S. A,, and the
subsequent attendance in St. John’s Church at a memorial
service.

May 381, of the same year, the cornerstone of another
church edifice in the immediate neighborhood of the new Tem-
ple, Trinity Episcopal, was laid by the Grand Lodge. This
church occupied the site now covered by the Columbian Law
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Building, Fifth Street, opposite Judiciary Square, and long
since passed away, the congregation now meeting in a modern
edifice at Third Street and Indiana Avenue.

At about the time of the inauguration of the building enter-
prise by the Fraternity the great anti-Masonic wave, which
had its origin in the alleged abduction and murder of one
William Morgan, of Batavia, N. Y., a subject now so familiar
to every Mason as to require no extended notice here, began
to grow in volume and sweep over the country. By 1829,
when Andrew Jackson, P. G. Master of Tennessee, became
President, anti-Masonry had become a national issue, and for
nearly a decade a political and even social persecution was
waged that seriously threatened the life of the Fraternity in
this country. Locally the force was felt to an alarming de-
gree, and while a certain accession of membership was trace-
able to the curiosity aroused by the advertisement given the
society, yet many of the weak-kneed fell away, and the various
lodges were often reduced to sore straits, and necessarily and
sympathetically the Grand Lodge had a serious time to weather
the storm. Under the stress Brooke Loodge, No. 2, went out
of existence in 1833, Columbia in 1835, Union in the same
year, while Federal surrendered its charter in 1836. Brooke
Lodge and Union Lodge never revived, but Columbia came
to life after thirty years, and Federal remained dormant but
one year. It is a matter of tradition so well verified as to
amount to history, that Naval Lodge, No. 4, during the height
of the disturbance met secretly in the home of the Command-
ant of the Navy Yard. Over in the West End it is interesting
to note that the celebrated and eccentric itinerant preacher,
Bro. Lorenzo Dow, who was neither ashamed nor afraid to
avow himself a Mason, on May 10, 1830, when the excite-
ment was at flood tide, addressed Potomac Lodge and a large
number of visiting brethren on the subject of Masonry. This
noted man and Mason died in 1834 and was buried masonically
by Potomac Lodge. This lodge also felt the effects of the
troublous times, and fell off in membership and interest to
such a degree that in 1837 but five meetings were held, but a
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reorganization was effected in 1838 and an era of prosperity
entered upon.

Before leaving the subject, some idea of the remarkable
condition of affairs may be gathered from the fact that on
Sunday, September 13, 1835, one of the usual processions,
accompanied by and for the benefit of the orphan children
from the Female Orphan Asylum of Washington, was organ-
ized in “ancient form,” after having been deferred from a
previous date, according to the explanation of the Grand Mas-
ter, “in consequence of the excited state of public feeling,
etc.” However, there were a sufficient number “ left among
the living to bury the dead,” and, purged of dross, the Fra-
ternity in a few years took a new lease of life which has since
known nought but vigorous health and growth.

We have noted the fact that in 1821 full returns gave the
aggregate membership as 219. By 1825, altho two new
lodges had been instituted in the meantime, the rosters footed
up but 227 names. With Hiram added, the rolls in 1828
reached a total of 273 ; but, owing to the fact that for a period
extending from January 1, 1829, to November 4, 1845, no
Grand Lodge proceedings were printed and the manuscript
data now available is meager and incomplete, no satisfactory
estimate can be ventured upon of the increase or decrease
numerically during these years, but covering, as the hiatus
does, the full period of the Masonic depression, it may be
surmised that in point of numbers Masonry reached its lowest
ebb in this locality somewhere within these dates, and, indeed,
it is of record that absolutely no growth was experienced for
the five years preceding the later date.

Struggling along under these adverse conditions, the Grand
Lodge was in a continual state of financial stringency, owing
not only to the depleted membership but to the inability to
collect the fines, and the repeated neglect of some of the lodges
to pay their dues, and the dissatisfaction engendered by this
embarrassing delinquency reached its culmination in 1832,
and led to the introduction of a resolution to recommend the
consolidation of Lodges 1 and 8, 4 and 6, and 2 and 8. While
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this resolution was subsequently “ laid on the table,” its intro-
duction serves to show how grievous were the times upon
which the Fraternity had fallen.

The period of Masonic depression referred to above did
not, however, result in the complete withdrawal of the Craft
from public demonstration, for in addition to the procession
for the benefit of the Female Orphan Asylum already alluded
to there were many other public appearances for similar
charitable purposes as well as cornerstone layings, prominent
among which latter was that of the United German Church,
Twentieth and G Streets, N. W., August 12, 1833, and that
of the Methodist Protestant Church, Ninth, between E and F
Streets, N. W,, in March, 1835, while on January 11, 1836,
the cornerstone of Jackson City was laid by P. G. M. Wm. W.
Billing, assisted by M. W. Brother Andrew Jackson, P. G. M.
of Tennessee and President of the United States. Inaugu-
rated under such auspicious circumstances this embryo city
should properly have attained the largest measure of success,
but in all charitableness we ring down the curtain upon its
subsequent history.

At the very flood-tide of the great wave of persecution evi-
dence is not wanting of life in the local Fraternity and of
restless effort to resume all normal functions, and this spirit
finds expression in an unsigned paper, bearing date of Janu-
ary, 1836, which appears to indicate an abortive attempt to
establish a “ Lecture Lodge,” the object being, it is fair to
presume, mutual improvement in Masonic work and lore
through the medium of lectures. In no spirit of mirth or
criticism, but simply to retain the atmosphere of the docu-
ment, unique from every point of view, we quote it literally:

Whereas Masonry has been of great use and benefit to mankind, and
Whereas sundry breathern of the fraternity wishing to defuse and instruct
each other in the usefull Knowledge of masonry and perfect each other
in regular mode of working the have formed them selves into a lector
Lodge and (whereas) rules are necessary for the government of all
assembled bodies, There fore be it resolved the following rules be ad-
dobted for the goverment of Washington Lector Lodge—
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1st. This Lodge shall be called Washington Lector Lodge.

2. The officers shall consist of Master S & J. Wardens Secry. & Tresurer
S. & J. Deacons Tylers and conductor to be elected and appointed, as in
a regular lodge, except the electtion and appointment to take place the
first Sunday in each and every month.

3. The meetings to be held on each Sunday in the year at 2 olk in the
afternoon.

4. All contributions to be levied by the Lodge to defray the expences
thereof.

5. The same decorum shall be observed in this Lodge as in a regular
Lodge, both to the officers and to the members.

6. Anny member absenting himself from the Lodge two sucksessive
meetings shall be fined 13 1-2 c.—unless he give a sufficient excuse then
the Lodge may by a majorty of the members present, may remit the fine,

7. No bro. who is not a member of a regular Lodge shall be allowed
to visit this Lodge unless it be by unanimous consent of the members
present.

8. A brother wishing to becoming a member of this Lector Lodge must
make application in writing signed by two members of the Lodge and
if the bro. is well known he shall be ballotted for and if there be not
more than two black balls he shall be atmitted a member on his paying
the sum of twenty five cents—but should there be three he shall, not be
admitted at this meeting but his petition shall be referred to a committee
as in a regular lodge and disposed of accordingly—and that the person
bick Bolg during the time committee may be sitting shall state their
reason to the committee.

On November 9, 1838, the Grand Lodge fell into line
with the growing custom of resident representation, and De-
cember 27, 1888, resolutions were adopted prescribing the
rank of such representatives and their proper regalia, and
empowering the Grand Master to make appointments at other
Masonic seats of government during the recess, such appoint-
ments to be submitted to the Grand Lodge at its next meeting
for confirmation. Under this action the first exchange of
representatives was with the New York jurisdiction, the
Grand Master nominating and the Grand Lodge confirming
the appointment of Brother Wm. C. Brumett, of that State,
our resident representative to the Grand Lodge of New
York, and official information being received of the appoint-
ment of R. W. Brother Abraham Howard Quincy, of Wash-
ington, as local resident representative on the part of the
Grand Lodge of New York. The system thus adopted in a
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few years and for an extended period met with considerable
opposition and was finally entirely lost sight of until revived
in 1860 as a new thing, from which time, altho suffering
much opposition for a number of years, it held on, and in
the latter part of the century took its permanent and undis-
puted place as a not only useful but necessary institution.

A rather peculiar variation from custom is shown in a
communication from a subordinate lodge (Ark, No. 83, Gen-
eva, N. Y.) to this Grand Lodge, in 1848, asking an exchange
of representatives, which request was, of course, courteously
declined.

The geographical location of the principal centers of popu-
lation in the then District, constituting three, or indeed four,
widely separated communities, with inadequate means of com-
munication, led to the adoption in 1839 of a resolution to elect
three Deputy Grand Masters—one for Washington and the
Navy Yard, one for Georgetown, and one for Alexandria—
with the understanding that when all three were present and
the business required one of them to preside that the senior
should have the preference. The first election resulted in
the selection of T. J. Williams, for Washington; John Myers,
for Georgetown; and I. Kell, for Alexandria. This arrange-
ment lasted until 1846, when, Alexandria having been retro-
ceded to Virginia, two Deputy Grand Masters were annually
elected until the year 1848, when a return was had to the one
Deputy system, which has obtained to this day.

While it is not within the province of this work to enter
upon the field of jurisprudence or methods of transacting the
business of the Fraternity, it is of sufficient general interest
to state that the motion to lay on the table, now grown so
abhorrent to us, was in the heyday of its popularity during the
middle of the last century, and was sometimes, in the heat of
vexing debate, given unusual form, as, for instance, in the
Grand Lodge, in 1842, it was moved and seconded that a
certain resolution be laid under the table, to which was of-
fered a substitute by a Past Grand Master that it be *“ thrown
out of doors.” That a motion should be “ thirded” was a
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quite usual occurrence. And while we linger for these short
glimpses of the small things along the way which are not
without their value to the complete picture, we might quote
the rather stilted phrase of the period in reference to visita-
tions: “ The Grand Marshal formed a procession and made
the grand initiation in accordance with ancient usages.”

One of the methods of travel is indicated in a letter about
this time from the Leesburg, Va., lodge, inviting the Wash-
ington lodges to join them in a procession on St. John’s Day,
and as, in their opinion, music was indispensable for such
an affair, they requested that “4 or 5” members of the
Marine Band be sent up, and suggested that they might travel
with the Alexandria Lodge in the canal boat.

With the demise of Evangelical Lodge, No. 8, which oc-
curred in 1843, passed away the last Alexandria lodge hold-
ing a charter from the District, the retrocession by the Gov-
ernment to Virginia of the southern part of the original ten
miles square occurring in 1846, and, of course, terminating
our jurisdiction over Alexandria and vicinity.

As has been noted in detail in another chapter, the Fra-
ternity, in 1843, finally lost title to Central Masonic Hall,
Four-and-a-Half and D Streets, and for several years the
Grand Lodge and several subordinate lodges were scattered,
the former, with Nos. 1 and 7, finding a home at Twelfth
Street and Pennsylvania Avenue, and No. 9 in the old Circus
Building on C Street, N. W. This separation gave rise to
some controversy as to the ownership of the various belong-
ings saved from the old Hall, and, while the final adjustment
is of no moment, it is a matter of historical interest to quote
the inventory made at the time, covering as it did practically
all of the effects of the Grand Lodge and the centrally-located
subordinate lodges:

Nine yellow chairs; 9 rods of Steward and Tyler; 1 small table, painted
red; 1 small desk; 16 spit-boxes and 1 large chest with No. 35, Columbia
Lodge, on it; 1 cupboard No. 7, and 1 picture, presented by Brother Coote
to the Grand Lodge; 1 framed chart; 1 small master’s carpet, complete;
one triple chair; 38 lesser lights and sockets; 1 great light, No. 35, Colum-
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bia Lodge; 1 Tyler's sword, No. 7; 1 water bucket and large letter G;
18 yellow broad-back chairs and 2 blue-bottom armed chairs at Brother
Greer'’s office.

During this period of trial Potomac Lodge, No. 5, be-
coming dissatisfied with the Grand Lodge, made persistent
efforts extending through the years 1843—44—45, to withdraw
from the jurisdiction and unite either with the Grand Lodge
of Virginia or that of Maryland. This spirit of unrest was
not wholly new, as the matter had been broached on several
occasions before, notably in 1830, but the efforts lacked per-
sistence and came to nought. After 1845 the lodge made
no further efforts along this line and became, as it has since
continued, one of the most valued and progressive members
of the Masonic family.

The Fraternity now again began to move out from under
the clouds which had so long hovered over it, and the year
1845 marked the birth of an era of prosperity.

In June of that year the Fraternity turned out in great
numbers and formed a procession as a tribute of respect to
the memory of Brother Andrew Jackson, then lately de-
ceased, and proceeding to the Capitol, in company with a
large assembly of citizens listened to an eloquent oration by
the historian, the Hon. George Bancroft.

At the installation meeting held December 27, 1845, the
petition for a charter for a lodge to be known as St. John’s
Lodge, No. 11, was received and the charter ordered to issue,
Bro. George C. Thomas being named as the first master,
Jos. F. Brown as S. W.,, and John W. Williams as J. W,
with an additional charter list of seven names.

This was quickly followed, in May of the following year,
by the granting of a charter to National Lodge, No. 12, which
had been working under dispensation for a short time, the
officers named in the petition being Bro. (Gen.) James Shields
as Master, Bro. John McCalla as S. W., and Bro. Hilary
Langtry as J. W. The first-named was Commissioner of the
General Land Office at this time, but later resigned that office
and took a command in Mexico, where he greatly distin-
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guished himself. He had the honor on his return of being
received at a specially convened session of the Grand Lodge
January 3, 1848.

While the usual public appearances were still kept up and
a number of cornerstones laid during these latter years, the
next affair of importance in this line was the laying of the
cornerstone of the Smithsonian Institution, May 1, 1847, by
that noted Mason M. W. Brother B. B. French, the Grand
Master of the District, assisted by the officers of the Grand
Lodge, and having present with him as aides the Grand
Master of Pennsylvania and the Grand Master of Maryland.
The procession preceding the event was a notable one, and
embraced a large concourse of distinguished Masonic individ-
uals and delegations from Pennsylvania, Maryland, and Vir-
ginia. Among those present .at the ceremonies were the
President of the United States, Brother James K. Polk; the
Vice President of the United States, Brother George M.
Dallas; the Regents of the Institute, Past Grand Masters, and
others. '

The apron worn by the Grand Master was the historic
one originally presented to Gen. Washington by the Grand
Lodge of France through Gen. LaFayette, and worn by the
former on the occasion of the laying of the corner-stone of
the Capitol, and had been for years in the possession of and
zealously guarded by Mt. Nebo Lodge, No. 91, of Shepherds-
town, Md., and loaned for this occasion. The gavel was the
already famous Washington gavel.

It may be worth while to note in passing that while the
Grand Lodge had until this time convened at 10 A. M., the
meeting hour in 1847 was changed to 4 P. M., a most incon-
venient hour we are prone to conclude, but doubtless adopted
with good reason.

On July 4, 1848, the cornerstone of the Washington Monu-
ment was laid by the Grand Lodge, M. W. G. M. B. B.
French presiding, and again was gathered an unusual con-
course of Masons, when the inadequate means of transporta-
tion of the day are considered, including delegations from the
Grand Lodges of Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Pennsylvania,
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Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, South Carolina, Georgia, and
Texas.

A brilliant oration was delivered by M. W. Brother French
on the life and character of Washington as a Mason, while
the general address was made by Hon. R. C. Winthrop,
Speaker of the House of Representatives. Among the Ma-
sonic relics on the stand was the chair used by Brother Wash-
ington when Master of his Lodge, Alexandria-Washington,
No. 22, of Virginia, and his apron and sash; the ancient
records of Fredericksburg Lodge, showing the entrance of
Brother Washington into Masonry, and the gavel used at the
Capitol cornerstone laying. The paraphernalia which had
once been the property of the Revolutionary hero and dis-
tinguished Mason, Gen. Joseph Warren, was also in evidence
on the person of a representative from Boston.

In 1848 the remarkable attack of gold fever which drew
so many adventurous souls to California broke out with con-
siderable virulence in Washington and caused quite an exodus
to the coast. Among the number were some of the Fra-
ternity, and on November 9, 1848, the Grand Lodge on proper
petition granted a charter for a lodge to be known as Cali-
fornia Lodge, No. 13, to be held in the town of San Fran-
cisco, Upper California, and named Samuel Yorke AtLee as
Master, Wm. VanVoorhies as S. W., and Bedney F. Mc-
Donald as J. W. On December 27, 1848, Brother AtlLee
having in the meantime resigned, the Grand Lodge confirmed
the action of the Grand Master taken during the interim of
appointing and having properly installed as Master Brother
Levi Stowell in his stead. The latter brother, with the charter
in his possession, it was reported, had proceeded to his destina-
tion. This lodge, the pioneer in the State, continued in its alle-
giance to this Grand Lodge until 1850, when it united with
other lodges to form the Grand Lodge of California, becoming
No. 1, and furnishing the first Grand Master and Grand Sec-
retary. Its separation from this jurisdiction was in the best
of feeling, and the local Fraternity has noted with pride its
continued success and prosperity. '

In 1849 an unusual memorial was received from certain
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citizens of Bogoto, New Grenada, addressing themselves to
this Grand Lodge as ‘ the centre of light,” for the purpose
of obtaining “ the favor of being constituted a regular lodge
in due and ancient form.” The memorialists were evidently
entirely unfamiliar with the organization, rites, and require-
ments of Masonry, but were so unmistakably sincere in their
desire for light that the Grand Lodge was at considerable
pains to inform them of the regulations and prerequisites of
organization, and expressed the hope that a sufficient number
of Master Masons might be found within their borders to take
the proper initiative. Nothing further came of the agitation,
however, and the incident closed.

July 17, 1849, was commenced the movement to procure a
memorial stone for the Washington Monument, and this was
accomplished by subscription and the stone placed in the
following year. It is located on the third landing, or first
stop, of the elevator, and is of white granulated marble. Its
face is six feet by two feet three inches, and bears the inscrip-
tion “ Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia. Our
Brother, George Washington.” In the center of the inscrip-
tion are the square and compasses, all in raised work, and
within and protected by a heavy molding. In an aperture of
the block there were placed a list of the contributors and
the last printed proceedings of the Grand Lodge. * Thus,”
in the language of Grand Master French, “ have the Free-
masons of this jurisdiction presented their offering at the
holy shrine of patriotism.”

December 27, 1849, one of the earliest public installations
took place, the Grand Lodge, under the escort of the Knights
Templar, proceeding to the Unitarian Church, where the
M. W. Grand Master, B. B. French, was installed, and upon
assuming his station was “ saluted according to custom,” and
delivered one of his eloquent addresses. The subordinate
Grand Officers were then installed, as were also the “ R. W.”
Masters-elect of the subordinate lodges. This custom, while
observed at intervals until well toward the latter part of the
century, has fallen absolutely into disuse, and probably will
come as a revelation to many of the younger readers.
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CHAPTER VIIL

THE DAWN OF PROSPERITY.

CLOSING YEARS OF THE HALF CENTURY—CORNERSTONES OF
CAPITOIL, EXTENSION AND SMITHSONIAN INSTITU-
TION—ILODGES 14, 15, AND 16—LODCE
OF MUTUAL BENEVOLENCE—THE
LIBRARY—PUBLIC FUNC-

TIONS—NOTES.

“The secret of success is comstomcy 1o purpose.”—~]

THE OPENING of the second half of the nineteenth century
found the Fraternity, while still numerically weak, the aggre-
gate membership in 1850 amounting to a little less than 300,
entering upon an era of comparative prosperity.

As an instance of our cordial relation with sister jurisdic-
tions it is noted that on February 22, 1850, on invitation of
the Grand Lodge of Virginia, Grand Master French, attended
by a number of the brethren of the District, visited Rich-
mond and participated in the ceremony of laying the corner-
stone of the Washington Monument at that place, and was
treated with the utmost cordiality and consideration.

That the more modern conception of the function of the
Masonic Fraternity, which deprecates a public appearance ex-
cept for the performance of Masonic duty, was now begin-
ning to assert itself is shown by the fact that, at a special
communication held June 18, 1850, the Grand Lodge voted to
decline the invitation of the local Washington Monument
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Association to take part in a processi\on and other ceremonies
to be held July 4 of that year, “ regarding all public displays
of the Order as improper which are not necessary to the
performance of the duties enjoined upon it.”

On May 6, 1851, there was received from sundry citizens
of Monrovia, Republic of Liberia, including the President, a
petition for a charter for a lodge to be called “ Restoration
Lodge.” This petition did not receive as much consideration,
apparently, as the one a few years before from Bogota, New
Grenada, but was rejected in a terse resolution of eight words.
Had the Grand Lodge acted otherwise, the mind is lost in
speculation of what further complication might subsequently
have been injected into the troublous question of the standing
of lodges of African descent which was soon, and for many
years, to plague this jurisdiction.

June 24, of the same year, the Grand Lodge, accompanied
by a number of brethren from this and adjacent territory,
made a pilgrimage to the Tomb of Washington, and listened
to an address by Grand Master French, and on July 4, fol-
lowing, laid the cornerstone of the extension of the Capitol,
the latter event being made the occasion of an imposing mili-
tary and civic display in addition to the Masonic exercises.
President Millard Fillmore, in his capacity as the Chief Ex-
ecutive of the Country, was present and took part in the
exercises, examined the stone, pronounced it laid, and said:
“The Most Worshipful Grand Master of the District of
Columbia will now please examine the stone and see that it is
well laid.” This active participation by President Fillmore
is especially interesting in view of the fact that some years
before, at the beginning of the anti-Masonic excitement, he
was a most bitter arraigner of the institution, which he had
characterized as ‘‘ organized treason.” After the usual cere-
monies Grand Master French made one of his magnificent
addresses, and was followed by the Hon. Daniel Webster, then
Secretary of State.

On September 2, 1852, a dispensation was granted by the
Grand Master authorizing the establishment of a lodge, to
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be known as “ Centennial Lodge, No. 14,” in the old Seventh
Ward, better known as the ‘“ Island,” and now the * South-
west.” 'This Lodge met for a number of years in Island Hall,
in that section, but subsequently moved to the central part of
the city, leaving the section above referred to without a local
Masonic body, in which condition it remains to this day, a
remarkable state of affairs when the size of the populdtion
and peculiar isolation of the Southwest is considered. The
charter issued November 2, 1852.

On December 29, 1852, the M. W. Grand Master, in con-
formity with the precedent established a few years earlier,
declined an invitation on behalf of the Grand Lodge, to be
present at the ‘“inauguration” of the equestrian statue of
Andrew Jackson, for the reason that no Masonic duty was
required, and it may relieve the tedium of the narration to
inject the fact that B. B. French, chairman of the Committee
on Arrangements, signed the invitation, and B. B. French,
Grand Master, courteously declined to consider it.

The cornerstone of the Baptist Church on Thirteenth
Street was laid by the Grand Lodge July 21, 1853, and that
of the Sixth Presbyterian Church August 10, following.

December 27, 1853, the family of lodges was further en-
larged by the granting of a charter to B. B. French Lodge.
No. 15, a lodge which rapidly gained in popularity, and is
now one of the strongest numerically in the District.

During the year 1854 the cornerstone of three churches
were laid: the Western Presbyterian, August 2; Metropolitan
Methodist, October 23, and the New Methodist, Georgetown,
November 1.

As compared with the growth of previous years the in-
crease in membership was now to become quite marked, the
returns for 1854 showing 419 Master Masons, a very sub-
stantial gain.

November 7, of this year P. G. Master French, on behalf
of twelve Master Masons, presented the Grand Lodge three
silver cups, for corn, wine, and oil, which were accepted with
thanks, and the Grand Secretary ordered to have one of the
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cups fire-gilded (later changed to “ otherwise gilded”), and
the three marked *“ Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia.”
These cups are used to this day on all proper occasions.

At the same communication the first active step toward the
formation of a Masonic Library, previously authorized by
constitutional amendment, was taken by the appropriation of
$50 for the purchase of books. This appropriation was fol-
lowed by similar annual appropriations, and by the latter part
of 1855 the Library was in existence and a set of rules for the
government thereof adopted. At the outset additions were
limited to works of a Masonic character, but this limitation
was of short duration. The Grand Secretary was in attend-
ance one evening in the week and the Grand Tiler the others,
for the purpose of issuing and receiving books. Thus was
born that feature of our local Masonic institution which has
grown to such stalwart and satisfactory proportions, and in
order that the subject may be treated connectedly the story
is at once pursued to date. '

While comparatively successful for a brief period, the Li-
brary soon fell upon evil days, and languished until 1872,
when steps were taken looking toward rehabilitating it, and
in the new scheme the subordinate lodges were invoked to
take an active interest and contribute to the support of the pro-
ject, the latter, indeed, being made compulsory by the levying of
a tax of one dollar annually on any brother who desired
to make use of the Library. In addition, donations of books
were requested, and in response to this P. G. Master R. B.
Donaldson at once presented fifty very valuable works.

In 1873 the Library was enriched by having placed to its
credit the sum of $775, which had been returned by the Chicago
Masonic Relief Committee to the Grand Lodge of the District
as their share of the unexpended balance-of the fund placed
in its hands for the relief of the sufferers by the great fire,
and with this sum was created the “ Chicago Fire Return
Library Fund,” $500 being immediately invested, and $275,
together with interest from investment, made available for
the proper equipment of the Library and the purchase of
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books. This scheme, however, did not work out with any
great degree of smoothness, entailing a continuous three-
cornered wrangle between the Committee on Accounts, the
Committee on Library, and the Grand Lodge, and in 1878
another appeal was made to the subordinate lodges, this time
to secure a general donation of works of a miscellaneous char-
acter. By this time, however, the books already in stock num-
bered 2,843, showing a healthy growth, despite the discour-
aging conditions surrounding the scheme of maintenance.

In 1878 the Library, having been previously located with
the Grand Secretary’s office in one of the upper rooms of the
Temple at Ninth and F Streets, was moved with the latter to
the ground floor, and in 1880 to the room which for thirty
years thereafter was to be its home. At the outset of this
new tenancy the various lodges outside of the Temple were
requested to pay $2 a month each to assist in paying the rental
of the new quarters. All declined with the exception of
Hiram, No. 10, which at once consented, and sent six months
of its pro rata in advance. The Library Committee, as will
be seen, was working at great disadvantage. The annual ap-
propriation of $50, before alluded to, not always materializing ;
the Committee had at their disposal frequently only the interest
accruing from the invested Chicago Fund, which amounted to
$50, and with the increasing growth of the Library and the
necessity of meeting this with the proper cases as well as the
services of additional help in the issuing and receipt of books,
the items of light, heat, etc., this sum was grossly inadequate.
One way and another, tho, the enterprise eked out its exist-
ence and grew. A reorganization of the Library, begun in
1880, resulted in the following year in the culling out of a
vast number of undesirable public documents and the reduc-
tion of the accumulation of works to a rational basis. This
cut the aggregate of volumes almost exactly in half, and left
1,582 valuable volumes on the shelves, a handsome nucleus
for the projected library, which has become the pride of the
jurisdiction. By 1882 the number had increased to 1,820.

In 1883 the Chicago Fire Return Library Fund, amounting
6
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to $500, which had been invested upon real estate security,
and had been yielding an annual interest of 10 per cent., ceased
to exist, the trustee of the fund reporting in that year that
failure to meet the interest for some years had forced him to
sell the property securing it, and no bid being received suffi-
cient to cover the investment it had been bought in by a friend
and subsequently deeded to the trustee. Unpaid tax bills, re-
pairs, and bad tenants had caused an outlay greatly in excess
of the income, and, the opportunity presenting itself, the
property (a frame building on Twenty-second Street) was
sold for $650, which left, after deducting expenses of sale
and sums advanced by the trustee, $524.50 to the credit of the
fund, which sum the trustee recommended be turned over to
the Library Committee for the purchase of books. This rec-
ommendation was amended by inserting the amount $349.50,
and in this shape was approved by the Grand Lodge, which at
the same time repealed the resolution of January 8, 1873,
creating the fund. Just what disposition was made of the re-
maining $175 deponent saith not. The fund thus made avail-
able was judiciously used, and resulted in the rapid enlarge-
ment of the Library, the following year showing 2,109 vol-
umes; 1885, 2,238; 1886, 2,269; 1887, 2,350; 1888, 2,472;
1889, 2,486; 1890, 2,559; 1891, 2,637; 1892, 2,725; 1893,
2,741; 1894, 2,819; 1895, 2,941; 1896, 2,990; 1897, 2,990;
1898, 3,140; 1899, 3,123; 1900, 3,253; 1901, 3,410; 1902,
3,410; 1903, 3,911; 1904, 4,160; 1903, 4,338; 1906, 4,688;
1907, 5,038. Since the latter date the number has increased
rapidly, and now approximates 10,000 volumes.

While the actual duties of the Librarian were for many
years discharged by the Grand Secretary, the work finally be-
came of such proportions as to necessitate the employment of
an assistant, and in 1901 the late Bro. John N. Birckhead, of
Dawson Lodge, No. 16, was appointed. Upon his death, which
occurred November 22, 1903, Bro. Paul Neuhaus, P. M. of
Hope Lodge, No. 20, a trained and experienced librarian, filled
the position until 1906, and upon his demise, during that year,
Bro. Armat Stoddart, of Columbia Lodge, No. 3, was ap-
pointed, and has most acceptably filled the arduous position
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and has practically completed a long-needed card-index cata-
log of the contents of the shelves. To the executive ability
of the chairmen of the Library Committee, notable among
whom may be mentioned the late M. W. Bro. Noble D.
Larner, of many years’ service; M. W. Bro. Lurtin R. Ginn,
and Bro. Wm. L. Boyden, also Librarian of the large Scottish
Rite Library and the present incumbent since 1903, is largely
due the present carefully selected and well regulated library,
which compares favorably with the best of such institutions
in the country.

August 13, 1855, the cornerstone of the German Reformed
Church, D and Four-and-a-Half Streets, S. W., was laid by
the Grand Lodge, which also, in the fall of the same year,
attended the dedication of the Masonic Temple in Philadel-
phia, on which latter occasion a large number of the brethren
from this jurisdiction were present.

June 24, 1856, witnessed a most notable celebratlon by the
Fraternity, an imposing procession being formed in connection
with Columbia R. A. Chapter, No. 15, and, under the escort
of Washington Encampment, K. T., proceeded to the Smith-
sonian Institution, where, in the presence of a large concourse,
one of the most eloquent Masonic orations ever listened to
was delivered by the late Bro. Byron Sunderland, D. D., for
many years a prominent Presbyterian divine and active Mason
of this city. Among those present was the late Bro. Gen.
 Lewis Cass, who occupied a seat on the right of the M. W.
Grand Master.

At the communication of May 5, 1857, a charter was
granted to Bros. Amos T. Jenkes, P. E. Wilson, E. G. Guest,
and nineteen others, to form a lodge to be known as Dawson
Lodge, No. 16. This lodge, named after P. G. M. Wm. C.
Dawson, of Georgia, well and favorably known in the District
of Columbia, has had a most successful career and ranks as
one of our flourishing lodges. '

The first Past Grand Master’s jewel was presented to P. G.
Master Charles S. Frailey, March 31, 1857, just two months
prior to his death. Owing to his protracted illness the formal
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presentation had been postponed from time to time, and was
finally made in his sick room. When it was planned to have
the presentation made at a meeting of the Grand Lodge the
brother to whom the duty was assigned, P. G. Master French,
was considerate enough to allow P. G. Master Frailey to in-
spect not only the jewel but the draft of the remarks he pro-
posed to make on the occasion, about two weeks before the
date set. These were the days of great care and formality
in speech-making. Thus was inaugurated what, in the course
of time, became a custom, now for years unbroken, of
fittingly decorating each retiring Grand Master.

The public appearances of the Grand Lodge for the year
1857 included a pilgrimage to Mt. Vernon on June 24, accom-
panied by Masonic representation from Richmond and Alex-
andria, and the laying of the cornerstone of Ebenezer M. E.
Church, in East Washington, July 31, the Grand Lodge being
conveyed to the latter function in omnibusses.

A resolution introduced at the annual communication of this
year granting permission to any brother present at the taking
of a ballot in a lodge to vote, the only stipulation being that
he must be a member in good standing in some lodge in this
jurisdiction, was decisively defeated.

February 22, 1858, the Grand Lodge, escorted by a large
number of the brethren, made a trip to Richmond, Va., and
took part in the ceremonies attending the “ inauguration” of
the Equestrian Statue of George Washington in that city, and
on August 19 laid the cornerstone of a new hall for Potomac
Lodge, No. 5, in Georgetown.

In the same year the proposition of a so-called Mt. Vernon
Ladies’ Association to purchase and preserve for all time the
estate of the late Gen. Washington ‘was actively taken up by
the Grand Lodge of this, as well as other jurisdictions, and to
their material aid is due the ultimate success of this patriotic
undertaking. In addition to the encouragement given to the en-
terprise by the local Fraternity, $121 was turned over to the
Association by the lodges of the jurisdiction—a goodly sum
when the limited membership is considered.
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The pressing need of burial sites for indigent Masons dying
here without relatives or friends resulted at this time in the
purchase of sixty sites in the Congressional Cemetery for that
purpose.

October 10, 1839, the cornerstone of the New York Avenue
Presbyterian Church was laid with imposing ceremonies. This
edifice, after the lapse of more than half a century, is still in
active use, and is a model of the architecture of that early
period.

The reports of the Grand Secretary and Treasurer for this
year are notable in that they, for the first time, report “ great
prosperity” in the jurisdiction, and felicitate the Craft on the
skill, competency, and fidelity of the officers in charge of the
subordinate lodges.

On November 1, 1859, a charter was granted to a so-called
“ Lodge of Mutual Benevolence,” on the petition of the Mas-
ters of the several lodges. This organization was experi-
mental, and designed to handle cases of need, but failed of its
purpose and surrendered its charter two years later. No num-
ber had been assigned to this unique lodge, and as a conse-
guence its demise left no gap in the numerical sequence.

February 22, 1860, the Grand Lodge, accompanied by its
guests, the members of Fredericksburg Lodge, No. 4, of Vir-
ginia, and a large attendance of the Craft, proceeded, under
the escort of Washington Commandery, K. T., to Washington
Circle, and conducted the ceremony of dedicating the Eques-
trian Statute of Washington. The President of the United
States, W. Bro. James Buchanan, P. M., of Lancaster Lodge,
No. 43, of Lancaster, Pa., was present as an active participant
in the exercises, and delivered the dedicatory address.

At the November communication of this year an elaborate
report was submitted by a special committee previously ap-
pointed to enquire into the advisability of “ districting” the
several lodges, with a view of preventing petitioners from ap-
plying to any but the lodge nearest their places of residence,
and it was developed by this report that while a system of
notification between the various lodges was supposed to be
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in operation it was so faulty and so carelessly operated as to be
worthless, and the committee recommended a resolution con-
fining a petitioner to the lodge nearest to his residence. While
the Grand Lodge refused to adopt the resolution, yet the fact
of its introduction serves to make understandable the vast
difference between many conditions then and now. With the
primitive systems of transportation and communication in
vogue the various sections were practically as far apart as
separate villages, and nothing like the close intimacy of the
present day was possible. A citizen of the East End might
apply in Georgetown, or even in the central part of the city,
and in the absence of notification he would be, for all practical
purposes of investigation, a stranger.

With increasing facilities of communication and the adop-
tion of more business-like methods in the Secretary’s office, this
problem has solved itself, and is handled through the latter
official in the shape of weekly bulletins, which give the greatest
possible Masonic publicity to all applications and changes.
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CHAPTER IX.

THE WAR OF THE REBELLION.

MILITARY LODGES—UNION LODGE, U. D., OF ALEXANDRIA, VA.—
CARE OF SICK AND WOUNDED CRAFTSMEN—CHARTERS TO
HARMONY, NO. 17, ACACIA, NO. 18, AND LAFAYETTE,

NO. 19—COLUMBIA, NO. 3, REVIVED.

“ Liberty and Union, now and forever, one and inseparable.”
—DaNi1EL, WEBSTER.

In 1860 THE COUNTRY was in the midst of the fierce political
agitation which preceded the War of the Rebellion, and during
this period, when brother was turning from brother and father
from son, it is a matter of congratulation that no note of dis-
cord sounded in the lodge rooms. Brethren went out from
the sacred precincts to don the blue or the gray as their sense
of duty impelled them, and later met upon the field of battle,
perchance, yet always and ever were brethren of the mystic
tie, and this brotherhood found its expression throughout the
years of the great fratricidal struggle in thousands of instances
of alleviation of suffering and the stretching forth of the hand
to assist a worthy fallen brother, even tho his uniform chanced
to be of a different hue.

All the influence of the great Fraternity was thrown toward
the maintenance of peace, and while, in the providence of God,
this was not to be, yet who can measure the immensity of the
service wrought by the Brotherhood North and South in less-
ening the horrors of war.

The spirit animating the Craft during the crucial period
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before the breaking of the storm finds adequate illustration
in an address delivered by P. G. Master French before the
Grand Lodge, in his capacity as representative of the Grand

Lodge of Louisiana, from which we quote the following brief
extract:

The Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia, at this political center of
a mighty nation, now stretches forth her hand and grasps the proffered
one from the far South, and holds it with that earnest, affectionate, and
fraternal grasp, which, if translated into language, would say, “ Behold
how good and how pleasant it is for brethren to dwell together in unity.”

Would to God there were in these times of national trouble more of
the spirit of Freemasonry animating the hearts of all. Then would “the
North give up and the South keep not back;” then would fraternity,
union, harmony prevail; then would this great and powerful Nation stand
on the rock of ages, firm and immovable, and in vain would the ocean of
political disappointment dash at its base. Now, owing to the uncircum-
scribed passions of men for gain and for power, the great ship of state
trembles amid the waves, and to Him alone who can say to the foaming
billows, “ Peace, be still,” and they obey Him, can we now look for aid
in this our hour of peril.

When the first gun was fired, and Washington was suddenly
transformed into an immense military camp with hundreds of
hospitals crowded with the maimed and dying, the local Fra-
ternity were face to face with perhaps the greatest task ever
forced upon a comparatively small body of men in the name
of duty. Right nobly they met it, and for four years gave of
their time and means to lighten the burden of sorrow pressing
heavily all about them, caring for the sick and wounded, sub-
stantially aiding the distressed, and giving Masonic burial to
those sojourning brethren who had “ Given the last full meas-
ure of devotion to their country.” In addition to these com-
mon acts of humanity the years were crowded with instances
of fellowship and self-sacrificing brotherhood of a character
not proper to be written, but which may well be left to the
imagination of the enlightened reader.

The subject is a tempting one, and yet must not be pursued
too far, nor to the entire exclusion of the important local
Masonic events which have their bearing on our subsequent
history.
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The subject of military lodges early came before the Grand
Lodge, and was met in the broad and liberal spirit which was
and should be characteristic of the Fraternity; and while a
large number of these lodges were formed during the war in
our midst, no slightest question of jurisdiction nor trouble of
any character whatever marred the perfect harmony of their
relations with the local Craft.

As this is a matter of more than passing interest, and only
to be grasped intelligently as a whole, the subject is adhered
to at the temporary sacrifice of chronological order.

At the communication of May 7, 1861, Grand Master Whit-
ing laid before the Grand Lodge correspondence with the
Grand Master of Rhode Island, in which the latter advised
him that he had granted a dispensation to certain Masons serv-
ing in the Rhode Island regiment then stationed at Washing-
ton to meet as a lodge for social intercourse and improvement,
but not for work. To this communication G. M. Whiting
courteously responded, commending the action and offering
on his part to grant a further dispensation, upon proper appli-
cation, for these brethren to do work.

At the same time the Grand Master advised the Grand
Lodge that he was in receipt of an application from certain
brethren of the Seventh Regiment of New York Volunteer
Militia for a dispensation to open a military lodge, whereupon
the Grand Lodge unanimously adopted the following reso-
lution:

Resolved, That the Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia advise that
the M. W. G. Master grant special dispensations to such regiments or
corps of volunteers of the several States now in the service of the United
States, in this jurisdiction, as he may deem proper, to hold Occasional or
Camp Lodges: Provided, That such dispensations shall only extend to the
members of their respective regiments or corps.

Subsequently Dep. G. Master Y. P. Page, in the absence
of G. Master Stansbury, issued a dispensation to Bro. Mar-
shall, Lefferts, Colonel of the Seventh Regiment, National
Guard of the State of New York, and seventy-two others,
members of that regiment, to open and hold a camp lodge with-
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in the body of said regiment, under the name and style of
“ National Guard Lodge,” for mutual instruction and Masonic
intercourse.

On September 24, 1861, a dispensation was also granted to
Col. Horatio G. Sickel and ten others, brethren of the Third
Regiment Pennsylvania Reserve Corps, to open a lodge in the
body of that regiment for the same purpose, to be known as
“ The Potomac Lodge.”

January 14, 1862, G. Master Stansbury, upon the petition
of a constitutional number of brethren of the Fifty-ninth Regi-
ment, New York State Volunteers, granted a dispensation to
enable them to open a camp lodge to be known as ““ Good Hope
Lodge,” the colonel of the regiment, Bro. Wm. Linn Tidball,
being designated as W. M.

In the early part of the following year G. Master Page
granted a similar dispensation to a number of brethren to open
and hold a camp lodge within the Third Brigade, First Divis-
ion, Fifth Army Corps, Army of the Potomac, to be known
as the “ Lodge of the Union.”

The history of one other temporary lodge, coming into ex-
istence by reason of the troubled conditions at our doors, con-
stitutes one of the most interesting Masonic stories of the
period of the war, and is here briefly summarized.

In 1862 the loyal Masons of Alexandria found themselves,
through the alleged action of the Grand Lodge of Virginia,
shut off entirely from their natural Masonic rights, that Grand
Lodge having, it was alleged, forbidden those working under
its jurisdiction to hold Masonic intercourse with Masons ad-
hering to their allegiance to the Union.

In these straightened circumstances they applied for a dis-
pensation to G. Master Stansbury to open a lodge in the city
of Alexandria, to be known as “ Union Lodge.” The situa-
tion being a most peculiar and delicate one, the Grand Master
deemed it expedient to convene the Grand Lodge in special
session, at which special and an adjourned meeting the sub-
ject was thoroughly discussed, and the conclusion reached that
inasmuch as the Grand Lodge of Virginia had excommunicated



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 91

the loyal Masons within her geographical limits they occupied
the same position as residents of a territory in which no Grand
Lodge existed, and therefore might with propriety apply for
recognition to any jurisdiction they might elect; and in accord-
ance with this conclusion the Grand Lodge, by a vote of two
to one, on February 15, 1862, signified to the Grand Master
its approval of such dispensation, and under this resolution it
was granted February 22, 1862, Theodore G. Palmer being
named as Master, and the title, *“ Union Lodge, U. D.,”
adopted.

In reporting his action at the semi-annual communication
in May, the Grand Master disclaimed any intention of en-
croaching on the territory of Virginia, and intimated that when
that Grand Lodge should have resumed its normal jurisdiction
the dispensation would be returned, and upon his recommen-
dation the dispensation was continued. The dispensation was
again renewed November 4, 1862, and at the annual com-
munication of 1863, the Grand Lodge, however, refusing to
grant a charter; but at the installation communication of 1864,
upon the presentation of the fact that Andrew Jackson Lodge,
No. 120, of Alexandria, Va., had resumed labor, the dispen-
sation was withdrawn, and, in view of certain criticisms by
several sister Grand Lodges of the action of this jurisdiction,
a committee was appointed to examine into the whole matter,
which committee reported May 2, 1865, at length, and un-
covered the fact that the alleged action of the Grand Lodge
of Virginia which had been the primary cause of the granting
of the dispensation, ¢. e., that of forbidding those working
under its jurisdiction to hold Masonic intercourse with Masons
adhering to their allegiance to the Union, had in reality never
been taken by that grand body, and that the assumption of
jurisdiction was brought about through a misapprehension.
The Grand Lodge immediately decided to make the amende
honorable to our sister Grand Lodge, and appointed a com-
mittee, consisting of P. G. Masters French and Donaldson and
Bro. E. L. Stevens, to wait on that body in person and ex-
plain and reconcile the matters in question. '
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Accordingly, in December of that year, the committee pro-
ceeded to Richmond and were most cordially received by the
Grand Lodge, then in session, and, a committee of five having
been appointed to confer with our representatives, an amicable
adjustment of the case was reached, the Grand Lodge of the
District acknowledging its error and offering to turn over all
sums received from Union Lodge, and the Grand Lodge of
Virginia graciously accepting the apology and incidentally the
proffer of the money.

There was, however, a fly in the ointment, which yet for a
short period strained the relations of the two jurisdictions.
The Grand Lodge of Virginia, in its resolution of acceptance
of the overtures of the District, stated that the brethren made
in Union Lodge would be recognized as lawfully made breth-
ren “ when properly healed.”

Naturally and inevitably the local body took the ground that
no Mason made under its authority needed “ healing,” and
called upon the Grand Lodge of Virginia to rescind the ob-
jectionable phrase and made the payment of the promised
Union Lodge moneys provisional upon such elimination. This
position was such a proper one, and backed by the expressed
opinion of so many of the other jurisdictions, that Virginia,
at its next annual communication gracefully receded and re-
scinded the obnoxious words, and this action being imme-
diately followed by the transmission by this Grand Lodge of
$830.85, the sum in question, amicable relations were again
completely restored and have existed to the present day.

Union Lodge having during its existence occupied the hall
of Alexandria-Washington Lodge, No. 22, the latter lodge in
1865 made a claim against the Grand Lodge of Virginia for
the sum of $550 for compensation, and this amount was sub-
sequently paid them from the money received from the Dis-
trict of Columbia.

By the latter part of 1862 the demands upon the local
Fraternity for the relief of sick and wounded brethren became
so great that the Grand Lodge was called in special session in
November of that year to consider ways and means of meeting
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it, and as a result of this meeting it was proposed to the
subordinate lodges that they appoint representatives to form a
committee which should devise a system of relief and have
entire charge of its installation. While it is not of record
that this committee ever came into active existence, yet the
various lodges continued the good work as it was presented to
each until toward the close of the war when, St. John’s taking
the initiative, a concerted movement was put on foot and
participated in by most of the other Masonic bodies looking to
systematic relief, and this was extended to Federal and Con-
federate brethren alike until the city finally resumed its normal
condition.

The period of the Rebellion, while imposing great labor and
responsibility upon the Fraternity, witnessed a remakable
growth in numerical strength, the returns for 1863 showing
an aggregate of 1,233 Master Masons, and that of 1865,
1,720. The logical effect of this increase was the formation
of new lodges. First among these for the period alluded to
was that of Harmony Lodge, No. 17, chartered May 5, 1863,
Bro. J. W. D. Gray being installed as the-first Master, Wm.
Blair Lord the first Senior Warden, and E. C. Eckloff the
first Junior Warden. This lodge at once took rank with the
active, progressive lodges of the jurisdiction, which position
it has ever since retained.

At a special meeting held June 24, 1863, an invitation to be
present and participate in certain public ceremonies contem-
plated for July 4, was considered by the Grand Lodge, and
the committee in charge of the affair notified that, inasmuch
as the Masonic Fraternity was not accustomed to make public
demonstrations except to perform some Masonic labor, and it
not appearing that any such duty was required of them on
the occasion in question, the invitation was courteously de-
clined in so far as their participation in a conventional char-
acter was concerned. The attitude of the Fraternity toward
participation in non-Masonic functions was thus again clearly
defined, and the incident constituted a precedent which has
subsequently never been departed from.



94 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY

The untimely demise of Grand Master Page, one of the most
brilliant and promising Masons in the history of the jurisdic-
tion, occurring September 26, 1863, the Grand Lodge attended
the funeral September 28, and later, on the evening of October
3, was present as a body at a memorial service held in Naval
Lodge room, on which occasion a eulogy was pronounced upon
the deceased by P. G. Master French, which is preserved to us
and is a classic.

December 28, 1863, witnessed the birth of twins in the
rapidly increasing Masonic family, Acacia Lodge, No. 18, and
LaFayette Lodge, No. 19, being granted charters on that date,
the first upon the recommendation of St. John’s Lodge, No.
11, and the latter being vouched for by B. B. French Lodge,
No. 15. At a resumed communication December 30, 1863,
both lodges in turn were instituted and their officers installed,
Acacia coming first and acquiring the first number. Brothers
Z. D. Gilman, J. W. Jennings, and W. H. Baldwin appear as
the first three officers of Acacia Lodge, and Brothers Chaun-
cey Smith, F. H. Barroll, and M. V. W. Weaver filled the
corresponding positions in LaFayette.

July 20, 1864, the Grand Lodge made its only public ap-
pearance for the year, the occasion being the laying of the
cornerstone of the new Foundry M. E. Church, Fourteenth
and G Streets, N. W., while the laying of the cornerstone of
the Washington City Orphan Asylum, corner Fourteenth and
S Streets, N. W., July 13, 1865, was the only public demon-
stration that marked the latter year.

Columbia Lodge, No. 3, dormant for nearly three decades,
at this time began to show signs of returning consciousness, but
altho an application for the return of the charter was made
December 28, 1863, it was not called up until the communica-
tion of the Grand Lodge, November 1, 1864, and action was
then still further delayed by the decision of the Grand Master
that the application did not meet the constitutional require-
ments in the matter of signatures. The petition being again
under consideration, the Grand Master was authorized by res-
olution to return the charter to any five brethren who had
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been bona fide members of No. 3 at the time of the surrender,
and under this authorization the charter was restored April
12, 1865, Brothers J. R. Thompson, T. B. Campbell, and W.
H. Suttan being elected and installed the first three officers
the same evening. The subsequent history of this lodge is
one of unbroken activity and prosperity.

At the communication of November 1, 1864, a petition was
also received from Brothers E. H. Kern, Charles Herzberg, S.
Furst, and eleven others, praying for a charter to form a new
lodge to be known as “ King Solomon’s Lodge, No. 20,” and
presenting the recommendation of LaFayette Lodge, No. 19.
Action on the petition was postponed until December 27, upon
which date the prayer of the petitioners was refused, an event
unique in the history of this jurisdiction. It is interesting to
note in passing that forty years later the name, with another
number, was appropriated by a successful local lodge.

In the latter part of this year the Grand Lodge Constitution
was revised, and the care which was apparently given this
important work is evidenced by the fact that its consideration
occupied the Grand Lodge throughout six special meetings.
This Constitution, being within the reach of every interested
Mason, is not quoted in full, but the following extracts serve
to show the more important changes and amendments as com-
pared with the instrument approved in 1820, altho it must not
be inferred therefrom that the changes noted were all new
in 1864, for many of them were incorporated as early as 1828,
and later in a revision covering 1847-50, and the constitution
in question is only handled for comparison, as being the one
in force after the first half century of the existence of the
Grand Lodge, and the one in the revision of which apparently
the greatest care had been taken. So well was the work done
that in all essential features it remains in force to this day,
with only such few immaterial amendments as the changing
conditions have necessitated.

Sec. 1, Art. 1, provides that “ This Grand Lodge shall be
styled ‘ The Grand Lodge of Free and Accepted Masons of the
District of Columbia.’”
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Sec. 2 provides for a third communication to be held on St.
John the Evangelist Day, and places the hour of convening at
4P M.

Sec. 4 requires all members of the Grand Lodge to be prop-
erly invested with their clothing and jewels before taking
their seats.

Sec. 1, Art. 11, designates the Deputy Grand Master, the
Senior Grand Warden, the Junior Grand Warden, the Grand
Secretary, and the Grand Treasurer as “ Right Worshipful;”
the Grand Chaplain, “ Rev. and Worshipful,” and the remain-
ing officers, with the exception of the Grand Tiler, as “ Wor-
shipful,” and shows in addition a “ Worshipful” Grand Visitor
and Lecturer, and two Stewards.

The clause imposing a fine for non-attendance is conspicuous
by its absence.

In the succeeding Articles the duties of the Grand Lecturer,
the Grand Master, and the other Grand Officers are set out in
substantially the same detail as appears in our present Consti-
tution, while the Articles relating to subordinate lodges, dis-
pensations, charters, and diplomas and standing committees
are practically identical with the present law, the Committee
on Work and Lectures being the only one authorized at present
that was not in existence at the time referred to.

As has been fully set forth in the chapter devoted to the
meeting places of the Fraternity, the movement looking to the
erection of a new temple, originating in 1858, took definite
shape in 18645, an Act of Congress incorporating the Ma-
sonic Hall Association of the District of Columbia being
passed April 22, 1864, and the site at the corner of Ninth and
F Streets, N. W, subsequently purchased.

The accidental drowning, October 10, 1866, of Bro. W. C.
Parkhurst, Senior Grand Warden and one of the brightest of
our early chairmen of the Committee on Correspondence, cut
off a most promising career, and was universally deplored in
this and other jurisdictions where he was well known, and
robbed the local fraternity of one of its brilliant and useful
leaders.
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CHAPTER X.

A REAWAKENING.

CHARTERS ISSUED TO LODGES NoOs. 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, AND 25—
CITIZENSHIP AND JURISDICTION—RECEPTION TO
EARL, DE GRAY—DEATHS OF M. W. BROTHERS
GEORGE C. WHITING, BENJAMIN B. FRENCH,

ROGER C. WEIGHTMAN, J. E. F. HOL-

MEAD, CHARLES F. STANSBURY, AND
BRO. JAMES A. GARFIELD.

“Yet I doubt not thro the ages one increasing purpose runs
And the thoughts of men are widened with the process of the suns.”
—TENNYSON.

WITH THE CLOSE OF THE WAR a new era dawned upon the
City of Washington, an era of awakening, of rapid growth,
and of material prosperity, which naturally and inevitably
was shared by the Masonic Fraternity. The keynote of the
awakening was Hope, and it was eminently fitting, therefore,
that the founders of Lodge, No. 20, which was chartered May
7, 1867, and instituted the 28th of the same month, should
seek no further for an appropriate lodge designation. The
spirit of enthusiasm and optimism which inaugurated the en-
terprise and dictated the happy selection of a name has been
characteristic of the lodge in its subsequent history and has
brought it well up in the front rank of local Masonry. The
petition for a charter was signed by Bro. J. C. Kondrup and
thirty-five others, and the first report shows Bros. Henry V.

7
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Cole as W. M.; Samuel Houston, S. W., and William Mertz,
J. W, and a slight numerical gain.

The formation of the newly created Grand Royal Arch
Chapter of the District was taken cognizance of by the Grand
Lodge by a resolution to attend its constitution May 23, 1867,
which action is interesting in view of the wholly unwarranted
attitude sometimes assumed within symbolic circles of affect-
‘ing ignorance of all appendant Orders, which attitude, how-
ever, it is a pleasure to note, has never been pronounced in
this jurisdiction, the intercourse between the several allied
Orders of the System being marked by a spirit of comity as
unusual as it is satisfactory.

The cornerstone of the First Baptist Church of Georgetown,
D. C.,, was laid August 22, 1867; of a chapel and schoolhouse
belonging to the German Lutheran Congregation of George-
town September 2, and of the Island Baptist Church, in
South Washington, September 30.

An invitation to the Grand Lodge to be present and par-
ticipate in the laying of the cornerstone of a monument at
Sharpsburg, Md., September 17 of this year was accepted, but
there is no record of attendance as a body.

The death, September 4, 1867, of Grand Master George C.
Whiting was a serious blow to the Fraternity and marked the
passing of one of the bright particular stars of the local
Masonic world. The life, character, and work of this brilliant
Mason, the impress of whose individuality remains with us
to a marked degree, are fully set forth in other pages of this
work, the reading of which should prove an inspiration to
every Mason.

Two dedications of Masonic halls occurred in the year 1867,
that of the enlarged Naval Lodge Building, corner Fifth
Street and Virginia Avenue, S. E., October 17, and that of
Hiram Lodge room, on the northeast corner of Nineteenth
Street and Pennsylvania Avenue, N. W., December 5.

The peculiar condition which has always obtained in the
District of Columbia whereby a large percentage of the popu-
lation, while actually residing here, claimed and exercised
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legal citizenship in other jurisdictions, early gave rise to
numerous controversies relative to the extent to which this
or other interested jurisdictions might lay claim to such ma-
terial, and at this period, and even later, more or less sharp
and, indeed, acrimonious passages between the authorities
have resulted in consequence of this anomalous state of affairs.
Prior to the middle of the century the lines of jurisdiction
were not very jealously guarded, but with the advent of better
facilities of intercommunication the matter began to assume
some importance, and whereas before this time there was no
constitutional provision for a term of residence as a condition
precedent to application, the continued complaints of the
Grand Lodges feeling themselves aggrieved by our alleged
assumption of jurisdiction over material they considered their
own finally led to the adoption of the following provision,
which appears in the Constitution of 1864 :

Sec. 22. Every Lodge is prohibited from initiating, passing, or raising
any one not a citizen of this District, until due enquiry shall have been
made of the Lodge nearest his place of residence, and a sufficient time
allowed for an answer to be received under the seal of the Lodge ad-
dressed; Provided, That this is not designed to prohibit any person from
being initiated, passed, or raised, even after such due enquiry is made
and answer received, except the latter contains such tangible objections
as would of themselves operate in the case of a permanent citizen of this
jurisdiction.

This provision seems to have been adopted rather with a
view to safeguard the Fraternity here by reason of the tran-
sient character of the population than as an acknowledgment
of the right of the other jurisdictions in the premises, and,
indeed, this position was forcibly taken by Grand Master
Whiting during his incumbency; but this attitude was not
shared by all the thinkers of the Craft of that day, and in
1870 the section was amended to read as follows:

Sec. 22. Every Lodge is prohibited from initiating any one not a resi-
dent of this District for a period of twelve months, without first having
received the consent of the Lodge nearest his place of residence under seal.
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The years that have since elapsed have brought about a full
discussion between the jurisdictions of all the points involved,
and the District is now in line with the rest of the family in
this matter, as witness the provisions of the present Con-
stitution :

Sec. 91. No petition for the degrees shall be received from any one
who has not been a resident of the District of Columbia for the twelve
months next preceding its presentation except as provided by the follow-
ing section or by dispensation of the Grand Master; and if the petitioner
has been rejected for the degrees in another jurisdiction his petition
must be accompanied by a waiver of jurisdiction unless the period during
which jurisdiction is claimed has expired.

Sec. 92. A resident of this jurisdiction may apply for the degrees to a
Lodge of another jurisdiction when such Lodge is nearest his place of
residence than is any Lodge in the District of Columbia, provided that
the Grand Lodge of that jurisdiction grants the same privilege in like
cases to Lodges of this jurisdiction. But nothing in this section shall
be construed to abridge a requirement of twelve months’ residence either
in the District of Columbia or in the jurisdiction where the petitioner
resides.

The meaning of the word “resident,” however, is still, and
perhaps always will be, a legitimate source of contention be-
tween the Grand Lodge of the District and certain other Grand
Lodges the members of which refuse to recognize the unusual
conditions here, which have a very vital bearing upon the
interpretation of the word. Some instances of extensive
correspondence between the Grand Masters of this and other
jurisdictions on the subject justifies the belief that only with
the dawn of the Millenium will come the great white light
of understanding of how a man may vote and pay taxes in
one place and yet be a resident (for Masonic purposes) of
another bailiwick.

The public appearances of the Fraternity, aside from fu-
nerals, during the year 1868, consisted of the dedication of the
Monument to Lincoln at the head of John Marshall Place,
April 15, the laying of the cornerstone of the Metropolitan
Presbyterian Church, Capitol Hill, April 14, and that of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, South, Ninth Street and Mt.
Vernon Place, August 4.
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At the installation communication, December 28, 1868,
Grand Master French reported that he had granted a dis-
pensation for the formation of a new lodge, to be known as
“Anacostia Lodge,” in the suburb known as “Uniontown,”
and the petition, signed by Bro. W. H. Farrish and six others,
being presented at the same meeting, together with the recom-
mendation of Naval Lodge, No. 4, a charter was ordered to
issue to the new Lodge with the line number “21.” The
first returns show the above-named brother as Master, with
Bros. George H. Martin and Charles Wheeler, Senior and
Junior Wardens, respectively, and with a slightly enlarged
roster. 'This Lodge, working in one of the outlying sections,
has long since acquired a handsome home, and is one of the
solid institutions not only of the local Craft but of the town
of Anacostia (the present designation).

On the same evening of the granting of the above charter
a petition to hold a lodge in Georgetown, D. C,, to be known
as “ George Washington Lodge,” was presented, signed by
Bro. M. C. Causten and eighteen others. The Grand Master,
however, deprecating the use of the name “ George Wash-
ington” as likely to give rise to confusion, there being already
two lodges in the jurisdiction with the word “ Washington”
prefixed to their names, the suggestion was made that the
name “ Analostan” be substituted, but this not being agreed
to, the name as it now stands, “ George C. Whiting Lodge,
No. 22,” was, on motion of Bro. D. P. Searle, P. M. of Har-
mony Lodge, adopted and a charter ordered to issue accord-
ingly. The first return shows the names of Bros. S. Norris
Thorne as Master; Samuel C. Palmer (Grand Master, 1878),
as S. W, and H. M. De Hart, as J. W.,, and a substantial addi-
tion in membership. This Lodge has had a prosperous career,
and amicably shares the home of and delves in the same
field with Potomac Lodge, No. 5.

The institution of George C. Whiting occurred January
14, and that of Anacostia March 8, 1869, on the latter occa-
sion R. W. Bro. A. G. Mackey, P. Grand Secretary of South
Carolina, and a Masonic writer of world-wide repute, per-
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forming the ceremony, on the invitation of Grand Master
Donaldson.

At the semi-annual communication of May 4, 1869, a peti-
tion in regular form, signed by Bros. Joseph Daniels, J. W.
Griffin, L. G. Stephens, and fifty-four other Master Masons,
was received setting forth that they had been working under
a dispensation since February 8, preceding, and praying that
a charter be granted empowering them to open and hold a
lodge.to be known as ‘“ Pentalpha Lodge, No. 23,” and naming
the first three signers as Master and Senior and Junior War-
dens, respectively, and, on motion, the prayer of the peti-
tioners was granted, a charter issued, and on May 7, 1869,
the ceremony of institution was performed. The career of
this Lodge has been one of steady growth and prosperity.

The installation ceremony this year in the Grand Lodge
was notable both by reason of being public and also by reason
of being held in the lately completed Temple, Ninth and F
Streets, N. W. The Grand Lodge on that occasion met in the
parlors of the new building, and after the transaction of the
regular business proceeded in procession to the main hall,
where the installation was conducted by P. G. M. French, in
the presence of a large assemblage of the friends of the Fra-
ternity, the installation proper being preceded by an eloquent
oration by M. W. Bro. French, and concluded by an equally
eloquent one by Grand Master Donaldson.

On May 16, 1870, the foundation stone of the Steuben
Monument, at Washington Schuetzen Park, was laid by the
Grand Lodge. ’

While partly occupied before that date, the formal dedica-
tion of the new Temple took place May 20, 1870, on which
occasion the late Brother Ben: Perley Poore, of Massachu-
setts, a journalist of international reputation, delivered an
address, which is preserved in the printed proceedings of the
Grand Lodge, and is of surpassing interest to the thoughtful
Mason.

While the author has found it advisable, indeed necessary,
if reasonable limits were to be set to this work, to touch
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but lightly in these historical chapters upon the individuals
who came and wrought and passed on through the long years
of the century, leaving the details of their lives and char-
acters and services to the appended biographical sketches, yet
with all due deference to the abilities and accomplishments
of a long line of brilliant executives before and since, there
stands out against the background of the century one pre-
éminent figure, whose life was so closely interwoven with
that of the Fraternity, whose unequalled mind led and
moulded the policies of the local Craft for so many years,
and to whose wise guidance Masonry in this city owes its
position today, that we would be derelict indeed if we failed
to note the fact that, on August 12, 1870, the Father of
latter-day Masonry in the District of Columbia, Benjamin
Brown French, passed to his reward. As Grand Master,
Grand High Priest, Grand Master of Knights Templar of the
United States, Lt.-Grand Commander of the Supreme Coun-
cil A. and A. S. R, he served with signal ability; as a Masonic
jurist he ranked with Pike, Mackey, Morris, and Macoy; as a
scholar he was excelled by few; as a writer he was terse,
vigorous, and to the point, and as a public speaker he was
magnetic and powerful. Such a Colossus could not pass out
from among men without leaving a void, perhaps never to
be filled, and without being sincerely mourned, and today,
after the lapse of forty years, his memory is as green as in
that other generation when his illuminating presence was the
guiding star of Masonry in the District of Columbia. Truly,
his works do follow him.

By 1870 the question of the negro in Masonry was forcing
itself upon the attention of the Fraternity throughout the
country, and nowhere with more persistence than in the Dis-
trict of Columbia, the Mecca of the one-time slave immedi-
ately after the close of the Civil War. It is not within the
province of the author to enter into the matter of the origin
of the so-called lodges of African descent nor to rehearse
any of the arguments for or against their legitimacy. Suffice
it to say there are no recognized lodges of African descent in
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the District of Columbia, and therefore no question of recog-
nition has been nor can be raised under present conditions.

On the evening of April 10, 1871, one of the most memor-
able events in the history of the local Fraternity took place at
the Masonic Temple, the occasion being the formal reception
by the Grand Lodge of the Earl de Gray and Ripon, then
M. W. Grand Master of England, who was sojourning in
this city under commission from his Government in the matter
of certain outstanding claims between Great Britain and the
United States.

In addition to the special guest of the evening there were
present W. Bro. Lord Tenderden, of England, and a large
number of the Grand Masters of other jurisdictions. After
an address of welcome by the Grand Master, Bro. Charles
F. Stansbury, and an appropriate response by the Earl de
Gray, the Grand Lodge was called from labor to refreshment,
and in procession descended to the banquet hall which was
beautifully decorated, the prevailing medium being a lavish
use of the banners of the two countries.

Then ensued perhaps the most brilliant social function in
the history of the local Order. The elaborate banquet pro-
vided having been duly disposed of, the cloth was removed,
and, after the Grand Master had caused the hall to be purged
of all except Master Masons, a “ Table Lodge” was opened
in due form and the glasses charged for the regular toasts.
Lack of space forbids any quotations from the responses to
these, but they are of record, and, together with the testi-
mony of witnesses still with us, prove the occasion to have
been truly “a feast of reason and a flow of soul.”

These distinguished Englishmen frequently visited the sub-
ordinate lodges during their stay in this city, and, as stated
in the Chapter on “ Work,” exemplified the First Degree in
Pentalpha Lodge April 18, 1871, and the same evening the
Third in National Lodge, each according to the English
system. It is a matter of sincere' regret to note that within
a few years thereafter the Marquis of Ripon renounced
Masonry and embraced the Romish faith, an act received
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with mortification and dismay by the Craft on both sides of the
water.

The great fire at Chicago in October, 1871, called forth a
quick and generous contribution from the Fraternity here,
the sum of $3,334.90 being at once raised and conveyed to the
scene of the disaster by Grand Master Stansbury in person,
accompanied by the late Bro. N. B. Fugitt, an active worker in
the cause.

Of the sum turned over $765 was returned during the
following year, and became a special Library fund, as has al-
ready been mentioned.

The presentation of an oil portrait of the late Past Grand
Master French, March 8, 1871, and one of the late P. G. M.
Whiting, May 8, 1872, both from the brush of Bro. Max
Weyl, of St. John’s Lodge, the noted artist, proved the start-
ing point of a nearly complete gallery of portraits of P.
Grand Masters now hung conspicuously in the Library and
offices of the Temple.

August 25, 1872, witnessed the only cornerstone laying of
the years 1871-2—that of the Independent German Protestant
Church, Fifth Street between M and N Streets, N. W.

On October 30 of the same year the Grand Lodge dedicated
another hall for Hiram Lodge, No. 10, this time the present
site, on the southwest corner of Nineteenth Street and Penn-
sylvania Avenue, N. W. This lodge room was for a short
time used jointly by The New Jerusalem, Hope, and Hiram
Lodges, but shortly after the dedication Hope moved to the
new Temple, and was soon followed by The New Jerusalem.

In the early part of 1873 Grand Master Stansbury granted
a dispensation to certain Brethren in Brightwood, D. C., to
hold a lodge to be known as * Stansbury,” the designation
being used in spite of his earnest protest. This live coterie
of Masons, while yet under dispensation, began the erection
of a hall, then and now known as “ Brightwood Hall,” the
cornerstone of which was laid by the Grand Lodge June 30,
1873.

At the annual communication of the same year a petition



106 HISTORY OF FREEMASONRY

was presented to the Grand Lodge for a charter, signed by
Bro. George W. Balloch, a distinguished General of the Civil
War, Bros. Benjamin D. Carpenter, William W. Cowling,
and six others, those named being nominated as Master and
S. and J. Wardens, respectively. The charter was granted,
with the line number 24, the new lodge instituted December
17, 1873, and the new Hall dedicated February 26, 1874.
Occupying an isolated field to the north of the city, this Lodge
at once justified its formation, and has steadily grown in
numbers and influence. ;

In the year 1873 the Fraternity was especially active in
relieving the distress incident to the scourge of yellow fever
at Memphis and Shreveport, the sum of $1,789.50 being sub-
scribed for that purpose, and transmitted to the proper agen-
cies, and in the latter part of the following year $523.46 was
contributed for the relief of the Mississippi flood sufferers.
The sum of $120 was in the same manner turned over to
brethren in Kansas in distress through the failure of the
crops in 1875.

As the log of a vessel sailing over smooth seas and under
cloudless skies contains but little information, and only be-
comes voluminous when beset by storm and disaster, so the
Masonic record during the period of calm now ensuing offers
little of moment or interest to the reader. For eight years
but one cornerstone laying was conducted by the Fraternity,
that of All Souls’ Church, Fourteenth and L, Streets, N. W,
June 27, 1877. It was a period of comparative lassitude, in-
difference, and stagnation in growth, and the Grand Lodge,
as usual under such conditions, frequently suffered financi-
ally, and was more than once forced into borrowing money
to meet necessary expenses, and finally found it necessary, in
1877, to levy a pro rata assessment upon the subordinate
lodges to raise the sum of $800.

Death claimed two Past Grand Masters in 1876, the first,
Bro. Roger C. Weightman (1833), closing his long and
honorable Masonic career of sixty-five years February 2 of
that year, and the second, Bro. J. E. F. Holmead (1864), who
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passed. away October 19, 1876, the first in his eighty-ninth
year and the latter in his forty-second year, the one full of
years and honor, the other cut off in the very zenith of an
unusually brilliant career. Both lives are treated in detail
elsewhere in these pages.

In spite of the general apathy in Masonic circles, on July
10, 1876, a dispensation was granted Bros. H. H. Gerdes,
J. C. Hesse, Hugo Eichholtz, and thirteen other Master
Masons, authorizing them to open a lodge and confer the
three degrees in the German language, and at the annual
communication in November succeeding a charter was issued,
and Arminius Lodge, No. 25, entered the family circle with
the three brethren named as the first officers in the order
given. The ceremony of the constitution and consecration
took place November 27, 1876, and the new Lodge immedi-
ately entered upon a career of unbroken prosperity. The
German language is still used exclusively in the lodge room,
which, despite that fact, is one of the most popular in the
jurisdiction.

The handsome sum of $1,552.20 was raised for the yellow-
fever sufferers of the South in 1878.

By the year 1880 financial conditions in the Grand Lodge
were so much improved that, upon the recommendation of
a committee headed by the late M. W. Bro. Noble D. Larner,
a start was made toward having the old records printed in
volumes of uniform size to those of later years, and this
work, tho halted by lack of funds subsequently, was finally
completed, and while the long neglect had resulted in the
loss of some of the material, yet reasonably satisfactory re-
ports for the greater part of the period of the existence of the
Grand Lodge are thus permanently preserved, and this result
is largely due to the indefatigable labors of the late Bro.
William R. Singleton, to whose life-long interest this juris-
diction owes so much. '

August 1, 1881, the cornerstone of the Tabernacle, Ninth,
near B Street, S. W., was laid according to the ancient usage,
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and November 9 of the same year the Anacostia Hall was
formally dedicated.

The circumstances of the assassination, suffering, and death
of the late Bro. James A. Garfield, then President of the
United States, during this year were subjects of the deepest
concern to the Fraternity here, as he was a charter member of
Pentalpha Lodge and was on its rolls at the time of his death,
and was also on the rolls of Columbia Chapter, R. A. M,,
in which chapter he had received the cryptic as well as the
capitular Degrees. He was in addition a member of Co-
lumbia Commandery, K. T., and had received the fourteenth
degree in Mithras Lodge of Perfection, A. and A. S. R, of
this city. Probably the most active Mason locally that has
ever filled the Presidential chair, he had to an unusual degree
endeared himself to the Craft, and by his example doubtless
exercised a large influence in awakening a new enthusiasm
which was shortly to bear fruit.

In connection with the death of Bro. Garfield the following
self-explanatory paper was received through the State De-
partment, and subsequently acknowledged in proper form by
our own Grand Lodge:

FreeMasoN’s Harr, LoNpon,
12th December, 1881.
To His Excellency, the Honourable J. RusseN Lowell, Minister Plenipo-

tentiary from the United States of America at the Court of St.
James.
Sir:

I have the honor to inform your Excellency that at a general meeting
of the Grand Lodge of Free and Accepted Masons of England, held here
on the 7th instant, it was proposed by His Royal Highness, the Prince
of Wales, K. G. Grand Master of the Order, seconded by the Right Hon-
ourable Lord Tenderden, K. C. B., and carried unanimously: That the
Grand Lodge of England should place on record their deep regret at the
calamity which has recently befallen their brethren in the United States
of America by the untimely death from the hands of an assassin of their
late illustrious and lamented Brother, General James Abram Garfield, the
President of that Republic, and that the Grand Lodge are desirous of
offering the tribute of their condolence with and deep sympathy for the
widow and family of their distinguished Brother in the heavy bereave-
ment with which it has pleased the Almighty to visit them.

I am, therefore, commanded by His Royal Highness, The Grand
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Master, to notify the same for Your Excellency’s attention, and to request
that Your Excellency will be so good as to cause the same to be trans-
mitted to the proper quarters.

The Prince of Wales desires to take this opportunity of expressing
personally, as Grand Master, his own fraternal regrets on the occasion
and his sorrow that a life so valuable to his country, to his family, and
to his Brethren, should have been thus wantonly sacrificed.

I have the honour to remain,

Your Excellency’s Most obedient Servant,
SeapwiLL H. CLERKE, Colosnel,
Grand Secretary United Grand Lodge of England.

In the early days of 1882 the Fraternity, not only of this
jurisdiction but of the country at large, was called upon to
mourn the death of P. G. Master Charles Frederick Stans-
bury, which occurred January 31 of that year. As Grand
Master in 1862 and again from 1871 to 1874, inclusive, his
influence upon the Order, by reason of his valuable contri-
butions to Masonic literature and jurisprudence, his culti-
vated intellect, his devotion to duty, and his noble efforts for
the good of the Fraternity was invaluable and far reaching,
while his cultured, refined, conscientious, and unselfish char-
acter endeared him to every one with whom he came in con-
tact. With his demise a. great leader passed from the field
of action.

January 10, 1883, was the date of the adoption of the one-
ballot system by the Grand Lodge which is the law today and
which has been earnestly advocated for years by many influ-
ential brethren.

The custom established by Grand Master Donaldson of
having a lecture delivered at each visitation and the lecturer
selected by the Grand Master was this year, by the example
of then incumbent of the office, M. W. Bro. E. H. Chamber-
lain, changed by placing the selection of speakers in the hands
of the several lodges, and this custom, with a still wider lati-
tude in the character of the entertainment offered, obtains to
this day.

In 1884 the Grand Lodge, for the first time in many years
finding itself in good financial condition, and recognizing the
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great labor entailed upon the Chairman of the Committee on
Correspondence, appropriated $150 for the past services of
that brother (the late Wm. R. Singleton), and adopted a stand-
ing resolution to pay annually $50 for this work.

May 23, 1884, the cornerstone of the Washington Light
Infantry Armory and Opera House was laid with considerable
ceremony, the escort of Knights Templar including all the
local Commanderies and Richmond Commandery, No. 1, of
Richmond, Va.

The numerical strength of the Fraternity in the District
this year reached 3,005, the decade of stagnation preceding
having shown practically no gain, but the growth from this
time to the present, with the exception of an occasional tem-
porary lapse, has been steady, and in the later years remark-
able.

In March, 1884, the Grand Lodge was the recipient of a
photographic reproduction from the Grand Lodge of Penn-
sylvania of the famous “Liber B,” being a copy of the
original book of St. John’s Lodge, Free and Accepted Masons,
of Philadelphia, Pa., dated June 24, A. D. 1731, as far as
known the earliest authentic Masonic record in this country.
It is on file in the Grand Lodge Library, and is accessible to the
interested student.
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CHAPTER XI.

THE NEW ERA.

DEDICATION OF WASHINGTON MONUMENT—CHARTERS TO
LODGES NOS. 26, 27, 28, 29, AND 30—DEATHS OF P. G.
MASTER NOBLE D. LARNER AND GRAND SECRETARY
WILLIAM R. SINGLETON—MAKING A MASON
‘“ON SIGHT”—THE ALBERT PIKE STATUE.

“The weight of the universe is pressed down on the shoulders of each
moral agent to hold him to his task. The only path of escape known in
all the worlds of God is performance; you must do your work before you
shall be released.”—EMERSON,

By FAR the most important event of the year 1885, or,
indeed, of many years, in local Masonry was the participation
of the Fraternity in the dedication of the Washington Monu-
ment. This great work, which had halted early in its career,
owes its final completion largely to the efforts of the Masonic
brethren of this and other jurisdictions, who, through the long
period of inaction, persistently worked toward that end.

The preparations for the event gave rise to a situation which
led to the reiteration by the then Grand Master, M. W. Bro.
M. M. Parker, of the principle adhered to for some years and
previously mentioned, that the Fraternity might not take part
in any public function in which no Masonic work was required
of it. 'The story, in brief, follows: The first invitation ex-
tended by the Joint Congressional Commission on Dedication
assigned to the Masons a prominent and distinctive part in
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the ceremony and was satisfactory. Later, however, the Com-
mission decided to curtail the ceremony to one oration, but
offered to give the Fraternity “a position of honor in the
line.” Grand Master Parker replied that “the practice of
Masonry was not to swell processions,” and declined to invite
the Grand Lodge, and, altho importuned by prominent officials,
continued to reaffirm that *“ under no circumstances could the
Grand Lodge be induced to depart from its ancient customs.”
At a later date the Joint Commission invited the Grand Master
to meet with it, when the matter was thoroughly gone over,
with the result that an invitation was received and accepted by
the Grand Lodge to take part in the ceremonies and active
steps were at once taken to make the occasion a notable one.
Circular letters were sent to all the Grand Lodges of the United
States and those foreign grand bodies with which we were in
fraternal correspondence and suitable arrangements made for
Knight Templar escort and entertainment.

On the date set, February 21, 18835, the Grand Lodge met in
special session in the main hall of the Temple, with an
unusual number of brethren in attendance, including repre-
sentatives from the Grand Lodges of Massachusetts, Pennsyl-
vania, New York, Delaware, North Carolina, Virginia, New
Hampshire, California, Tennessee, Maryland, West Virginia,
and Illinois. )

Escorted by the Knights Templar and Royal Arch Masons
of the District, lodges from Delaware, Virginia, and New
York, and delegations in force from each of the lodges of this
jurisdiction, the Grand Lodge proceeded to the Monument in
orderly Masonic formation, where, after an invocation by
Rev. Mr. Suter and an address by the late W. W. Corcoran,
the full Masonic ceremony of dedication was performed ac-
cording to usage.

Following this ceremony Grand Master Parker delivered a
striking eulogy upon the life and character of the illustrious
Washington, in the course of which he took occasion to refer
to and display the following interesting relics: The gavel
used by Washington at the laying of the cornerstone of the
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Capitol ; the Bible, belonging to Fredericksburg Lodge, No. 4,
of Virginia, upon which he took his first Masonic vows; the
Bible, belonging to St. John’s Lodge, No. 1, of New York,
upon which he took the oath of office as the first President
of the United States; the Great Light, belonging to Alexan-
dria-Washington Lodge, No. 22, of Alexandria, Va., upon
which he, as Master of that lodge, received the vows of
initiates; the apron worn by him, which was wrought by
Madame LaFayette; a lock of his hair, presented by Mrs.
Washington to the Grand Lodge of Massachusetts and encased
in a golden urn, the gift of the late Bro. Paul Revere, and a
candle, one of the Lesser Lights used at the funeral exercises
at Mt. Vernon in 1799.

Immediately after the ceremonies the visiting brethren who
desired to leave the city were escorted to Marini’s Hall, in E
Street, N. W., where ample refreshments were served.

At 8 o’clock the same evening, the distinguished visitors
were the guests of the Grand Lodge at a reception in the
parlors of the Riggs House, and later at an elaborate banquet.
The responses to the various toasts proposed, which were un-
usually numerous, have been preserved and make interesting
reading.

In May, 1887, the Grand Lodge took a prominent part in
the Centennial Anniversary celebration of our mother, the
Grand Lodge of Maryland. On the 12th of that month, in
accordance with previous invitation and arrangement, the
twenty-one lodges of the District assembled at the Temple, at
8 A. M., to the number of 1,370, clad in dark clothes, silk
hats, and new lamb-skin aprons. It may safely be asserted
in this connection that never before nor since has the Frater-
nity presented so uniform and dignified a public appearance.
A procession being formed, this large company proceeded to
the B. and O. station, where a special train of four sections
conveyed them to the Monumental City, and upon their arrival
there they were assigned to a prominent place in the procession
and other ceremonies of the day. A bronze souvenir of the
occasion was presented to each visiting brother, and every

8
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effort put forth by the Masons of Baltimore to fittingly en-
tertain their guests, their hospitality culminating in a great
banquet in the evening at which the District was well repre-
sented. It is proper to note that P. G. M. Parker and W.
Bro. Sherwood were honored on the occasion by being placed
on the staff of the Marshal-in-Chief of the Grand Lodge of
Maryland.

On June 7, 1888, the cornerstone of the Scottish Rite Cathe-
dral, 1007 G Street, N. W., was laid by the Grand Lodge, and
the service of dedication of the new part of the Sanctuary
performed October 9 of the same year.

The only other public appearance of 1888 was on the occa-
sion of the laying of the corperstone of the Fifth Baptist
Church, Four-and-a-Half, near N Street, S. W.

A notable improvement, which can well be appreciated by
the majority of local Masons, was the installation during this
year in the Temple, Ninth and F Streets, of what was termed
‘“a very fine elevator,” and the characterization was appar-
ently not intended to be facetious.

October 14, 1889, was the date of the laying of the corner-
stone of St. Mark’s Lutheran Church, C and Twelfth Streets.
S. W,, the only public function of the year.

At the communication of November 13, 1889, the question
of the proposed erection of a *“ Washington Masonic Memorial
Temple” at Fredericksburg, Va., was laid before the Grand
Lodge, and the sum of $500 was appropriated as a contribu-
tion toward the project, to be paid in three annual installments.
This appropriation was predicated upon the subscription of the
entire amount required, $100,000, and, not being available until
that had been assured, still remains in the treasury. It is
proper to state, however, that within the last few years new
life has been injected into the project, and possible success
may ultimately crown the effort, the year 1908 showing an
accumulated fund of over $9,000, which has been largely in-
creased since that time through systematic effort.

Upon a petition bearing thirty-seven names, Grand Master
James A. Sample, on January 13, 1890, granted a dispensation
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to open a lodge to be known as “ Osiris,” and at the ensuing
communication of the Grand Lodge, May 14, a charter was
issued to Osiris Lodge, No. 26. The first officers named were
Bros. Wm. Oscar Roome, W. M.; Landon Cabell Williamson,
S. W, and Alonzo Joel Marsh, J. W. The birth of this lodge
was attended with some feeling. Most of the charter mem-
bers coming from Centennial Lodge, the latter, for what
seemed good reasons, formally protested against the issuance
of a charter, but at the resumed communication May 21 with-
drew the protest, and was most active in extending felicita-
tions to the new lodge on the occasion of its constitution the
same evening, and it is needless to add that the most amicable
relations have ever since existed between the two lodges.

The cornerstone of the new building of Anacostia Lodge,
No. 21, was laid July 2, 1890, and the dedication of the hall
followed, November 4, of the same year.

At the semi-annual communication of the Grand Lodge,
May 18, 1891, Grand Master Thos. F. Gibbs reported having
granted a dispensation, March 12, preceding, to Bro. James
Eldridge Burns and thirty-one others to form a lodge in the
northeastern section, and a formal petition, signed by thirty-
four brethren, being received the same evening, a charter was
granted to open and hold a lodge to be known as “ Myron M.
Parker Lodge, No. 27,” the above-named brother being nomi-
nated to be the first Master, and Bros. A. K. Lind and V. A.
Hubbard, S. W. and J. W., respectively. The lodge was
regularly consecrated and constituted May 21, 1891, in a build-
ing on the southwest corner of Third and H Streets, N. E., and
occupying, as it does, an exclusive and somewhat isolated
" field, has enjoyed an unusual degree of prosperity, and well
justified its formation.

The second meeting place of the Lodge, at the corner of
I and Eighth Streets, N. E., was dedicated by the Grand
Lodge March 22, 1893, and the third, at the corner of H and
Twelfth Streets, N. E., in 1897.

As a matter of interest, while on the subject of this lodge,
it may be stated that at the installation communication of the
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same year Bro. J. E. Burns, having served as the Master of
the Lodge from the date of the charter to the close of the
Masonic year, was, by resolution of the Grand Lodge, declared
a Past Master of Myron M. Parker Lodge and a member of
the Grand Lodge, the only instance of the kind, so far as the
author has been able to discover, in this jurisdiction.

The custom, now well established, of taking part in no
public function without the performance of Masonic work,
was again given prominence in 1893 by the declination of the
Grand Lodge to take part in the ceremonies incident to the
celebration of the one hundredth anniversary of the laying
of the cornerstone of the Capitol Building, which occurred
September 18 of that year. The original invitation to the
Grand Lodge from the committee in charge offered space at
the Capitol to the Fraternity for the performance of such cere-
monies as might be appropriate, and in addition assigned to it
the right of line in the parade, and was laid before the Grand
Lodge at a special communication held July 26, 1893. A
resolution to accept the invitation gave rise to considerable
debate, and the whole matter was referred to a committee, to
report at a special communication to be called by the Grand
Master. In pursuance of this decision a meeting was called
August 11, at which the report of the committee was received,
and the fact developed that the proposed celebration had not
as yet been sanctioned by Congress. In view of this condition
of the affair and the reasonable doubt as to the character
of the work which might properly be done on the occasion,
the Grand Lodge declined to participate, but offered to take
the matter under respectful consideration should conditions
change. And there the incident closed.

September 11 and 12, 1893, were marked by a series of
unusually elaborate and successful events commemorative of
the one hundredth birthday of Federal Lodge, No. 1, includ-
ing, on the first evening, a brilliant reception at the old Temple,
attended by some 500 members, ladies, and invited guests, at
which a musical and literary program of merit was presented.
refreshments served, and dancing indulged in, and on the
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second evening, a strictly Masonic banquet at the Ebbitt
House.

September 22, 1893, Grand Master L. Cabell Williamson,
upon proper petition granted a dispensation to sundry brethren
to organize a lodge to be held at Brookland, D. C., Myron M.
Parker Lodge vouching for the Masonic ability and moral
character of the petitioners, and at the annual communication,
November 8, a petition signed by Bros. Thomas G. Carmick,
George F. Erdman, William H. Stalee, and nine others, being
regularly presented, a charter was granted to “ King David
Lodge, No. 28,” the three brethren above mentioned becoming
the first three officers in the order named. On the 5th of the
following month the lodge was duly instituted, at once be-
came the center of Masonic activity in that thriving suburb,
and entered upon a career of prosperity and growth that has
given it an enviable place in the local Masonic family.

As early as September 20, 1893, a movement to fittingly
observe the centennial of the death of Washington, December
14, 1899, was started by the Grand Lodge of Colorado, which
issued a circular on the subject and requested the coGperation
of all the Grand Lodges. Our own Grand Lodge at once
responded by appointing a member of the general committee.
It is a matter of regret that the ambitious design of uniting
all the Grand Lodges in the effort was not successful, tho the
celebration, very properly under the direction of the Grand
Lodge of Virginia, was a most creditable one, and is treated
of in its chronological place.

July 24, 1894, occurred one of the most imposing Masonic
public appearances of the period, the occasion being the laying
of the cornerstone of the Naval Lodge Building, Fourth Street
and Pennsylvania Avenue, S. E. The ceremonies were pre-
ceded by a procession from the Temple, Ninth and F Streets,
N. W, to the above site, of all the Commanderies of Knights
Templar of the city, the Marine Band, large representations
from each of the sister lodges, and the Grand Lodge, the
latter, it may be remarked parenthetically, on foot. After
the usual ceremonies, which were accompanied by appropriate
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music by the band and vocal selections by a choir of male
voices, the oration of the occasion was delivered by P. G. M.
L. C. Williamson.

At the semi-annual communication held May 8, 1895, a pe-
tition in proper form was received from twenty-five brethren
praying for a charter to open and hold a lodge in Takoma
Park, D. C., to be known as Takoma Lodge, No. 29, and nomi-
nating Bro. Wilmer G. Platt to be the first Master; Bro.
Francis J. Woodman, the first Senior Warden, and Bro.
Theodore F. Willis, the first Junior Warden. The charter
was granted, permission given the new lodge to continue
meeting in the Odd Fellows’ lodge room at the Park, and
later in the month the ceremony of constitution was conducted
by the Grand Lodge. The history of this lodge, occupying,
like King David Lodge, an exclusive tho somewhat limited
field, has been one of unbroken prosperity, and its establish-
ment proven to have been a wise move.

The newly-completed and very handsome edifice erected
by Naval Lodge, No. 4, was dedicated June 6, 1895, and this
progressive lodge entered upon the occupancy of one of the
largest and most beautiful lodge rooms perhaps in this country.

The only cornerstone laying of the year 1895 was that of
the Fifteenth Street M. E. Church, corner Fifteenth and R
Streets, N. W., which occurred October 8, while the following
year boasted of two—that of Trinity M. E. Church, Fifth
and C Streets, S. E., on September 9, and that of the American
University, at Wesley Heights, D. C., October 21, 1896,
which number was still further increased in 1897, that of the
North Carolina M. P. Church occurring February 235 that of
the Hebrew Temple, Eighth Street, N. W., September 186,
and that of the Christian Church, Ninth and D Streets, N. E.,
September 18, 1897. But two more ceremonies of this char-
acter fell within the cenfury: The cornerstone laying of the
Douglas Memorial Church, Eleventh and H Streets, N. E,,
October 18, 1898, and that of the Gay Street Baptist Church,
corner Thirty-first and N Streets, N. W, July 1, 1899.

During the spring of 1898 the first of a series of mammoth
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fairs to aid in the erection of a new Temple, a project now
taking definite and promising shape, was held with marked
financial success, and together with all matters relating to the
movement is treated in detail in a special chapter.

The following data, taken from the original papers and
minutes of B. B. French Lodge, No. 15, and certified to by
the Secretary, W. Bro. E. St. Clair Thompson, sufficiently
covers an interesting and unusual incident, the making of
Admiral Schley:

The petition for the degrees of Masonry of Winfield Scott Schley was
regularly received by Benjamin B. French Lodge, No. 15, F. A. A, M,,
at its stated communication of October 16, 1899, and was referred to
Brothers D. C. Morrison, Harry C. Whiting, W. H. Doe, as a committee
of investigation.

Admiral Schley was then under orders to proceed with the South
Atlantic Squadron to the waters of South America.

The Master of the Lodge, Brother Alexander Grant, then requested of
the Grand Master, Brother J. Henry Small, Jr., authority to ballot and
confer the degrees on Admiral Schley at a special communication of the
Lodge.

Under date of October 19, 1899, Most Worshipful Brother Small
granted the request as follows (citing the Grand Lodge Constitution as
his authority for so doing) :

“1 hereby request and authorize you to call a special communication of
your Lodge for the purpose of conferring upon Rear Admiral Winfield S.
Schley, for me as Grand Master of Masons of the District of Columbia,
the degrees of Entered Apprentice, Fellow Craft and Master Mason, at
such times as his convenience may permit

“I will be present in your Lodge at the time the degrees are conferred.”

On October 21, 1899, the Lodge was called in special communication for
the purpose of balloting on the petition and conferring the degrees. A
unanimously favorable report of the committee was presented, at which
time the Grand Master directed “that the taking of the ballot be dis-
pensed with.”

The Entered Apprentice Degree was conferred by E. St. Clair Thomp-
son, Senior Warden of the Lodge;

The Fellow Craft degree was conferred by James T. Gibbs, Junior
Warden of the Lodge;

The Master Mason degree was conferred by Alexander Grant, Master
of the Lodge.

On October 26, 1899, the Grand Master filed the following certificate
with the Lodge:
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“I hereby certify that on the evening of October 21, 1889, by the high
power in me vested, and under the old regulations of Freemasonry of
1721, and the Constitution of the Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia,
Article VI, Section 2, I did confer upon Brother Winfield Scott Schley
the degrees of Entered Apprentice, Fellow Craft, and Master Mason in
Benjamin B. French Lodge, No. 15, and an{ Lodge within the jurisdiction
of the Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia is hereby authorized to
receive this certificate in lieu of the usual dimit.

“J. H. SMaLL, Jr.,
“ Grand Master.

“ Attest:
“Wu. R. SINGLETON,
[sEAL.] “Grand Secretary.”

On November 6, 1899, Brother Schley filed a petition for affiliation with
the Lodge, which was balloted on the same evening, and the petitioner
was declared duly elected to membership in the lodge.

December 14, 1899, occurred the observance of the centen-
nial of the death of Washington, to which allusion has pre-
viously been made. The affair was under the direction of
the Grand Lodge of Virginia, and the members of the Fra-
ternity from this jurisdiction were present as guests. On the
morning of that day a procession of several thousand Master
Masons was formed on F Street, between Ninth and Four-
teenth Streets, N. W., and proceeded to the Seventh Street
wharf, where steamers were taken to Mt. Vernon. The cere-
monies there were as nearly as possible identical with those
at the funeral one hundred years before, and were of the most
impressive character. The address of the occasion was made
by the late Bro. William McKinley, then President of the
United States. The same evening a reception and buffet
luncheon was given by the Grand Lodge of Virginia at Wil-
lard’s Hotel, this city, to Master Masons and their families,
which was largely attended. While only participating as
guests the local Fraternity took a lively interest in the affair,
and the lambskin or white leather apron deposited by the
Grand Master of this jurisdiction upon the sarcophagus was
subsequently presented, handsomely framed, to this Grand
Lodge, by Grand Master Duke, of Virginia, on behalf of the
Grand Lodge of that State, the presentation being a most
appreciative and eloquent tribute to the brethren of the Dis-
trict, and the speech of acceptance by Grand Master Wm. G.
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Henderson, an equally felicitous acknowledgment of the honor
conferred, characterizing the gift as *“ an indissoluble bond of
brotherly love between the Masons of Virginia and the Masons
of the District of Columbia.”

On February 23, 1901, Bro. William Reynolds Singleton,
Masonic writer, jurist, and scholar, and for many years Grand
Secretary of the Grand Lodge of the District of Columbia,
passed away at an advanced age. While an extended sketch
of his life and works is found in other pages of this work,
it is deemed a fitting tribute to his unusual worth to chronicle
his death as an event by which this jurisdiction suffered a
loss greater, perhaps, than that involved in the passing of any
other one man in this jurisdiction, P. G. Master French alone
excepted. A handsome monument, the tribute of his brethren
in this jurisdiction, marks his last resting place in Oak Hill
Cemetery, and in his report to the Grand Lodge the Chairman
of the Special Committee, P. G. Master Standiford, thus de-
scribes it:

The monument consists of a pedestal of dark polished granite resting
upon a granite base and surmounted by a bronze bust of our deceased
brother, the base and pedestal being adorned with appropriate symbols
and allegorical figures in bronze, and the sides bearing inscriptions in
raised bronze letters, setting forth the date and place of birth and of
death of Bro. Singleton, the office which he held in the Grand Lodge,
and that the monunient is erected by his brethren. The monument stands
about nine feet in height, and was designed and executed by the cele-
brated sculptor, U. S. J. Dunbar, of this city. It is most artistic in both
conception and execution, and in keeping with the purity of life and
conduct and the many noble traits of character of him who with high
scholarly attainments served this Grand Lodge so faithfully and ably for
so many years, and is in every way a fitting tribute to his memory by his
brethren of the Craft, who so deeply mourn his loss.

The monument was formally dedicated July 25, 1903, under
unusually impressive conditions.

At the semi-annual communication of May 8, 1901, a pe-
tition was received from Bros. Frank H. Thomas, Isaac E.
Shoemaker, Samuel O. Wendel and thirty-two others, praying
for a charter to open and hold a lodge at Tenley, D. C., to
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be known as William R. Singleton Lodge, No. 30, and nomi-
nating the brethren named above as the first three officers
in the order given, and the charter being at once granted,
the Grand Lodge, on the 28th of the same month, repaired
to the meeting place, dedicated the hall, constituted the lodge,
and installed the officers. The field thus occupied, an isolated
suburb, has proven a fertile one, and the progressive char-
acter of the membership has so improved the opportunities
that No. 30 is already in the full tide of vigorous youth, and,
with the rapid growth of the population in that direction, has
before it an unusually promising future.

The cornerstone of their present building in Tenleytown,
D. C, was laid November 19, 1908, and its dedication
occurred.

September 26, 1901, the cornerstone of the Christian and
Eleanora Ruppert Home, a benevolent institution, founded
on a bequest of the late Bro. Christian Ruppert, and located
near Anacostia, D. C., was laid in ancient form.

On the 23d of the following month the Grand Lodge, under
the escort of Orient Commandery, No. 5, K. T., and a large
number of Masons, proceeded in procession from Ninth and
F Streets to the intersection of D Street and Indiana Avenue,
N. W, and joined with the Supreme Council of the Ancient
and Accepted Scottish Rite for the Southern Jurisdiction in
dedicating the handsome bronze statue of the late Bro. Albert
Pike, erected at that point by the latter body. The statue
was unveiled by Bro. Henry L. Palmer, Grand Commander,
and Bro. Josiah H. Drummond, P. G. C., of the Supreme
Council of the Northern Jurisdiction; Bro. James D. Rich-
ardson, Grand Commander of the Supreme Council of the
Southern Jurisdiction, and Bro. Raphael de Zayas Enriquez,
of the Supreme Council of Mexico. After the dedicatory
exercises by the Grand Lodge the monument was formally
delivered to the Commissioners of the District of Columbia
by the late Bro. Frederick Webber, Secretary-General, on
behalf of the Supreme Council, and received on behalf of the
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District by Hon. H. B. F. Macfarland, Commissioner, in
appropriate addresses.

During the year now closing the aggregate membership of
the several blue lodges had passed the 6,000 mark and num-
bered 6,257, showing the very substantial increase of 366
over the report of 1900.

The Masonic event of 1902 was the second great fair
for the benefit of the new Temple fund, which was held in
April of that year, and which is more fully enlarged upon in
another chapter.

The celebration of the 150th anniversary of the initiation
of W. Bro. George Washington, at Philadelphia, November
5, 1902, probably one of the most notable gatherings ever
held within tiled walls, was attended by the Deputy Grand
Master, the late Bro. George H. Walker, P. G. Master George
W. Baird, and a delegation from Potomac Lodge, No. 5, of
this city, bearing the famous Washington gavel, all of whom
were the recipients of the most courteous treatment during
their sojourn in our neighboring city.

. The year 1902 marked the installation of the card-index
system in the office of the Grand Secretary. The labor of
bringing the system up to date was a strenuous task, but is
now practically completed, and with the current additions
forms an invaluable record, which is safe-guarded by being
permanently placed in a fireproof vault in the new Temple. It
is proper to state that a similar index has been prepared of
the Royal Arch Masons of the District, and is in the custody
of the Grand Secretary of the Grand Chapter of that body.

February 21, 1903, occurred a most memorable public cere-
mony, that attendant upon the laying of the cornerstone of
the War College in the grounds of the Washington Barracks.
The Grand Lodge, escorted by Washington Commandery,
No. 1, K. T, and headed by the Second Cavalry Band, pro-
ceeded to the site and occupied the place reserved for them
in the midst of a vast concourse, including the President of
the United States, Bro. Theodore Roosevelt, the Cabinet,
U. S. Senators and Representatives, members of the Diplo-
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matic Corps, the District Commissioners, and other invited
guests, among whom were a large number of ladies. After
addresses by the President, Hon. Elihu Root, Secretary of
War, and Gen. S. B. M. Young, President of the War College,
and an invocation by the Acting Grand Chaplain, Rev. Bro.
Daniel W. Skellenger, the Grand Lodge took charge, and con-
ducted the formal ceremony according to ancient usage, upon
the conclusion of which an appropriate address was delivered
by the then Grand Master, M. W. Bro. George H. Walker.

The death of P. G. Master Noble Danforth Larner, which
occurred March 19, 1903, removed from Masonic circles a
brilliant and indefatigable worker, and one who, as Grand
Master in 1881 and 1882, and as Grand High Priest of this
jurisdiction and G. G. High Priest of the United States, left the
impress of his intellect and indomitable energy not only upon
the District of Columbia, where he was for years a potential
force in business, social, and religious life, but upon the Frater-
nity generally, his reputation being national. The greatest
monument to his busy life was the old Temple, Ninth and F
Streets, N. W., for to him more than to any other one individ-
ual must be given the credit of the inception and ultimately suc-
cessful termination of that enterprise.

On June 27, 1903, the cornerstone of the handsome new
Foundry Church, Sixteenth and Madison Streets, N. W., was
laid by the Grand Lodge, the escort on this occasion being
Columbia Commandery, No. 2, K. T.

A rather interesting point during the year grew out of the
request of Gen. Anson Mills, U. S. A. (Retired), that the
Grand Lodge lay the cornerstone of the Navy Department
Annex, Seventeenth Street and Pennsylvania Avenue, N. W.
General Mills, in anticipation of favorable consideration of
his request, had invited a large number of public officials and
made other arrangements for the occasion, but upon the fact
being brought to the attention of Grand Master Walker that
the building was owned by a private individual, and the
further fact that the stone to be laid was not in reality a
cornerstone, but simply the plinth in one of the columns of
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the portico, he courteously declined to permit the Grand Lodge
to participate, on the ground that the constitution of that
body only permitted the laying of cornerstones of public
buildings, and while, in view of the use to which the building
was to be put, this point might be waived, the further fact
of its being in no sense a cornerstone, the building proper
having already been erected, precluded the use of a ritual
filled with references to the “ future edifice,” and predicated
upon a presumption that the stone was a part of the actual
foundation.

By the end of 1903 another thousand mark had been
passed, and the lodge membership footed up 7,064.

Aside from the occasions when the last rites were held over
the remains of deceased brethren, among whom, in the year
1904, were Rev. Bro. Claudius B. Smith, for twenty-three
years Grand Chaplain of the Grand Lodge of the District, and
P. G. Master Malcolm Seaton, the Grand Lodge appeared
in public during that year three times, officiating at as many
cornerstone, layings—that of Memorial Continental Hall
Seventeenth and D Streets, N. W., April 19; Mt. Pleasant
M. E. Church, Columbia Road, N. W., July 30, and the
Second Presbyterian Church South, Twenty-second Street,
between P Street and Massachusetts Avenue, N. W., Novem-
ber 26. The addresses of Grand Master James A. Wetmore
on each of these occasions were of unusual interest and
appropriateness and are well worthy of perusal.
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CHAPTER XII.

THE LATTER DAYS.

CENTENNIAL OF NAVAL LODGE—IMPORTANT PUBLIC FUNC-
TIONS—THE WASHINGTON GAVEL—DEATHS OF M. W.
BROTHERS GEORGE H. WALKER, R. B. DONALDSON,
JOSE MARIA YZNAGA, DAVID G. DIXON,

AND E. G. DAVIS.

“The future will but turn
The old sands in the failing glass of Time.”
—STODDARD.

THE YEAR 1905 witnessed the introduction of what, to this
jurisdiction, had previously been unknown—a daylight lodge;
and was the logical outgrowth of the constantly increasing
army of night workers peculiar to a great city, whose duties
preclude their participation in the ordinary fraternal and
social pleasures of the era.

On April 7 of that year Grand Master Lurtin R. Ginn,
upon proper petition, granted a dispensation to a number of
brethren to organize such a lodge. On May 10, following, at
the second communication of the Grand Lodge, a petition in
due form for a charter was received from these brethren,
twenty-six in all, and a charter was ordered to issue to them
to open and hold a lodge to be known as King Solomon’s
Lodge, No. 31, the first three officers to be Bros. William H.
Singleton, Jose L. Atkins, and Philander C. Johnson, in the
order named. The new lodge was duly constituted May 25,
of the same year, and has since amply proven that its estab-
lishment had indeed filled a long-felt want. It may be again
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remarked in passing, that the name “ King Solomon’s Lodge”
had been selected for a lodge which struggled for existence in
1864, but which “died a-borning.” But this latter pre-
emptor of the title has well passed the formative period and,
endowed with exceptional vitality, gives promise of a long
and useful career.

One of the most elaborate and successful celebrations ever
held by a subordinate lodge in this jurisdiction occurred in the
week commencing May 14, 1905, when for a period of four
days, beginning by attendance Sunday evening upon special
divine service, Naval Lodge, No. 4, celebrated their centennial
anniversary, in a series of brilliant meetings, receptions, and
banquets, the most notable being that of May 15, 1905, when
the Grand Lodge and other distinguished Masons were the
honored guests. The history of this Lodge, including an
account of the centennial celebration, has been preserved in
a handsome volume, which was issued as a feature of the
occasion.

Three cornerstone-layings occurred during the year 1905—
that of the Masonic and Eastern Star Home, May 17; of the
Eckington Presbyterian Church, North Capitol and Q Streets,
May 22, and of the Whitney Avenue Memorial Church,
May 26.

September 25, 1905, the Grand Lodge, by resolution, au-
thorized the appointment of a committee to take under advise-
ment and report some plan for the general celebration of the
two hundredth anniversary of the formation of the Grand
Lodge of England in 1817. At the communication of Decem-
ber 19, 1906, the committee reported that seventy-three Grand
Lodges had been communicated with and their codperation
and suggestions requested, but that only twenty-four had re-
sponded, and of these but two, the Grand Lodges of Ireland
and Cuba, had definitely approved of the plan of a general
celebration.

At the installation communication of 1905, in accordance
with the suggestion of the Grand Master in his address and
the favorable recommendation in reference thereto by the
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special committee on said address, the Grand Master appointed
the following named brethren as a committee to arrange for
the proper celebration of the Centennial of the Grand Lodge,
occurring in 1911: Bros. W. W. Jermane, Nathaniel Fugitt,
Luther F. Speer, Andrew Wilson, Charles J. James, Thomas
P. Morgan, and Frank H. Thomas. Of these two—DBros.
Nathaniel Fugitt and Frank H. Thomas—passed away in the
course of the two years following, and the vacancies thus
created were filled by the appointment of Bros. Claude F.
King and Roe Fulkerson. The personnel was again changed
in 1909 by the resignation, on account of ill health, of the
chairman, Bro. W. W. Jermane, and the appointment to that
position of W. Bro. Jas. A. Wetmore, and the resignation of
Bro. Thomas P. Morgan and the appointment of Bro. J. Harry
Cunningham, and in 1910 by the resignation of W. Bro. Jas.
A. Wetmore and the appointment as chairman of Bro. E. St.
Clair Thompson.

At the same meeting and also by authority of the Grand
Lodge, upon the recommendation of the same committee the
Grand Master appointed W. Bro. Kenton N. Harper, of Naval
Lodge, No. 4, as Historian, with directions to prepare a com-
prehensive history of this Grand Lodge and of Freemasonry
in the District of Columbia, to become one of the features of
the above celebration.

The laying of the cornerstone of the Office Building of the
House of Representatives, adjoining the Capitol, occurred
April 14, 1906, and was the occasion of one of the greatest
Masonic processions in the jurisdiction, the escort comprising
the five commanderies and Grand Commandery, K. T., of the
District, and large delegations from the subordinate lodges,
headed and accompanied by the Marine and Engineer Bands.
On arriving at the site, the Grand Lodge was conducted to a
platform erected for the occasion, on which were seated Bro.
Theodore Roosevelt, President of the United States; Bro.
Charles W. Fairbanks, Vice-President; Bro. Joseph G. Can-
non, Speaker of the House of Representatives; Bro. James D.
Richardson, Sovereign Grand Commander of the Supreme
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Council, A. A. S. R,, for the Southern Jurisdiction; members

. of the Cabinet; Justices of the Supreme Court; members of

. the Senate and House of Representatives; members of the
Diplomatic Corps; officers of the Army and Navy, and an
audience of 5,000 people, including a large number of ladies.
After the Masonic ceremonies and an address by the Grand
Master, M. W. Bro. Walter A. Brown, the President was pre-
sented by Speaker Cannon, and delivered his celebrated ad-
dress which has gone into history with the title “ The Man
with the Muck Rake.”

During this month the handsome sum of $2,616.50 was
promptly contributed by the Masonic bodies of the District
and forwarded by wire to the Pacific Coast sufferers. Of
this sum $523.30 was subsequently returned, as being in
excess -of the need, and upon its receipt the Grand Lodge at
once donated its share of the sum returned to the Masonic
and Eastern Star Home, which action was followed in due
time by all the bodies interested.

May 5, 1906, death claimed one of the brightest minds in
the list of Past Grand Masters ever given to the service of .
Masonry in this jurisdiction, in the person of M. W. Bro.
George Harold Walker, whose life and works are given else-
where, and whose taking off in the full vigor of middle life
left a void difficult, indeed, to fill.

On June 19 of the same year the Grand Lodge laid the
cornerstone of the P. E. Church of the Advent, Second and
U Streets, N. W.; on October 16 proceeded by special train
to the site of the Masonic and Eastern Star Home, and dedi-
cated the completed west wing thereof, and on November 22,
following, laid the cornerstone of the Synagogue of the Adas
Israel Congregation, Sixth and I Streets, N. W.

The reports for the year 1906 show no falling off in the
rapid increase which had marked the aggregate membership
for some years, a total of 7,999 Master Masons appearing as
in good standing at the end of the year.

A third successful fair was held for the Temple fund in
May, 1907, and on June 8 was laid the cornerstone of the

9
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Temple, Thirteenth Street and New York Avenue, a detailed
account of which event, together with the history of the move-
ment from its inception, and a description of the building.
etc., may be found in a special chapter devoted to the subject.

The Washington gavel, so-called from having been first
used by President Washington in laying the cornerstone of
the Capitol Building, was used on this occasion. It was made
in 1793, from the marble used in the construction of the
Capitol, is one of the most cherished relics of the jurisdiction.
and is the property of Potomac Lodge, No. 5, to whose Master
it was handed by Washington upon the conclusion of the cere-
monies referred to. Altho in 1853 the Grand Lodge requested
the transfer to it of the valued souvenir Potomac naturally did
not feel justified in parting with it, and retains it, safeguarded
beyond the possibility of loss, and never allows it to leave the
custody of a special committee, said committee accompanying
it on all its journeys. The various occasions on which it has
been used or was present constituting a subject of sufficient
interest to warrant a place in this work, the following list,
prepared some years since by Bro. J. H. Yarnell, Secretary of
Potomac Lodge, with later additions by the author, is here
appended :

1793, September 18, cornerstone, United States Capitol.

1824, August 22, cornerstone, City Hall, D. C. _

1829, August 8, laying the first stone of the Baltimore &
Susquehanna R. R., on the 100th anniversary of the City
of Baltimore, Md.

1847, May 1, cornerstone, Smithsonian Institution.

1848, July 1, cornerstone, Washington Monument.

1851, July 4, extension, U. S. Capitol.

1853, New Baptist Church, Thirteenth Street.

1853, Sixth Presbyterian Church.

1854, West Presbyterian Church.

1854, Metropolitan M. E. Church (Grant’s and McKinley’s
church).

1854, Methodist Church, Georgetown, D. C.

1855, German Reformed Church.

BRSO




IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 131

1857, Ebenezer M. E. Church.

1858, February 2%, equestrian statue of General Washing-
ton at Richmond, Va.

1858, August 9, cornerstone, Masonic Hall, Georgetown,
D. C.

1859, New York Avenue Presbyterian Church, Lincoln’s
church.

1860, February 22, Clark Mills’ equestrian statue of Wash-
ington, Washington, D. C.

1865, Washington Protestant Orphan Asylum.

1867, German Lutheran Church, Georgetown, D. C.

1867, First Baptist Church, Georgetown, D. C.

1867, November 10, cornerstone, soldiers’ monument, An-
tietam.

1868, Lincoln memorial monument.

1868, Mt. Vernon Methodist Church.

1868, Metropolitan Presbyterian Church.

1868, Masonic Temple, Washington, D. C.

1870, Foundation, Steuben Monument, Scheutzen Park,
D. C.

1870, Dedication Masonic Temple, Washington, D. C.

1872, Independent German Protestant Church.

1872, Masonic Temple, Philadelphia, Pa.

1873, Masonic Hall, Brightwood, D. C.

1877, All Soul’s Church, D. C.

1881, Congregation of the Tabernacle.

1881, October 18, dedication Yorktown monument, York-
town, Va.

1882, Post-office, Baltimore, Md.

1884, Washington Light Infantry Armory.

1885, February 21, completion Washington Monument.
Washington, D. C.

1894, Cornerstone, Naval Lodge Building, D. C.

1896, October 21, American University, Washington, D. C

1897, North Carolina Avenue Presbyterian Church.

1897, Hebrew Tabernacle, Eighth Street between G and H
Streets, Northwest.
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1897, Christian Church, Ninth and D Streets.

1898, Douglas Memorial Church, Eleventh and H Streets.

1898, August 10, cornerstone, Pennsylvania State Capitol,
Harrisburg, Pa.

1899, Baptist Church, Thirtieth and N Streets, Northwest.

1899, Masonic Lodge, Gaithersburg, Md.

1899, December 14, Washington Centennial, Mount Ver-
non, Va.

1902, November 5, sesqui-centennial initiation of Wash-
ington into Masonry, Philadelphia.

1903, February 21, Army War College.

1903, May 1, Louisiana Purchase Exposition at St. Louis.

1903, Foundry M. E. Church.

1904, Memorial Continental Hall.

1905, May 17, Masonic and Eastern Star Home, D. C

1905, May 22, Eckington Presbyterian Church.

1906, Office Building of the House of Representatives.

1907, New Masonic Temple.

In addition, it was used at the celebration of the Centennial
of the Grand Lodge of Maryland, at the laying of the corner-
stones of the Baltimore City Hall, and the Deaf and Dumb
Asylum at Frederick, Md., and locally at some ceremony in
connection with the opening of the C. & O. Canal and at the
cornerstone layings of the old Market House and Bank of
Columbia, Georgetown, D. C., the dates of the latter events
not being available or important.

It was used officially by the following Presidents of the
United States: 1793, George Washington, cornerstone, United
States Capitol; 1847, James K. Polk, cornerstone, Smithson-
ian; 1851, Millard Fillmore, extension, United States Capitol:
1860, James Buchanan, Clark Mills’ statue of Washington:
1899, William McKinley, Washington Centennial, Mount Ver-
non, Va.; 1902, Theodore Roosevelt, sesqui-centennial Wash-
ington’s initiation into Masonry, Philadelphia, Pa., and upon
other occasions.

Two other cornerstones were laid during the year 1907—
that of Bethany Baptist Church, Rhode Island Avenue and
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Second Street, N. W., October 30, and that of Northminster
Presbyterian Church, Eleventh Street and Rhode Island Ave-
nue, N. W., November 5.

The death of P. G. Master Robert Bruce Donaldson, No-
vember 22, 1907, was a serious loss to the local Fraternity.
For many years the Dean of the Corps of P. G. Masters, a
man of unusual attainments and ripened judgment, his advice
had been sought, and cheerfully given, in all mooted questions
for more than a generation, and his lovable disposition had
endeared him to the brethren of this jurisdiction to a re-
markable degree.

With the realization of the hope of years, the new Temple
being now in actual course of construction, came a quickened
life into Masonic circles, waning interest was renewed, and
material prosperity followed naturally. The enthusiasm
awakened by the early prospect of modern, commodious, and
handsome quarters found its expression in many ways, and
in none more strikingly than in the selection of the name
“ Temple” for a new lodge owing its formation entirely to
the re-energizing effect of that project.

On October 12, 1907, on proper petition and representation,
the Grand Master, M. W. Bro. Francis J. Woodman, issued a
dispensation to certain brethren to organize a lodge, and at the
annual communication of the same year, December 18, a char-
ter was ordered to issue to Bros. Thomas C. Noyes, Louis C.
Wilson, John Paul Earnest, and seventy-eight others, the
largest charter list of record, to open and hold a lodge to be
known as Temple Lodge, No. 32, the three brethren named
being nominated in their order as the first three officers.
Starting with the prestige of a host of locally well-known
names on their roster, it inevitably followed that the success
of this lodge was assured from the very start, an assurance
which the several years of its existence has amply justified.

The formal dedication of the new Temple occurred Septem-
ber 19, 1908, and is treated of in Chapter XIV, while a de-
tailed account of this important event may be found in the
Grand Lodge Proceedings, 1908, p. 24 et seq.
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The third communication of the Grand Lodge, held Sep-
tember 26, 1908, was its last assemblage in the old Temple,
and was commemorated by a farewell address by the Grand
Chaplain, Rev. Brother Joseph Dawson. After closing in
ample form, the brethren present joined hands and united in
singing ‘“ Auld Lang Syne.”

A ‘“House Warming,” extending from September 28 to
October 10, in the new Temple, afforded the public an op-
portunity to inspect the building, and incidentally added in
the neighborhood of $10,000 to the treasury of the Temple
Association.

November 19, 1908, the cornerstone of a building for the
use of Wm. R. Singleton Lodge, No. 30, was laid at Tenley-
town, D. C. ‘

On April 11, 1909, P. G. Master José M. Yznaga, and on
November 25, 1909, P. G. Master David G. Dixon, passed
away. Both of these brethren had for years been closely and
actively identified with local Masonry, were well known and
beloved, and their demise was sincerely mourned.

At a special communication, November 20, 1909, the Grand
Lodge took the necessary steps looking to the assumption of
control of the new Temple, an event of importance, as being
the only instance in the history of the jurisdiction where such
control was consummated. The various movements leading
up to and following this action are treated elsewhere.

On March 22, 1910, occurred the death of P. G. Master
Eldred G. Davis, one of the most valued members of the
Fraternity, and for a long time the chairman of the Commit-
tee on Jurisprudence. His activity in Masonic work con-
tinued up to the end, which came suddenly and cast a gloom
over the entire jurisdiction.

On May 12, 1910, Grand Master George C. Ober, assisted
by the other officers of the Grand Lodge, formally dedicated
to Masonry the Cathedral of the Scottish Rite, long known
as “The House of the Temple,” at Third and E Streets.
N. W., which had lately been acquired by the local subordinate
bodies of the Rite.
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Among the Masonic events of the year 1910 the open-air
religious service which took place at Mt. St. Albans Sunday
afternoon, September 25, is deserving of special notice. In
response to an invitation from the Rt. Rev. Alfred Harding,
Bishop of Washington, Grand Master George C. Ober issued
a call to the Master Masons of the jurisdiction to attend him
on that occasion. Favored with ideal weather, approximately
three thousand five hundred members of the Fraternity, the
largest number ever gathered in this jurisdiction for a public
demonstration, assembled at the intersection of Waisconsin
and Massachusetts Avenues, and escorted by the five local
commanderies’ of Knights Templar, and headed by a section
of the Marine Band, marched to the Peace Cross in Cathedral
Close and in company with a large concourse of visitors took
part in the beautiful and impressive service of the Episcopal
Church, in the course of which the Right Reverend Brother,
Bishop Harding, made an address and Rev. Brother J. Hen-
ning Nelms, Rector of the Church of the Ascension, delivered
the sermon, the dominant note throughout being the co-opera-
tion which should exist between the Church and the Masonic
Order.

The last charter for the formation of a lodge during the
first century of the existence of the Grand Lodge was or-
dered to issue at the Annual Communication of December 21,
1910, and was in response to a petition signed by sixty-five
Master Masons in good standing, to open and hold a lodge to
be known as Mt. Pleasant Lodge, No. 33, in the northwestern
section of the city. The petition, which was recommended by
Stansbury Lodge, No. 24, nominated as the first three officers
Bros. Richard C. Lewis, Charles H. Bradley, and Edwin Al-
len Swingle as Master, Senior Warden, and Junior Warden,
respectively. This lodge invades a practically unbroken field
in the Greater Washington and there is every reason to pre-
dict for it a prosperous career.

During this year the Committee on Centennial Observance,
having previously been given full authority, perfected the
general arrangements for the fitting celebration of the one
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hundredth anniversary of the birth of the Grand Lodge, and
at the date of publication are carefully working out the details
of the series of events contemplated.

From the time of the actual initiation of the movement to
give prominence to this event there was in evidence a strong
undercurrent of sentiment that the celebration should be
pitched on a higher plane than is usual, and no pains nor ex-
pense spared to make it in every way commensurate with the
dignity and importance of the jurisdiction.

The plans of the Committee as finally perfected on the eve
of publication embody the following arrangements and cover
a period of three days:

1. A general reception at the new Masonic Temple Satur-
day evening, February 18, 1911.

2. A religious service in Belasco Theater Sunday after-
noon, February 19, 1911 (the actual date of birth), at which
it is proposed to have addresses by men of national reputation
and recognized eminence and learning, who are members of

the Fraternity. '

3. A session of the Grand Lodge the morning of the 20th
of an historical and reminiscent character.

4. On the evening of the last-named date a banquet in honor
of the visiting Grand Masters.

Among the brethren who are expected to be in attendance
are the President of the United States and the Grand Masters
of seventy-eight Grand Lodges, representing some two million
Master Masons.

The Committee is as follows: E. St. Clair Thompson, B. B.
French Lodge, No. 15, chairman; Charles J. James, Ana-
costia Lodge, No. 21; Thomas C. Noyes, Temple Lodge, No.
32; Claude F. King, Temple Lodge, No. 32,; Andrew Wil-
son, Benjamin B. French Lodge, No. 15; Roe Fulkerson,
Harmony Lodge, No. 17, and Luther F. Speer, Columbia
Lodge, No. 3, with the following subcommittees: Printing,
invitation, and entertainment, Charles J. James; reception,
Claude F. King; publicity, Thomas C. Noyes; religious serv-
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ices, Andrew Wilson; special representative Grand Lodge, L.
F. Speer; banquet, Roe Fulkerson.

A verbatim report of these several events will be published
as an appendix to the Grand Lodge Proceedings of 1911, and
probably also in pamphlet form for free distribution.

Thus is the history of Freemasonry in the District of Co-
lumbia brought to date. What the future holds of prosperity
and reverse is known only to the great I Am, nor should we
care to lift the vail. Suffice it that on the eve of the one hun-
dredth anniversary of the institution of the Grand Lodge we
may felicitate ourselves on a magnificent record of achieve-
ment, and thus inspired it is for us to highly resolve that the
precious heritage of a united, harmonious, and powerful juris-
diction which has come down to us shall ever remain a sacred
trust and be transmitted unimpaired to our successors.
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CHAPTER XIII.

MEETING PLACES OF THE FRATERNITY.

WHERE THE ALTARS OF THE GRAND AND SUBORDINATE LODGES
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA HAVE BEEN ERECTED
DURING THE CENTURY PRECEDING THE
PRESENT TEMPLE MOVEMENT.

“Men, my Brothers, men, the Workers, ever reaping something new;
That which they have done but the earmest of the things that they
shall do.”—TENNYSON.

As THE MANNER in which a man is housed may usually be
considered to measurably express the degree of prosperity he
enjoys, so also is it possible to accurately gauge the gain or
loss, the success or failure, of an organization by the character
of its homes. Freemasonry presents no exception to this
rule, and in the story of the many meeting places of the Craft
in the District of Columbia during the century just closed
there lies so complete and clear a history of the material
vicissitudes of the Fraternity as to warrant the devotion of a
chapter to so much of the subject as covers the period from
the beginning until the inauguration of the movement which
resulted in the magnificent Temple of today, paying es-
pecial attention at this time to those buildings in which the
Grand Lodge has found a succession of homes or has met on
emergent occasions, and glancing hastily at the earlier subor-
dinate lodge buildings as they relate to the growth of the
Order.

The march of improvements has swept away some few of
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these structures, yet there remain a remarkable number—
veritable landmarks—which stand as mute witnesses to the
progress of Freemasonry in our midst, and unfold a tale which
he that runs may read. )

The earlier lodges of Georgetown are known to have met
in private houses, but the first definite location of a Masonic
lodge within the present limits of the District is that of Fed-
eral Lodge, No. 15, of Maryland (later No. 1 of this juris-
diction), which in 1793 met in a room specially fitted for its
use in the residence of one of the members, on New Jersey
Avenue, just south of the Capitol, and now included in the
site of the House of Representatives Office Building. In
1796, desiring a more central location, this lodge moved to a
small hostelry, known as the “ Little Hotel,” on the north side
of F Street, near Fourteenth, N. W., where they found not
only quarters for their meetings but likewise convenient re-
freshment, and where they remained for about eight years.

Columbia, No. 35, of Maryland (later our No. 3), which
came into existence in 1802 and was largely composed of
Treasury employés, found a temporary home in a building
known as Lovell’s Hotel, on Pennsylvania Avenue between
Fourteenth and Fifteenth Streets, N. W., but united in 1804
with Federal, in the first Masonic building enterprise in the
District. This consisted of the purchase of part of Lot 14.
Square 323, 23 by 50 feet, on Eleventh Street, N. W., just
south of Pennsylvania Avenue, and the erection thereon of a
two-story brick building, known as “ Union Lodge Room.”
The second floor, fitted up for lodge purposes and originally
reached by an outside stairway on the south side, was used by
Federal and Columbia for over twenty years, and also by Leb-
anon, after its birth in 1811. Here, too, the Grand Lodge,
upon its formation, found a home for a number of years. In
addition to its Masonic use, the building was the headquarters
of the Boards of Aldermen and Common Council, and also
housed the old Washington Library and Vine Lyceum Society.
In later years it was occupied by the colored Masons, and with-
in a comparatively few years was demolished to make room for
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the new City Post-Office. Some idea of the condition of
affairs in the city in the early days may be gathered from the
fact that in 1824 Washington R. A. Chapter, No. 1, took
steps to induce the other Masonic bodies meeting in the build-
ing to join with them in causing to be made a “ gravel footway
from this Hall east to the middle of Eleventh Street, and north
to the south side of Pennsylvania Avenue. * * *”

Washington Naval Lodge, No. 41, of Maryland (now our
local No. 4), which was warranted in 1805, found rented
quarters on Seventh Street, S. E., near the Navy Yard gate.
The house, a small two-story brick, somewhat modernized
exteriorly, still stands and is occupied as a dwelling, known as
1129 Seventh Street, S. E., and is a fair sample of the honest,
sturdy workmanship of the early part of the last century.
The upper floor was used for strictly lodge purposes and the
lower as a school, the school teacher, frequently the widow or
orphan child of a deceased Mason, attending to the care of
the lodge room in lieu of rent.

The Georgetown lodge, reviving in 1806 under the style
and title of Potomac, No. 43, of Maryland, located in the
residence of Valentine Reintzel, the Master, and afterward
the first Grand Master of the District—a three-story brick
dwelling on the west side of Jefferson Street, between the
canal and Water Street. This landmark was destroyed by
fire in 1857. The growth of the lodge in a few years de-
manding more commodious quarters, overtures were made to
the Corporation of Georgetown looking to the joint erection
at the Market Space of a building which might serve as a
Town House and Masonic Hall, but, failing in this, a lot
was leased on the west side of Jefferson Street, just north of
the canal, and the cornerstone of a building laid by Potomac
Lodge, in ample Masonic form, October 18, 1810. This
building, still standing, was in the possession of and used by
the lodge until 1840.

By way of recapitulation, then, we find the five lodges which
took part in the formation of the Grand Lodge in 1810-11,
located as follows: Federal and Columbia, at the Union
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Lodge Room, on Eleventh Street, N. W.; Washington Naval,
in leased quarters on Seventh Street, S. E.; Potomac, in its
own hall on Jefferson Street, Georgetown, and Brooke Lodge,
in Alexandria, Va.

The Grand Lodge naturally found its first home in Union
Lodge Room, but as early as 1816 a movement was started
looking to the procuring of a more suitable Masonic building,
but the Grand Lodge frowning upon the project it “ died
a-borning,” and the next development in this line was the
erection, by Naval Lodge, No. 4, of a two-story brick build-
ing on the northwest corner of Fifth Street and Virginia
Avenue, S. E., in 1820-1, at a cost of $3,327.01. This un-
pretentious structure, located in the center of the most popu-
lous section of the Hill, was not only the home of Naval, and
Union Lodge, No. 6, during its life, but also for a number
of years supplied quarters for a school room for many of our
older citizens of Capitol Hill.

For the first half century of the existence of the Grand
Lodge, the distances between the several sections of the city
being great, the roads of the worst, and fhe means of trans-
portation the most primitive, the communications, both regular
and special, were frequently held in the different lodge rooms.
east, west, and central, and even Alexandria, as a matter of
accommodation to all the members, and thus, altho from
time to time acquiring some proprietary interest in certain
rooms as headquarters, the Grand Lodge led a nomadic exist-
ence from its origin until the occupation of the Temple at
Ninth and F Streets, N. W., and it may be noted in passing
that other than lodge rooms were sometimes used on emergent
occasions, as we find a meeting opened February 26, 1826, in
the City Hall, on the First Degree, for the purpose of proceed-
ing to St. John’s Church, to listen to a discourse on * Wash-
ington,” and at another time a meeting opened in this same
church to attend a cornerstone laying. These instances need
not be multiplied, but uncover a condition of affairs unknown
at present.
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In 1826 the southwest corner of D and Four-and-a-half
Streets, N. W. (John Marshall Place), was selected and pur-
chased as the site for a new Temple, the recent erection of
the City Hall in that neighborhood commending it as a proper
location. The deed to the property, which was purchased
of B. O. Tyler, was made to Andrew Tate, Jacob A. Bender,
W. W. Seaton, and Wm. Hewitt, the Masters, respectively,
of Lodges 1, 3,7, and 9. The cornerstone was laid September
19, 1826, with elaborate ceremonies. The Grand Lodge was
opened in ample form in St. John’s Church, and proceeded
to the site, escorted by a procession of so varied and digni-
fied a character and so unique withal as to deserve detailed
description, and no apology is needed for reproducing in
cxtenso the order of arrangement, which was as follows:

Tylers of Lodges Nos. 1, 3, 7, and 9, with drawn swords.
Two Stewards, with white rods.
Entered Apprentice Masons.

Fellows of the Craft.

Master Masons.

Junior Deacons of Lodges.

Senior Deacons.

Secretaries.

Treasurers.

Past Junior Wardens.

Past Senior Wardens.

Past Masters. -

Masters of Lodges.

Members and Officers of Washington Royal Arch Chapter.
The Grand Chapter of the District of Columbia.

Music. )
Grand Tyler and Grand Steward.

Two Stewards, with white rods.
Reverend Clergy of the District of Columbia.
Architect of the Public Buildings.
Assistants Postmaster-General.
Commissioner of the General Land Office.
Register of the Treasury of the United States.
Auditors of the Treasury.

Treasurer of the United States.
Comptrollers of the Treasury.
Commissioners of the Navy, with their Secretary.
Senior Naval Officer at the seat of Government.
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Topographical Engineer.
Chief Engineer of the United States.
Commander-in-Chief of the Army of the United States, with the General
Staff of the Army at the City of Washington.
Librarian of Congress.
Members and Officers of Congress.
Functionaries of Foreign Governments.
Heads of Departments, including the Postmaster General.
Members of the Board of Common Council.
President and Secretary of that Board.
Mayors of Alexandria and Georgetown.
Mayor and Register of the City of Washington.
Grand Pursuivant, with drawn Sword.
Master Builders of the Edifice, with trowels, planes, &c. (each with his
appropriate tool).
Architect of the Work.
The Golden Plumb, Level, Square, Compasses, and Mallet, each borne
by a Master Mason.
A Master Mason, with the Cornucopia.

Two Master Masons, with Cups—one with Wine, the other Oil.
The Cormthxan Ionic, and Doric Lights, borne by three Master Masons.
Two Stewards, with white rods.

Deacons of the Grand Lodge.

Past Grand Secretaries and Treasurers.

Grand Secretary and Grand Treasurer.

BisLE
(Borne by a Past Master, with a Steward on each side).
Grand Chaplain and Orator.

The Book of Constitutions, borne by a Master Mason.

General Committee to superintend the Building, and Committee of
Arrangements.

Past Grand Wardens.

Grand Wardens, bearing the Ionic and Doric Orders.

Past Deputy Grand Masters.

Deputy Grand Master, bearing the Corinthian Order.

The Globe, borne by a Master Mason.

Past Grand Masters. -
A Herald, with a Golden Rod.
The Grand Master, attended by a Herald on each side, with a Golden Rod.
Grand Sword Bearer.
Two Stewards, with Rods.
Judges of the several Courts of the District of Columbia.
Marshal of the District and his Deputies.

Clerks of Courts of the District with their Assistants.
Officers and members of Literary and other Societies.
Professors and Students of Seminaries of Learning.
Military and Naval Officers not before enumerated.
Citizens and Strangers.
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The stone was placed by the then Grand Master, John N.
Moulder, assisted by his officers, and the oration delivered by
Past Grand Master W. W. Seaton, the exercises being in-
terspersed by appropriate musical selections, rendered by a
choir of ladies and gentlemen and by a band. Upon the con-
clusion of the ceremonies, and after *three cheers by the
assembled multitude,” the procession proceeded to the City
Hall, and partook of a collation.

This Temple, originally known as “ Central,” and later as
“ Free-Masons” Hall, which for a comparatively short period
was the home of the several bodies mentioned and the Grand
Lodge, is still standing, a three-story structure, and has been
for many years used as an office building. At the time of its
completion, the upper story was used for Masonic purposes
&nd the remainder was sub-let. Small as the building appears
to our modern eyes, it is of interest to note that it was the
scene of the inaugural ball ushering in Andrew Jackson’s
second administration, in 1833, and within its walls was also
held one of the three inaugural balls marking the induction of
the first Harrison into the Presidential office.

In December, 1827, Masonry entered the as yet unbroken
field of the old First Ward, Hiram Lodge, No. 10, being
instituted and finding quarters in the eastern edifice of the
famous old Seven Buildings, northwest corner Pennsylvania
Avenue and Nineteenth Street, N. W., a building which had
been used by President Madison as a residence for a time,
while the White House was being rebuilt after its destruction
by the British. Subsequently, however, the Town Hall, over
the Western Market, in the triangular reservation bounded by
Pennsylvania Avenue, Twentieth and I Streets, and facing
Twentieth Street, was used as a meeting place until 1846.
This building was a wooden, two-story structure, the upper
floor being reached by an exterior stairway, on which, it is
said, candidates were obliged to wait the pleasure of the lodge,
no matter what the weather.

The Fraternity was now entering upon troublous times.
The anti-Masonic wave was gathering force and sweeping
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over the country, and this jurisdiction was not spared. The
decade between 1830 and 1840 witnessed the serious crippling
of the little band, the revenues were greatly reduced and the
meeting of the obligations incurred in the building at Four-
and-a-Half and D Streets became a matter of serious and
increasing difficulty. In 1835 the trouble culminated. Liens
were on the building, and those who held them were threaten-
ing to enforce; the lodges were even in debt for the furniture
in use, and the outlook was, indeed, gloomy. Under these
circumstances, the lodges owning the premises ordered their
trustees to convey the property in trust to Grand Master Wm.
W. Billing, with authority to sell the same, and apply the
proceeds to the liquidation of the debts, and if any surplus
remained to divide it among the lodges interested. The prop-
erty was thus conveyed to Brother Billing, February 17, 1835,
and on the following day by him conveyed to Bro. John
Purdy, in fee simple, the consideration being that said Purdy
should fully pay and satisfy all claims, provided said claims
did not exceed the sum of $5,000. Brother Purdy, then, hav-
ing discharged the debts, on February 20, 1835, executed a
lease for ninety-nine years to Grand Master Billing, his ex-
ecutors, administrators, or assigns, by which, in consideration
of $60 annual rental and certain agreements and covenants,
the Fraternity might have perpetual right of occupancy of the
third floor of the building. On May 5, 1835, Grand Master
Billing offered to assign the leasehold to the Grand Lodge,
with the understanding that that body should assume the pay-
ment of the annual rental of $60, subject to the terms and
conditions on which the property was held by him. While
this course was recommended by a committee, the Grand
Lodge took no action that is of record, but for a period of
years, the leasehold still remaining in Brother Billing’s name,
the rents were collected through the Grand Secretary and
Grand Treasurer, and the Grand Lodge was in virtual control.
and this is the only instance in the history of the local Craft,
until the taking over of the present Temple in 1910, where

even an attempt was made to vest title to real estate in the
10
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Grand Lodge. On December 24, 1842, W. W. Billing as-
signed his trust to Abraham Butler, Joel Downing, and Na-
thaniel Mulliken, with the consent of the Masonic bodies in-
terested. The lease, however, had already become forfeited
by reason of non-payment of rent, and the lessor, Brother
Purdy, entered into possession. This action appears to have
awakened the lodges involved; an injunction was obtained to
restrain Purdy from further proceedings, and a special con-
vention was held February 13, 1843, when it was resolved to
make over to the Grand Lodge, for its use and benefit and
for the use and benefit of the subordinate lodges, all right.
title, claim, or interest which said lodges had in or to said
Masonic Hall. But it was too late. On March 30th, follow-
ing, the cause was heard on the bill and the answer of Purdy,
and was dissolved and the bill dismissed, and Brother Purdy
entered into quiet possession of the premises. Carrying the
story of this episode at once to its conclusion it may be men-
tioned that charges were preferred against Brother Purdy
for his actions in connection with the loss of title, but the
charges were not pressed, and the whole matter laid dormant
for thirteen years, when a very complete report of the whole
transaction was brought in by a committee, headed by the
late B. B. French, in 1858, which appeared to exonerate
Brother Purdy from blame, and while the Grand Lodge again
failed of action, the incident then and there closed.

After the removal of the injunction, the Masonic tenants
were literally set out on the street. In this emergency the
Grand Master, Robert Keyworth, had some of the furniture
moved and stored, and called a convention of the interested
bodies, which met “in a room near Brother Greer’s printing
office.” 'The convention authorized the sale at auction of the
fragments of furniture still remaining unstored, and directed
the division of the proceeds among the lodges, which, having
been done, Brother Keyworth, on his own responsibility, found
quarters in a building on the northwest corner of Pennsyl-
vania Avenue and Twelfth Street. This room was fitted up
with the furniture saved from the old hall, and Lodges 1 and
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7 agreed to occupy it jointly with the Grand Lodge, No. 9
having, in the meantime, found quarters in the old Circus
Building, now Havener’s Bakery, on C Street, N. W., near
Four-and-a-Half. This separation gave rise to considerable
controversy as to the proper division of the furniture, which
lasted for quite a period, but is not of sufficient importance to
follow in detail.

While these troubles were being experienced by the centrally
Iocated lodges, Potomac Lodge, of Georgetown, had sold their
property on Jefferson Street, but continued to rent the same
room until 1842, when they bought a house on Washington
Street (now Thirtieth), opposite to the Union Hotel, the
third story of which they fitted up as a lodge room and occu-
pied for the next twelve years.

St. John’s Lodge, No. 11, chartered December 27, 1845, in
the midst of these troublous times, found a fairly convenient
home in the building on the northeast corner of Four-and-a-
Half Street (John Marshall Place) and Pennsylvania Avenue,
known as “ Odeon Hall,” which is still standing, where they
remained for some years. There is some slight evidence that
Nos. 1 and 9 also met in this building in 1844, but this lacks
verification.

Hiram, also, during the year 1846 found a new home in
what was known as ‘“ Smith’s Stable,” Nineteenth Street, be-
tween Pennsylvania Avenue and I Street, N. W. During
their occupancy this building burned, but was immediately re-
placed by the structure which now stands on the site.

In the same years the upper floor of the old Medical College
building at Tenth and E Streets was occupied by the Grand
Lodge and several of the subordinate lodges, and in 1847 an
offer was made to sell the upper floor to the Fraternity. This
was not acted upon, but by 1849 Nos. 1, 7, 9, and 12 were
meeting here. Increasing prosperity and comparatively rapid
growth soon, however, made the brethren restive in these un-
satisfactory quarters, much too contracted and reached by a
“rickety, dirty, and unlighted stairway,” and in 1850 a com-
mittee was appointed to devise ways and means to erect a
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‘“Hall.” This committee entered enthusiastically upon their
duties by devising a plan to make the building of a national
character and to solicit aid from other jurisdictions. This
project meeting with the pitiful response from the outside of
a total of $139 in five years was then abandoned.

On the other side of Rock Creek Potomac again, in 1852,
changed its quarters, this time selling its building on Wash-
ington Street and renting a part of the third floor of Forrest
Hall (still standing) on High Street (now Thirty-second),
and in the same year a Masonic shrine was erected in the
Southwest by the institution of Centennial Lodge, No. 14,
which located in Island Hall, Sixth Street and Virginia Ave-
nue, S. W,, in which building the Grand Lodge occasionally
thereafter met.

In 1855 the old Medical College building was abandoned by
the Fraternity, and what was thought to be more suitable
quarters found in the structure yet standing on the southwest
corner of Ninth and D Streets, and in this building, also
known as ‘““ Central” Masonic Hall, the Grand Lodge and a
number of the subordinate lodges met for a term of years.

Crossing over to Georgetown again, for the sake of chrono-
logical order, Potomac is again found to be on the move, this
time purchasing the site and erecting thereon their present
handsome hall, on Thirty-second" Street, the cornerstone of
which was laid in 1858 and the building completed early in the
following year. A

On November 2, 1858, was inaugurated the movement that
ultimately resulted in the erection of the Temple at Ninth
and F Streets, N. W., the initial step being the appoint-
ment of a committee by the Grand Lodge to act with similar
committees from the various subordinate bodies. This com-
mittee, unlike its predecessors, stuck by its guns. On April
22, 1864, Congress passed an act incorporating the “ Masonic
Hall Association of the District of Columbia,” which act was
approved April 26, 1864. There were eighteen names on the
charter, representing the Grand Encampment of Knights Tem-
plar, United States; the General Grand Chapter Royal Arch
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Masons, United States; the Grand Lodge of the District of
Columbia, its several subordinate lodges, and also the chapters
and commanderies of the District of Columbia. The charter
members, not one of whom is with us in the flesh today, were
as follows: B. B. French, G. E., K. T.; Robert McMurdy,
G. G. C, R. A. M.; Charles F. Stansbury, G. L., D. C.; J. W.
Nairn, Lodge No. 1; N. Acker, No. 7; B. Kloman, No. 9;
J. B. Turton, No. 11; L. Gassenheimer, No. 12; J. Van Ris-
wick, No. 14; J. C. McGuire, No. 15; F. L. Harvey, No. 16;
T. M. Hanson, No. 18; Noble D. Larner, No. 19; W. M.,
Smith, R. A. Chapter No. 1; W. G. Parkhurst, No. 2; James
Steele, No. 3; Z. D. Gilman, Washington Commandery, No. 1,
and W. P. Partello, Columbia, No. 2.

The directors appointed pursuant to this act purchased from
Gonzaga Church and College a lot on the northwest corner of
Ninth and F Streets, N. W., having a frontage of 51 feet 5
inches on Ninth Street and 131 feet 5 inches on F, for the
sum of $20,000. The buildings upon the site were put under
rental temporarily, but in a few years were demolished, and on
May 20, 1868, the cornerstone was laid.

Members of the Fraternity in the several Departments were
excused, by Executive order, to take part in the ceremonies,
and it is interesting to note that Brother Andrew Johnson, then
President of the United States, marched over the entire route
of parade in his character as a Master Mason. Unlike the
demonstration that marked the laying of the cornerstone
at Four-and-a-half and D Streets, the procession on this
occasion was strictly a Masonic one, and included in its
escort Commanderies 1 and 2, the G. R. A. Chapter and sub-
ordinate chapters, and followed closely the arrangement of
the present day. The route was as follows: Starting at
Ninth and E; down Ninth to Pennsylvania Avenue; to Fif-
teenth Street; to H; to New York Avenue; to Seventh Street
and Massachusetts Avenue; Massachusetts Avenue to Fourth
Street; to Indiana Avenue; thence to Fifth Street; along
Fifth to F, and thence to Ninth. Rather a long route, one
may be permitted to observe, to cover two squares.
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The ceremony was most impressively conducted by Grand
Master B. B. French and the oration of the day was delivered
by Brother H. P. H. Bromwell, Representative from Illinios
and Past Grand Master of that jurisdiction. During the
exercises appropriate music was rendered by the band and by
a specially organized choir. Of the singers on the platform
on that occasion there remain with us three: D. L. Burnett,
E. E. W. Griffin, and Charles W. Hancock, a trio of still
active members of the Fraternity, to whom many honors have
come.

As early as December 17, 1868, the Grand Lodge met in
the Temple for a public installation, but were not permanently
located there until May, 1870, in which month the building
was appropriately dedicated according to the ancient usages,
the oration on this occasion being delivered by the late Bro.
Ben: Perley Poore.

The growth of the Fraternity at this period was not con-.
fined to the central lodges, for early in May, 1867, Naval
Lodge, in the Eastern section, found it necessary to enlarge
its quarters, which was done by extending the building at
Fifth Street and Virginia Avenue a distance of eight feet,
to the building line on Fifth Street, and adding another story.

The dedicatory ceremonies took place October 17, 1867,
and gain special importance from the fact that the building
had been occupied previously for forty-five years without
any such formality. The building is still standing, and is
owned and occupied by colored organizations.

Over in the West End another lodge room was dedicated,
December 6, 1867, for Hiram Lodge, No. 10, over Redfern’s
Store, Northeast corner Nineteenth Street and Pennsylvania
Avenue. They remained here, however, a comparatively short
time, the dedication of their present room, at the southwest
corner of Nineteenth Street and Pennsylvania Avenue, tak-
ing place October 30, 1872. For some years prior to the
completion of the new Temple at Ninth and F, New Jerusalem
and Hope were tenants of Hiram.

In Uniontown (Anacostia) Masonry arrived, upon the in-
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stitution, March 8, 1869, of Anacostia Lodge, No. 21, which
was located for a number of years in a rough two-story frame
structure, on Harrison near Monroe Street, the lower story of
which was long a blacksmithing establishment, but later, in
1880, purchased its present site, at that time improved by a
two-story frame building, in the upper story of which the lodge
met for ten years. In 1890 the present handsome edifice was
erected at the corner of Jackson and Pierce Streets, the lodge
meeting in Naval Lodge Hall, Fifth Street and Virginia
Avenue, S. E., during the period of construction.

Stansbury, No. 24, came into existence November 12, 1873,
and occupying an entirely new field, in the northern suburbs,
added another meeting place, Brightwood Hall, in which it
found a home, and which was dedicated to Masonry in 1874.

While the Fraternity was thus reaching out and including
new territory, affairs at the Temple were anything but satis-
factory. As early as May, 1876, the financial conduct of that
enterprise was becoming a matter of serious moment, and for
a period of years a number of abortive attempts were made to
ease the situation, among the propositions advanced being one
to call on the ladies of the Fraternity to assist in liquidating
the debt; another, to ask the coGperation of other jurisdictions,
and a third, to hold a fair. The second only of these experi-
ments was tried, and, while a number of encouraging responses
were received, substantial aid came not. It was the old story
of history repeating itself.

In 1886, a room being dedicated in the Scottish Rite Cathe-
dral, 1007 G Street, N. W, and several of the lodges finding
quarters there, the revenues of the Temple were still further
reduced, and the situation became much more embarrassing.

In 1890, at which time the Fraternity held but one-third of
the stock of the Temple, an offer was received to purchase the
building. The proposition was then advanced and debated to
sell, divide the proceeds, and invest that portion held by
the Fraternity in a site, title to which should be vested in the
Grand Lodge. No decision was reached, and for the next five
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years a succession of committees labored fruitlessly with the
problem.

In the meantime new territory was being opened up, M. M.
Parker Lodge, No. 27, being instituted in 1891, and occupying
a hall at the corner of Third and H Streets, N. E,., where it re-
mained until March 22, 1893, when the Grand Lodge dedicated
its meeting place, corner of Eighth and I Streets, N. E., its
present quarters at T'welfth and H Streets, N. E., being dedi-
cated and occupied, in 1897; King David, No. 28, instituted
November 8, 1893, locating in Brookland, D. C., and Takoma,
No. 29, born in 1895, finding a home, by dispensation, in Odd
Fellows’ Hall in that suburb, a building which the lodge has
since acquired and especially refitted for its use.

Over on Capitol Hill Naval Lodge, No. 4, always progres-
sive, had purchased a site at the corner of Pennsylvania Ave-
nue and Fourth Street, S. E., and erected thereon a large and
imposing Masonic edifice, their present home, and this building
was dedicated with great ceremony June 6, 1895. While the
building was in course of erection, the lodge met for a short
time in Potomac Lodge room, but soon asked and obtained
permission to meet temporarily in Odd Fellows’ Hall, Eighth
Street, S. E.

With the exception of the establishment in 1901 of Wm. R.
Singleton Lodge, No. 30, in Tenleytown, and the occupancy of
the new Temple, Thirteenth Street and New York Avenue,
‘N. W, this completes the list of the various meeting places of
the Fraternity in the District of Columbia to the present.

The home of the local Scottish Rite bodies, on G Street,
N. W,, having been advantageously disposed of, those bodies,
in February, 1910, took possession of the *“ House of the Tem-
ple” (now the Scottish Rite Cathedral) at the corner of Third
and E Streets, N. W, for a number of years the headquarters
of the supreme body, and this handsome building was formally
dedicated to Freemasonry May 12, 1910, by the Grand Lodge,
Grand Master George C. Ober officiating.

The near future will witness the completion of three Masonic
buildings now in course of construction or contemplated :
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The new home of the Supreme Council of the Scottish Rite
for the Southern Jurisdiction, in Sixteenth Street, N. W.

The M. M. Parker Lodge Building, in Eighth Street, near
F, N. E., and

The King David Lodge Building, at Brookland, D. C.

The present Masonic Temple furnishes material for the
chapter which follows.
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CHAPTER XIV.

THE NEW TEMPLE.

TENTATIVE PROPOSITIONS—ORIGIN AND PROGRESS OF SUCCESS-
FUL PLAN—THE CORNERSTONE-LAYING AND DEDI-
CATION—DESCRIPTION OF BUILDING.

“I have surely bdilf Thee an house to dwell in, o settled place for
Thee to abide in forever.”—I Kings, viii, 13.

As indicated in the preceding chapter, the pressing need of
a new Masonic Temple of proportions ample to accommodate
the rapid growth of the Fraternity and of a character in keep-
ing with the dignity of the Order began in 1890 to occupy the
attention of all interested, and for a series of years many
tentative propositions looking to such a consummation were
advanced and carefully weighed, but an undertaking of such
magnitude was not to be lightly entered upon and haste was
made slowly. The briefest outline sketch of the various abort-
ive movements alluded to is deemed of historical importance
as contributing by a process of elimination toward the forma-
tion of the plan ultimately undertaken and is as follows:

Especial interest in the subject was aroused by the forcible
representation of conditions by Grand Master James A. Sam-
ple in his address at the annual communication of 1890, and
this was followed in 1891 by the formation of a joint commit-
tee, composed of representatives from Washington Com-
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mandery, No. 1; Columbia, No. 2, and De Molay, No. 4,
K. T., to investigate a project to purchase a site and erect
thereon an appropriate building, and this committee, address-
ing Grand Master Thos. F. Gibbs, and asking the codperation
of the Grand Lodge, the latter named a committee of five to
act with the above committee conditional upon the approval of
the Grand Lodge at the May communication. This joint com-
mittee was short-lived by reason of the fact that the Grand
Lodge on the latter date passed a resolution directing the
appointment of an independent committee to examine into the
matter of purchasing a site. This action was predicated on
the assumption that the building then used was about to be
sold, but such sale not being effected the matter was allowed
to rest until attention was again called to it in 1893 by Grand
Master L. C. Williamson, who strongly urged the necessity of
early action and reported the appointment of a special com-
mittee to advise the Grand Lodge in the premises.

This committee not reporting, Grand Master Merrill, im-
mediately upon his installation, December 27, 1893, urged
interest in the project and appointed a committee of five to
select a site. May 9, 1894, this committee reported progress,
but asked that the Grand Lodge by resolution approve of the
action of the Grand Master in making the appointment and
authorize its continuance. The action desired was at once
taken, but nothing further being heard from the committee it
was, upon recommendation of the Grand Master, discharged
at the annual communication of the same year to permit the
incoming Grand Master to appoint a new one, should he so
desire.

Events thus moving somewhat unsatisfactorily along this
particular line, Pentalpha Lodge, No. 23, at its regular meet-
ing, January 7, 1895, caused to be appointed a committee of
three to “ investigate and agitate” the subject of a new Temple
and to invite the codperation of similar committees from the
other Masonic bodies. )

In view of the fact that at the May communication of the
Grand Lodge (1896) Grand Master G. W. Baird, in conformity
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with a resolution then passed, appointed a special committee
from the Grand Lodge to consider the matter the Pentalpha
Lodge committee was discharged in the latter part of that year
to leave the field open for the direction of the governing body.

The special committee reported to the Grand Lodge Novem-
ber 11, 1896, on the general subject, and while no further ac-
tion was taken on the report than to order it to be printed and
distributed, and the powers of the committee amplified so far
as to authorize it to recommend a definite site, and while the
active cooperation of the Grand Lodge was soon thereafter
given to the late successful movement, yet the conclusions
arrived at and reported by the committee are of more than
passing interest, and an excerpt from that report is therefore
given. After enlarging upon the necessity for a new Temple
the report says:

A site can now be obtained for from $60,000 to $75,000, which would
be ample in its accommodation, and which within two or three years
would probably cost twenty-five per cent. more than at present.

It is the unanimous opinion of your committee that any action taken in
this matter should be in the name of the Grand Lodge, and if a site be
purchased the title should be vested in that body.

We, therefore, recommend that a situation be decided upon and secured
on the credit of the Grand Lodge and that the constituent lodges centrally
located be asked to pledge themselves to pay to the Grand Lodge for this
purpose a sum equal to fifty cents per capita, each month, on their present
membership, for a term of three years; this amount to be secured by the
lodges in any manner they may consider most expedient.

The lodges centrally located report a membership of about 4,250, which
number, in the above-mentioned plan, would produce something more
than $76,000.

We believe that the Masonic fraternity of the District of Columbia has
as much local pride as the brethren of other cities, and that they are
not only anxious to improve the appearance of their place of meeting,
but greatly desire the comforts of modern improvement, and will respond
with alacrity to a plan which will accomplish those ends. Look around
you, brethren, and see what comparatively weak societies undertake and
accomplish in this direction, and then say that 4,000 or 5,000 Masouns,
comprising the active business men of the Capital, cannot build and pay
for a Masonic Temple, which shall not only be a credit to the Order and
the city but in its interior a convenience to the Craft.

If, in three years, we can show a title in fee-simple to the ground
there will be no difficulty in raising money for the building; so that in
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six or seven years from now we may possess a comfortable Masonic
home.

Should our recommendations be favorably considered by this Grand
body, the proposition might be submitted to the constituent lodges and the
result of their action considered at a special meeting of the Grand Lodge.

Fraternally yours,
Tromas F. Gisss,
JamEs A. SAMPLE,
H. S. MEegrriLL,
Wu. BArRNUM,
Committee.

While all these efforts were ineffectual they served to pre-
pare the way for final concerted action, which had its incep-
tion at a stated conclave of Columbia Commandery, No. 2,
K. T., February, 1897, when, upon motion of Sir Knight
Oscar W. White, a special conclave of that body was called
for the 11th of the same month for the consideration of a
proposition to build a new Temple, at which meeting the fol-
lowing resolution was adopted:

Resolved, That a committee of five be appointed by the Eminent Com-
mander to consider the question of the erection of a new Masonic Temple
in the City of Washington, and to this end to invite the codperation
of the other Masonic bodies of this jurisdiction through such committees
as they may appoint for the same purpose; that this committee shall
report to the Commandery at its earliest convenience; that the Re-
corder be directed to send a copy of this resolution to all other Masonic
bodies of this jurisdiction.

Under the authority of this resolution the following com-
mittee was appointed : Sir Knights J. Henry Small, Jr., Chair-
man; George E. Emmons, George Gibson, Samuel H. Walker,
and Oscar W. White.

The work of this committee of Columbia Commandery re-
sulted in the appointment of similar committees from a ma-
jority of the Masonic bodies of the jurisdiction, and as early
as the following month these committees met in convention,
effected an organization, and elected as permanent Chairman
of the Association, P. G. Master J. Henry Small, Jr., and as
Secretary Bro. Howard Perry, following which election the
chairman appointed a Committee of Ways and Means con-
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sisting of Bros. A. F. Fox, Thomas Somerville, James A.
Sample, James L. Norris, and C. C. Duncanson; Committee
on Plans, Bros. G. W. Baird, E. G. Davis, T. M. Gale, H. L.
Briscoe, and W. O. Roome; Committee on Superintendence,
Bros. S. C. Palmer, George W. Evans, C. H. Smith, W. T.
Galliher, and Alex. McKenzie; Committee on Law and Or-
ganization, Bros. R. B. Donaldson, S. R. Bond, S. H. Walker,
Robt. I. Fleming, and F. H. Thomas; Committee on Site,
Bros. Matthew Trimble, Allison Nailor, James B. Lambie,
George Gibson, and Thos. P. Morgan.

The representatives to the Masonic Temple Association of
the District of Columbia, as the new organization was named,
were as follows: Grand Lodge, James A. Sample; Federal
Lodge, No. 1, R. B. Donaldson; Columbia Lodge, No. 3,
Thos. F. Gibbs; Lebanon Lodge, No. 7, Henry Orth; The
New Jerusalem Lodge, No. 9, E. H. Chamberlain; Hiram
Lodge, No. 10, James B. Lambie; St. John’s Lodge, No. 11,
Jesse W. Lee, Jr.; National Lodge, No. 12, R. C. Lewis; Wash-
ington Centennial Lodge, No. 14, William H. Baum; Benj. B.
French Lodge, No. 15, Wallace H. Hills; Dawson Lodge,
No. 16, Samuel R. Bond; Harmony Lodge, No. 17, Arvine
W. Johnston; Acacia Lodge, No. 18, Chas. J. O’'Neill; La
Fayette Lodge, No. 19, Thos. P.-Morgan; Hope Lodge, No.
20, Geo. W. Baird; Pentalpha Lodge, No. 23, Jos. C. John-
ston; Osiris Lodge, No. 26, L. C. Williamson; King David
Lodge, No. 28, Daniel G. Davis; Grand Chapter, Matthew
T'rimble ; Columbia Chapter, No. 1, Allison Nailor, Jr.; Wash-
ington Chapter, No. 2, J. R. Garrison; Mt. Vernon Chapter,
No. 8, John H. Olcott; Eureka Chapter, No. 4, Saml. H.
Walker; LaFayette Chapter, No. 5, Geo. W. Evans; Mt
Horeb Chapter, No. 7, W. F. R. Phillips; Hiram Chapter,
No. 10, John C. Chaney; Grand Commandery, E. G. Davis;
Washington Commandery, No. 1, Howard Perry; Columbia
Commandery, No. 2, J. H. Small, Jr.; De Molay Mtd. Com-
mandery, No. 4, A. W. Kelley; Orient Commandery, No. 5,
E. B. Hesse; Mithras Lodge of Perfection, H. K. Simp-
son; Evangelist Chapter, Rose Croix, Wm. Oscar Roome;



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 159

Robert de Bruce Council, A. H. Holt; Albert Pike Consis-
" tory, Mark D. Brainard, Sr.; Almas Temple, Harry Standi-
ford.

Death and resignation have since caused the following
changes in the above list: Ralph W. Lee and Charles F. Benja-
min for Federal Lodge, No. 1; Josiah M. Vale and Frank B.
Curtis, Columbia Lodge, No. 3; Walter T. Paine, Lebanon
Lodge, No. 7; Wm. G. Henderson, The New Jerusalem Lodge,
No. 9; Samuel Hart, Albert W. Bright, Alex. McKenzie,
Morris Hahn, and A. Barnes Hooe, St. John’s Lodge, No. 11;
H. Kronheimer and Lafayette Leaman, National Lodge, No.
12; Ralph L. Hall and W. B. Pettus, Washington Centennial
Lodge, No. 14; John R. Garrison and Jas. A. Wetmore, B. B.
French Lodge, No. 15; Heath Sutherland and H. W. P. Hunt,
Acacia Lodge, No. 18; J. Harry Cunningham, J. Frank Traz-
zare, E. C. Dutton, and J. Harry Cunningham (2d time),
Hope Lodge, No. 20; W. A. Kimmel and A. M. Poynton,
Pentalpha Lodge, No. 23; C. H. Buchler and Joseph Herzog,
Osiris Lodge, No. 26; W. 1. Jochum, Columbia Chapter, No.
1; J. G. De Moll, Washington Chapter, No. 2; Roe Fulkerson,
Mt. Vernon Chapter, No. 3; Harry B. Mason, Franc. E.
Sheiry, and H. K. Simpson, Eureka Chapter, No. 4; Jos. W.
Zimmerman, Mt. Horeb Chapter, No. 7; Ira W. Hopkins and
Mark F. Finley, Hiram Chapter, No. 10; Thos. M. Gale,
Benj. S. Graves, and Chas. T. Caldwell, Washington Com-
mandery, No. 1; Wm. H. Wunder, Orient Commandery, No.
5; Samuel E. Aler, Mithras Lodge of Perfection; Harrison
Dingman, Evangelist Chapter, Rose Croix; Geo. H. Walker,
B. F. Smith, and R. F. Mentzell, Robert de Bruce Council;
Frank H. Thomas, Jacobus S. Jones, E. F. Frost, and F. J.
Woodman, Albert Pike Consistory, the last named in each case
holding at the reorganization. The following representatives
were added within the last few years: Wm. F. Meyers, Armin-
ius Lodge, No. 25; Alex. McKenzie, Temple Lodge, No. 32; F.
R. Underwood, Ruth Chapter, No. 1, O. E. S.; Chas. S. Hyer,
Naomi Chapter, No. 3, O. E. S., and George Gibson, Esther


